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PART L.
Preliminary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and is subject to the safe harbor created by those sections. Such statements may include, but are not
limited to, projections of revenues, income or loss, capital expenditures, plans for product development and cooperative arrangements, acquisition activity and related
integration efforts, technology development by third parties, future operations, financing needs or plans of MicroVision, Inc. (“we,” “our,” or “us”), as well as assumptions
relating to the foregoing. The words “anticipate,” “could,” “would,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “will,” and similar expressions
identify forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in our forward-looking statements include risk factors
identified below in Item 1A.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

MicroVision, Inc. is a global developer and supplier of lidar hardware and software solutions focused primarily on automotive lidar and advanced driver-assistance systems
(ADAS) markets where we can deliver safe mobility at the speed of life. We offer a suite of light detection and ranging, or lidar, sensors and perception and validation software
to automotive OEMs, for ADAS and autonomous vehicle (AV) applications, as well as to complementary markets for non-automotive applications including industrial, robotics
and smart infrastructure. Our long history of developing and commercializing the core components of our lidar hardware and related software, combined with the experience of
the team acquired from Ibeo Automotive Systems (Ibeo) with automotive-grade qualification, gives us a compelling advantage as a development and commercial partner.

Founded in 1993, MicroVision, Inc. is a pioneer in laser beam scanning, or LBS technology, which is based on our patented expertise in micro-electromechanical systems, or
MEMS, laser diodes, opto-mechanics, electronics, algorithms and software and how those elements are packaged into a small form factor. Throughout our history, we have
combined our proprietary technology with our development expertise to create innovative solutions to address existing and emerging market needs, such as augmented reality
microdisplay engines; interactive display modules; consumer lidar components; and, most recently, automotive lidar sensors and software solutions for the automotive market.

In January, 2023, we acquired certain strategic assets of Germany-based Ibeo, which was founded in 1998 as a lidar hardware and software provider. Ibeo developed and
launched the first lidar sensor to be automotive qualified for serial production with a Tier 1 automotive supplier and that is currently available in passenger cars by premium
OEMs. Ibeo developed software solutions, including perception and validation software, which are also used by premium OEMs. In addition, Ibeo sold its products for non-
automotive uses such as industrial, smart infrastructure and robotics applications.

For the automotive market, our integrated solution combines our MEMS-based dynamic-range lidar sensor and perception software, to be integrated on our custom ASIC,
targeted for sale to premium automotive OEMs and Tier 1 automotive suppliers. Our ADAS solution is intended to leverage edge computing and custom ASICs to enable our
hardware and perception software to be integrated into an OEM’s ADAS stack.

In addition to our dynamic-range and long-range MAVIN sensor and perception software solution for the automotive market, our product suite includes our short-range flash-
based MOVIA lidar sensor, for automotive and industrial applications, including smart infrastructure, robotics, and other commercial segments. Also, our validation software
tool, the MOSAIK suite, is used by OEMs and other customers including Tier 1s for validating vehicle sensors for ADAS and AV applications. The tool includes software that
automates the manual data classification or annotation process, significantly reducing the time and resources required by OEMs to validate their ADAS and AV systems.
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In the recent past, we developed micro-display concepts and designs for use in head-mounted augmented reality, or AR, headsets and developed a 14401 MEMS module
supporting AR headsets. We also developed an interactive display solution targeted at the smart speakers market and a small consumer lidar sensor for use indoors with smart
home systems.

We completed the acquisition of assets from Ibeo Automotive Systems GmbH, which we refer to throughout this report as Ibeo, on January 31, 2023 pursuant to the terms and
subject to the conditions of the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 1, 2022, and amended as of January 31, 2023, by and between our wholly owned subsidiary,
MicroVision GmbH organized under the laws of The Federal Republic of Germany, and Ibeo for a purchase price of EUR 15.0 million, or approximately $16.3 million, subject
to potential reduction on the terms set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the purchase price also included advanced funds to
Ibeo so that it could continue its operations while in insolvency during the period between signing and closing. Specifically, we advanced to Ibeo EUR 3.9 million, or
approximately $4.1 million in December 2022; EUR 2.7 million, or approximately $3.0 million in January 2023; and EUR 0.6 million, or approximately $0.7 million in
February 2023 shortly after the closing. These fund advances included amounts related to headcount reductions carried out by Ibeo management, decreasing the number of
employees to transfer in connection with the acquisition to approximately 250 employees. These headcount reduction costs of approximately EUR 2.3 million, or approximately
$2.5 million, were reimbursed to MicroVision by way of deduction from the purchase price in accordance with the Asset Purchase Agreement.

Although our development and productization efforts are now solely focused on our lidar sensors and related software solutions, our revenue in the fiscal year ended December
31, 2023 was largely derived from one customer, Microsoft Corporation, related to components that we developed for a high-definition display system. Our arrangement with
this customer generated royalty income, which will not continue in future periods.

To date, we have been unable to secure customers at the scale needed to successfully launch our products. We have incurred significant losses since inception and we expect to
continue to incur significant losses in the near term. We have funded our operations to date primarily through the sale of common stock, convertible preferred stock, warrants,
the issuance of convertible debt and, to a lesser extent, from development contract revenues, product sales and licensing activities.

MicroVision, Inc. was founded in 1993 as a Washington corporation and reincorporated in 2003 under the laws of the State of Delaware. Our headquarters is located at 18390
NE 68th Street, Redmond, Washington 98052, and our telephone number is (425) 936-6847.

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports are available free-of-charge from the
investor page of our website, accessible at www.microvision.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). Copies of these filings may also be obtained by visiting the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov, which contains current, quarterly and annual reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

Our Industry and Market Strategy

We are developing lidar sensors and perception software to address the needs of the Level 2+, or L2+, and Level 3, or L3, advanced driver-assistance systems (ADAS) markets
to be used in automotive safety and autonomous driving applications. Our micro-electromechanical systems, or MEMS-based high-speed lidar sensors, which we call
MAVINT™_ use our pioneering laser beam scanning (LBS) technology. Our solution-based development approach recognizes two key realities of the L2+ and L3 markets: that
safety is mission critical and that OEMs require cost efficiency and integration adaptability. With these factors in mind, we believe that our best-in-class MAVIN lidar sensors
support critical safety needs by providing the highest resolution at range and velocity of moving objects with a dynamic field of view while running at 30 hertz, thus enabling
ADAS features, such as automatic emergency braking, forward collision warning, and automatic emergency steering, at higher speeds of operation than most competing
products.




Moreover, we tailor our solution to meet the needs of OEMs, integrating our MEMS-based lidar and edge computing to support Highway Pilot capabilities up to 130km/h, save
development cost and time for OEMs with no training required for our sensor-fused output, reduce system cost by requiring fewer and cheaper sensors and reduced processing,
and enable seamless integration with an OEM’s existing architecture. Our unique solution for the L2+ and L3 markets, we believe, has the potential to achieve our goal of
enabling mission-critical safety systems while solving for OEMSs’ cost and integration objectives.

With this customer-centric approach, our go-to-market strategy depends on building partnerships with OEMs and Tier-1 automotive suppliers, as well as with silicon companies
to support our solution on their compute platforms. Although we are working to establish direct marketing and co-development relationships with OEMs, we could also derive
revenue directly from Tier-1 suppliers in the form of licensing revenue.

Our Technology and Competitive Strength

We believe a significant competitive strength for us today is our long history of delivering LBS- and MEMS-based hardware and related firmware and software that meets
reliability, predictability, and scalability standards of well-known OEMs and ODMs.

Core to our automotive lidar sensors, custom ASICs and perception software is proprietary technology that we have been developing, refining, productizing and protecting for
nearly 30 years. Our patented LBS technology combines a MEMS scanning mirror, laser diode light sources, electronics, and optics that are controlled using our proprietary
system control algorithms along with edge computing and machine learning in some systems. The MEMS scanning mirror is a key component of our technology system and is
one of our core competencies. Our MEMS scanning mirror is a silicon device that oscillates in a precisely controlled closed loop pattern so that we can place a pixel of light at a
precise point. This allows us to generate a projected image pixel-by-pixel for use in lidar sensing and display. Scanning modules with our technology can be designed to operate
in one of three different modes: lidar sensing only, display and lidar sensing combined, and display only. We believe that our proprietary technology offers significant
advantages over other lidar sensing systems and traditional displays.

Early applications of our proprietary technology included heads up displays for the U.S. military and automotive systems. The contemplated uses of our technology require
incorporation of our components into the products of other companies or partners. Most recently, our technology can be found in a Microsoft heads up display product. In the
past, we have worked with other global brands to incorporate our core technology into their consumer products.

The MAVIN DR, our dynamic-range automotive lidar sensor is designed to, and we believe can, meet or exceed OEM specifications, performing to 220 meters of range with an
output resolution of up to 15.0 million points per second. Our hardware delivers a high point cloud density for a single-channel sensor as compared to competitive products. In
addition to providing a low-latency, high-resolution point cloud at range, our sensor outputs axial, lateral, and vertical components of velocity of moving objects in the field of
view at 30 hertz. This allows our solution to support a detailed understanding of the velocity of moving objects in real time, enabling fast and accurate path planning and
maneuvering of the vehicle. Further, our proprietary scan locking feature ensures that our sensor is immune from interference from sunlight and from other lidar sensors.

Our Products and Revenue Strategy
Following our acquisition of assets from Ibeo, our product suite includes our MEMS-based high-speed automotive lidar sensors, perception software, flash-based automotive

lidar sensor, lidar sensors for non-automotive industrial markets, and reference and validation software. We also provide engineering services in connection with these hardware
and software products.




Central to our development and commercialization efforts is our MAVIN DR dynamic view lidar system targeted for sale to automotive OEMs and Tier 1 automotive suppliers.
MAVIN DR combines short-, medium- and long-range sensing and fields of view into one form factor. Dynamic range is key to enabling ADAS features at highway speeds. At
speeds of up to 130 km/h (80 mph), ADAS systems need more time to make decisions and react in order to take proactive action and hence need resolution at range. Our
MAVIN DR sensor produces an ultra-high-resolution point cloud showing drivable and non-drivable areas of the road ahead. With its low latency point cloud (30 hertz), we
believe the MAVIN product line allows ADAS systems to respond more quickly, make split-second decisions and take action at high speeds.

Our perception software integrated with our automotive lidar hardware, and eventually ported into our digital ASIC, is also targeted for sale to automotive OEMs and Tier 1
automotive suppliers. This perception software, included in our acquisition of assets from Ibeo, was developed in collaboration with an OEM customer and successfully passed
through that OEM’s development qualification processes.

Also stemming from our acquisition of assets are our flash-based sensors, suitable for short- and mid-range use by customers in the automotive market, as well as non-
automotive industrial markets. These solid-state sensors, comprising our MOVIA line of lidar sensors, are based on technology developed according to automotive-grade
standards, featuring variable scan frequency, high resolution, a modular optics concept, and low power consumption. The availability of our MOVIA sensors support a revenue
strategy that includes royalty revenues from automotive production, as well as sales in multiple markets including industrial, smart infrastructure, robotics, and commercial
vehicles.

Our acquisition allows us to offer a system solution for validating vehicle sensors for ADAS and AV applications. This system, which we have branded MOSAIK, includes
software that automates the manual data classification or annotation process. We believe the MOSAIK solution significantly reduces the time and resources required by OEMs
to validate their ADAS and AV systems. In addition to the auto-annotation software, sales of this validation solution may include our lidar sensors.

Research and Development

We believe our research and development efforts have earned us a leadership position in the field of lidar sensors, LBS technology and applications as applied to automotive,
consumer electronics and other markets. Our ability to attract customers and grow revenue will depend on our ability to maintain our technology leadership, to continually
improve performance, reduce costs, and ensure functional safety and flexible design. Our research and development teams as of December 31, 2023 were located in Redmond,
Washington, Hamburg, Germany and Nuremberg, Germany and were comprised of approximately 270 engineering and technical staff in optics, software engineering, electrical
engineering, product engineering, and MEMS design.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing approach is account based, business-to-business targeting of automotive OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers and potential customers in several industrial
markets. Our business development efforts are headed by executive management and business development representatives and are supported by engineers that assist customers
during the design cycles of products. We have business development offices for our automotive and industrial solutions located in Germany and the United States. We engage
potential customers directly, participate in trade shows, and maintain a website.

Manufacturing

We continue to invest in our manufacturing capabilities, evaluating long-term Tier 1 relationships and establishing new relationships with contract manufacturers, as we drive
toward our goal of serving as a Tier 1 supplier to automotive OEM customers. While our current partner is manufacturing limited volumes and we are not otherwise
manufacturing our products at significant volume at this time, in the past, when we have produced products or components, our products were manufactured by a contract
manufacturer based on our proprietary design, process, test, quality, and reliability standards and incorporated our LBS technology and included MEMS and ASICs that were
produced to order by semiconductor foundries. Our past manufacturing has not been subject to seasonal variations as our shipments have been relatively small and were in the
early stages of product introduction. In the future, depending on our customers’ product mix, we may be affected by seasonal fluctuations which could affect working capital
demands. Many of the raw materials used in our components are standard, although our MEMS, MEMS die, and ASICs have historically been manufactured to our
specifications by separate single-source suppliers.




Competitive Conditions

Many companies are attempting to develop lidar sensors and ADAS solutions; the competitive landscape is highly crowded and rapidly evolving. We compete with pureplay
lidar developers, some of which have recently completed de-SPAC transactions raising significant capital. Some of these companies have announced partnerships with OEMs,
Tier 1 suppliers, and contract manufacturers that, even if nonexclusive, may appear more credible than we do in the marketplace. We also face competition from OEMs and Tier
1 suppliers that have internally developed lidar sensors. All of these OEMs and Tier 1s are significantly larger, more well-resourced, have long operating histories and enjoy
relevant brand recognition. Many lidar developers are also building ADAS solutions with which our solution competes. Our competitors may succeed in developing innovative
technologies and products that could render our technology or products commercially infeasible or technologically obsolete.

The lidar sensing industry has been characterized by rapid and significant technological advances. Our LBS technology system and products may not be competitive with such
advances, and we may not have sufficient funds to invest in new technologies, products or processes. Although we believe our technology system and products could deliver
higher performance and have other advantages, manufacturers of competing technologies may develop improvements to their technology that could reduce or eliminate the
anticipated advantages of our products.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

We create intellectual property from three sources: internal research and development activities, technology acquisitions, and performance on development contracts. The
inventions covered by our patent applications generally relate to systems controls in our LBS technology, component miniaturization, power reduction, feature enhancements,
specific implementation of various system components, and design elements to facilitate mass production. Protecting these key-enabling technologies and components is a
fundamental aspect of our strategy to penetrate diverse markets with unique products. As such, we intend to continue to develop our portfolio of proprietary and patented
technologies at the system, component, and process levels.

We believe our extensive patent portfolio is the largest, broadest, and earliest filed LBS technology portfolio. We currently have over 700 issued patents and pending patents
worldwide, including approximately 330 patents we acquired in the acquisition from Ibeo in January 2023. As our technology develops, we periodically review our patent
portfolio and eliminate patents that are deemed of low value. Due to this ongoing portfolio management practice, the number of patents in our portfolio will vary at any given
time.

Since our inception in 1993, we have acquired through portfolio purchases, patents that grant us exclusive rights to various LBS technologies. From time to time some of these
patents may expire or be abandoned to better utilize resources expended to maintain and generate new intellectual property.

Our ability to compete effectively in automotive lidar or any other market we may enter may depend, in part, on our ability and the ability of our licensors to maintain the
proprietary nature of these technologies.

We also rely on unpatented proprietary technology. To protect our rights in these areas, we require all employees, and where appropriate, contractors, consultants, advisors and
collaborators, to enter into confidentiality and non-compete agreements. There can be no assurance, however, that these agreements will provide meaningful protection for our
trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosure of such trade secrets, know-how or other
proprietary information.

We have registered the name “MAVIN™,” “MOVIA™,” “MOSAIK™, “SAFE MOBILITY AT THE SPEED OF LIFE,” “PicoP®” and “MicroVision®” with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office and in various foreign countries.




Our Employees, People Operations and Workplace Safety

At the end of fiscal year 2023, throughout our global offices, we had approximately 340 predominantly full-time employees. We do not hire seasonal workers and none of our
employees are represented by a labor union or works council.

Our principal objectives with respect to our workforce are to attract, retain, motivate, and reward our employees to achieve positive results for our customers and for
MicroVision. To achieve these objectives, our employee benefit programs seek to (i) support skill building and prepare our employees for advancement through continuous
learning, (ii) reward our employees through compensation awards and resources intended to motivate our employees and promote well-being, and (iii) continuously identify
opportunities for development through regular employee input and engagement. We offer competitive compensation and benefits.

We also strive for continuous improvement in diversity and inclusivity among our employees, management, and board of directors, and seek to promote job opportunities to a
diverse pool of qualified candidates. We are also committed to providing an inclusive work environment free of discrimination or harassment of any kind, supported by
policies, communications, and reporting and resolution resources.

Protecting the safety, health, and well-being of our employees is also a key priority and we have implemented policies and practices to support this. Throughout the COVID-19
pandemic, we remained focused on the health and safety of our employees by implementing appropriate safety protocols.

We work with third party independent experts in the field of laser safety to assist in meeting safety specifications. In addition, we monitor developments in the area of
permissible laser exposure limits as established by International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) and others. Independent experts have concluded that laser exposure to the
eye resulting from use of LBS devices under normal operating conditions would be below the calculated maximum permissible exposure level set by the IEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the risks described below together with the other information set forth in this report, which could materially affect our business, financial
condition and future results. The risks described below are not the only risks facing our company. Risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem

to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
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Risk Factors Related to Our Business

We have a history of operating losses and expect to incur significant losses in the future.
We have had substantial losses since our inception. We cannot assure you that we will ever become or remain profitable.

o Asof December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $765.4 million.
o We had an accumulated deficit of $586.2 million from inception through December 31, 2020, a net loss of $43.2 million in 2021, a net loss of $53.1 million in
2022, and a net loss of $82.8 million in 2023.

The likelihood of our success must be considered in light of the expenses, difficulties and delays frequently encountered by companies formed to develop and commercialize
new technologies. In particular, our operations to date have focused primarily on research and development of our LBS technology system, including products built around that
technology such as our automotive lidar sensor, and development of demonstration units. We are unable to accurately estimate future revenues and operating expenses based
upon historical performance.

We cannot be certain that we will succeed in obtaining development revenue or commercializing our technology or products at scale. In light of these factors, we expect to
continue to incur significant losses and negative cash flow at least through 2024 and likely thereafter. There is significant risk that we will not achieve positive cash flow at any
time in the future.

We will require additional capital to fund our operations at the level necessary to implement our business plan. Raising additional capital will dilute the value of
current shareholders’ investment in us.

Based on our current operating plan, we anticipate that we have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months. We will, however,
require additional capital to fund our operating plan past that time. We will seek to obtain additional capital through the issuance of equity or debt securities, development
revenue, product sales and/or licensing activities. There can be no assurance that any such efforts to obtain additional capital would be successful.

We are currently focused on developing and commercializing our automotive lidar solution. This involves introducing new technologies into an emerging market which creates
significant uncertainty about our ability to accurately project the amounts and timing of revenue, costs and cash flows. Our capital requirements will depend on many factors,
including, but not limited to, the commercial success of our technologies, the rate at which OEMs introduce systems incorporating our products and technologies and the
market acceptance and competitive position of such systems. Our expenses have increased significantly as a result of the January 2023 Ibeo acquisition and related headcount
increase. If revenues continue to be less than we anticipate, if the mix of revenues and the associated margins vary from anticipated amounts, or if expenses exceed the amounts
budgeted, we may require additional capital earlier than expected to fund our operations. In addition, our operating plan provides for the development of strategic relationships
with suppliers of components, products and systems, and equipment manufacturers that may require additional investments by us.

Additional capital may not be available to us or, if available, may not be available on terms acceptable to us or on a timely basis. Raising additional capital may involve issuing
securities with rights and preferences that are senior to our common stock and may dilute the value of our current shareholders’ investment in us. If adequate capital resources
are not available on a timely basis, we may consider limiting our operations substantially and we may be unable to continue as a going concern. This limitation of operations
could include reducing investments in our research and development projects, staff, operating costs, and capital expenditures which could jeopardize our ability to achieve our
business goals or satisfy our customer requirements.




Risks Related to our Financial Statements and Results

Our revenue is generated from a small number of customers, and losing a significant customer will have a negative impact on our revenue.

In 2023, one commercial customer, Customer A accounted for $4.6 million in revenue, representing 63% of our total revenue, a second commercial customer accounted for
$0.8 million in revenue, representing 11% of our total revenue and a third commercial customer accounted for $0.4 million in revenue, representing 5% of our total revenue. In
2022, Customer A accounted for $0.7 million in revenue, representing 100% of our total revenue. No revenue was recognized from this customer during the second half of 2022
or for the first three quarters of 2023 as no shipments of our components were reported by the customer during that period. In 2021, Customer A accounted for $2.5 million in
revenue, representing 100% of our total revenue. Subsequent to fiscal year 2023, we do not expect to recognize further revenue from Customer A, which will negatively affect
our future revenue.

We have, in the past, identified a material weakness in our internal controls.

In the second quarter of 2021, we identified a material weakness in the controls that support our determination of the grant date of equity awards. If we identify further material
weaknesses in our internal controls, our failure to establish and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could result in
material misstatements in our financial statements and a failure to meet our reporting obligations. Any such failure could cause investors to lose confidence in the accuracy of
our financial reports, harm our reputation and adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

The audit of our internal controls over financial reporting for fiscal year 2024 will include controls of our subsidiary, MicroVision GmbH, which became a significant
subsidiary upon the closing of our acquisition of assets from Ibeo in 2023. Accordingly, our internal control environment will become more complex and, therefore, the risk of a
material weakness in internal controls will be higher.

Our stock price has fluctuated in the past, has recently been volatile and may be volatile in the future, and as a result, investors in our common stock could incur
substantial losses.

Our stock price has fluctuated significantly in the past, has recently been volatile, and may be volatile in the future. Over the 52-week period ending February 26, 2024, our
common stock has traded at a low of $1.82 and a high of $8.20. We may continue to experience sustained depression or substantial volatility in our stock price in the
foreseeable future unrelated to our operating performance or prospects. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred a loss per share of $(0.45).

As a result of this volatility, investors may experience losses on their investment in our common stock. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many
factors, including the following:

investor reaction to our business strategy;

the success of competitive products or technologies;

strategic developments;

the timing and results of our development and commercialization efforts with respect to our lidar sensors and ADAS solutions;

changes in regulatory or industry standards applicable to our technologies;

variations in our or our competitors’ financial and operating results;

developments concerning our collaborations or partners;

developments or disputes with any third parties that supply, manufacture, sell or market any of our products;

developments or disputes concerning patents or other proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for our
technology;

actual or perceived defects in any of our products, if commercialized, and any related product liability claims;

our ability or inability to raise additional capital and the terms on which we raise it;

declines in the market prices of stocks generally;

trading volume of our common stock;

sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders;

general economic, industry and market conditions; and

the effects of other events or factors, including war, terrorism and other international conflicts, public health issues including health epidemics or pandemics, such
as the COVID-19 outbreak, and natural disasters such as fire, hurricanes, earthquakes, tornados or other adverse weather and climate conditions, whether
occurring in the United States or elsewhere.
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Since the price of our common stock has fluctuated in the past, has suffered recent declines and may be volatile in the future, investors in our common stock could incur
substantial losses. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against companies. Such litigation, if
instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and growth prospects. There can be no guarantee that our stock price will remain at current levels or that future sales of our common stock will
not be at prices lower than those sold to investors.

Additionally, securities of certain companies have in the past few years experienced significant and extreme volatility in stock price due to short sellers of shares of common
stock, known as a “short squeeze.” These short squeezes have caused extreme volatility in both the stock prices of those companies and in the market, and have led to the price
per share of those companies to trade at a significantly inflated rate that is disconnected from the underlying value of the company. Many investors who have purchased shares
in those companies at an inflated rate face the risk of losing a significant portion of their original investment, as in many cases the price per share has declined steadily as
interest in those stocks have abated. There can be no assurance that our shares will not be subject to a short squeeze in the future, and investors may lose a significant portion or
all of their investment if they purchase our shares at a rate that is significantly disconnected from our underlying value.

If we are unable to maintain our listing on The Nasdaq Global Market, it could become more difficult to sell our stock in the public market.

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market. To maintain our listing on this market, we must meet Nasdaq’s listing maintenance standards. If we are unable to
continue to meet Nasdaq’s listing maintenance standards for any reason, our common stock could be delisted from The Nasdaq Global Market. If our common stock were
delisted, we may seek to list our common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market, the NYSE American or on a regional stock exchange or, if one or more broker-dealer market
makers comply with applicable requirements, the over-the-counter (OTC) market. Listing on such other market or exchange could reduce the liquidity of our common stock. If
our common stock were to trade in the OTC market, an investor would find it more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations for the price of, the common stock.

A delisting from The Nasdaq Global Market and failure to obtain listing on another market or exchange would subject our common stock to so-called penny stock rules that
impose additional sales practice and market-making requirements on broker-dealers who sell or make a market in such securities. Consequently, removal from The Nasdaq
Global Market and failure to obtain listing on another market or exchange could affect the ability or willingness of broker-dealers to sell or make a market in our common stock
and the ability of purchasers of our common stock to sell their securities in the secondary market.

On February 26, 2024, the closing price of our common stock was $2.09 per share.
Our lack of financial resources relative to our competitors may limit our revenues, potential profits, overall market share or value.

Our products and solutions compete with other pureplay lidar developers, many of which have recently gone public through de-SPAC transactions and therefore have
substantially greater financial resources than we have. We also face competition from OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers that have internally developed lidar sensors. All of these
OEMS and Tier 1s are significantly larger, more well-resourced, have long operating histories and enjoy relevant brand recognition. Because of their greater resources, our
competitors may develop or commercialize products more quickly than us and have access to more entrenched sales channels. This imbalance in financial resources and access
could result for us in reduced revenues, lower margins or loss of market share, any of which could reduce the value of our business. Additionally, for a variety of reasons,
customers may choose to purchase from suppliers that have substantially greater financial or other resources than we have.
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Risks Related to Our Operations

Difficulty in qualifying a contract manufacturer, Tier 1 partner, or foundry for our products, or experiencing changes in our supply chain, could cause delays that
may result in lost future revenues and damaged customer relationships.

Historically, we have relied on single or limited-source suppliers to manufacture our products. Establishing and maintaining a relationship with a contract manufacturer,
automotive Tier 1 partner, or foundry is a time-consuming process, as our unique technologies may require significant manufacturing process adaptation to achieve full
manufacturing capacity. To the extent that we are not able to establish or maintain a relationship with a contract manufacturer, Tier 1 partner, or foundry in a timely manner or
at prices or on other terms that are acceptable to us, we may be unable to meet contract or production milestones. Moreover, changes in our supply chain could result in
increased cost and delay and subject us to risks and uncertainties regarding, but not limited to, product warranty, product liability and quality control standards. The loss of any
single or limited-source supplier, the failure of any of these suppliers to perform as expected or the disruption in the supply chain of components from these suppliers could
cause significant delays in product deliveries, which could result in lost future revenues and damaged customer relationships.

Historically, we have been dependent on third parties to develop, manufacture, sell and market products incorporating our technology.

Our business strategy for commercializing our technology in products has historically included entering into development, manufacturing, licensing, sales and marketing
arrangements with OEMs, ODMs and other third parties. These arrangements reduce our level of control over production and distribution and may subject us to risks and
uncertainties regarding, but not limited to, product warranty, product liability and quality control standards.

We cannot be certain that we will be able to negotiate arrangements on acceptable terms, if at all, or that these arrangements will be successful in yielding commercially viable
products. If we cannot establish or maintain these arrangements, we would require additional capital to undertake such activities on our own and would require extensive
manufacturing, sales and marketing expertise that we do not currently possess and that may be difficult to obtain.

In addition, we could encounter significant delays in introducing our products and technology or find that the development, manufacture or sale of products incorporating our
technology would not be feasible. To the extent that we enter into development, manufacturing, licensing, sales and marketing or other arrangements, our revenues will depend
upon the performance of third parties. We cannot be certain that any such arrangements will be successful.

We could face lawsuits related to our use of LBS technology or other technologies, which would be costly, and any adverse outcome could limit our ability to
commercialize our technology or products.

We are aware of several patents held by third parties that relate to certain aspects of light scanning displays, 3D sensing products, and other technologies that are core to our
sensor hardware. These patents could be used as a basis to challenge the validity, limit the scope or limit our ability to obtain additional or broader patent rights of our patents.
A successful challenge to the validity of our patents could limit our ability to commercialize our technology or products incorporating our LBS technology and, consequently,
materially reduce our ability to generate revenues. Moreover, we cannot be certain that patent holders or other third parties will not claim infringement by us with respect to
current and future technology. Because U.S. patent applications are held and examined in secrecy, it is also possible that presently pending U.S. applications could eventually be
issued with claims that could be infringed by our products or our technology.

The defense and prosecution of a patent suit would be costly and time-consuming, even if the outcome were ultimately favorable to us. An adverse outcome in the defense of a
patent suit could subject us to significant costs, require others and us to cease selling products incorporating our technology, require us to cease licensing our technology or
require disputed rights to be licensed from third parties. Such licenses, if available, would increase our operating expenses. Moreover, if claims of infringement are asserted
against our future co-development partners or customers, those partners or customers may seek indemnification from us for any damages or expenses they incur.
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If we fail to manage expansion effectively, our revenue and expenses could be adversely affected.

Our ability to successfully offer products incorporating our technologies and implement our business plan in a rapidly evolving market requires an effective planning and
management process. The growth in business and relationships with customers and other third parties has placed, and will continue to place, a significant strain on our
management systems and resources. We will need to continue to improve our financial and managerial controls, reporting systems and procedures, and will need to continue to
train and manage our work force. We continue to strengthen our compliance programs, including our compliance programs related to product certifications (in particular,
certifications applicable to the automotive market), export controls, privacy and cybersecurity and anti-corruption. We may not be able to implement improvements in an
efficient or timely manner and may discover deficiencies in existing controls, programs, systems and procedures, which could have an adverse effect on our business, reputation
and financial results.

We target customers that are large companies with substantial negotiating power and potentially competitive internal solutions; if we are unable to sell our products
to these customers, our prospects will be adversely affected.

Our potential customers, automotive OEMs in particular, are large, multinational companies with substantial negotiating power relative to us and, in some instances, may have
internal solutions that are competitive to our products. These large, multinational companies also have significant resources, which may allow them to acquire or develop
competitive technologies either independently or in partnership with others. Accordingly, even after investing significant resources to develop a product, we may not secure a
series production award or, even after securing a series production award, may not be able to commercialize a product on profitable terms. If our products are not selected by
these large companies or if these companies develop or acquire competitive technology or negotiate terms that are disadvantageous to us, it will have an adverse effect on our
business prospects.

Our technology and products may be subject to environmental, health and safety regulations that could increase our development and production costs.

Our technology and products could become subject to environmental, health and safety regulations or amendments that could negatively impact our ability to commercialize
our technology and products. Compliance with any such current or new regulations would likely increase the cost to develop and commercialize products, and violations may
result in fines, penalties or suspension of production. If we become subject to any environmental, health, or safety laws or regulations that require us to cease or significantly
change our operations to comply, our business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

Our operating results may be adversely impacted by worldwide political and economic uncertainties and specific conditions in the markets we address.

At various times in our history, including in the recent past, general worldwide economic conditions have experienced downturns due to slower economic activity, concerns
about inflation, increased energy costs, decreased consumer confidence, reduced corporate profits and capital spending, and adverse business conditions. Any continuation or
worsening of global economic and financial conditions could materially adversely affect: (i) our ability to raise, or the cost of, needed capital, (ii) demand for our current and
future products, and (iii) our ability to commercialize products. Additionally, the outbreaks of wars or infectious diseases, as recently experienced, may cause an unexpected
deterioration in economic conditions. We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of any economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovery, worldwide, regionally
or in the automotive or technology industries.

Because we have recently expanded and plan to continue expanding our international operations and using foreign suppliers and manufacturers, our operating
results could be harmed by economic, political, regulatory and other factors in foreign countries.

During 2021, we established an office in Germany and on January 31, 2023 we completed our acquisition of certain assets of Ibeo, with the result that we now have more
employees and operations in Germany than in the U.S. In addition, we currently use foreign suppliers and partners and plan to continue to do so to manufacture current and
future components and products, where appropriate. These international operations are subject to inherent risks, which may adversely affect us, including, but not limited to:

e Political and economic instability, international terrorism and the outbreak of war, such as Russia’s invasion and continuing war against Ukraine and the ongoing
conflict in Gaza;

High levels of inflation, as has historically been the case in a number of countries in Asia;

Burdens and costs of compliance with a variety of foreign laws, regulations and sanctions;

Foreign taxes and duties;

Changes in tariff rates or other trade, tax or monetary policies;

Changes or volatility in currency exchange rates and interest rates;

Global or regional health crises, such as COVID-19 or other epidemics; and

Disruptions in global supply chains.
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We have recently and may in the future make acquisitions. If we fail to successfully select, execute or integrate our acquisitions, then our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

On December 1, 2022, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement to acquire certain assets from Ibeo Automotive Systems GmbH. We expended significant management
time and effort, as well as capital, identifying, evaluating, negotiating, and executing this transaction and, since the closing of the acquisition on January 31, 2023, we have
invested additional time and capital working to integrate our new Hamburg- and Detroit-based teams and operations. We cannot guarantee that these integration efforts will be
successful, that the goals of the acquisition will be realized, or that the increase to our operating expenses or cash requirements will be manageable.

In the future, we may again undertake acquisitions to add new products and technologies, acquire talent, gain new sales channels or enter into new markets or sales territories.
In addition to possible stockholder approval, we may need approvals and licenses from relevant government authorities for the acquisitions and to comply with any applicable
laws and regulations, which could result in increased delay and costs, and may disrupt our business strategy if we fail to do so. Furthermore, acquisitions and the subsequent
integration of new assets, businesses, key personnel, customers, vendors and suppliers require significant attention from our management and could result in a diversion of
resources from our existing business, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our operations. Acquired assets or businesses may not generate the financial results we
expect. Acquisitions could result in the use of substantial amounts of cash, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the occurrence of significant goodwill impairment
charges, amortization expenses for other intangible assets and exposure to potential unknown liabilities of the acquired business. Moreover, the costs of identifying and
consummating acquisitions may be significant.

Before our acquisition of assets from Ibeo, we had no experience with acquisitions or the integration of acquired technology and personnel. Failure to successfully identify,
complete, manage and integrate acquisitions could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and could cause our stock price to
decline.

Our suppliers’ or manufacturing partners’ facilities could be damaged or disrupted by a natural disaster or labor strike, either of which would materially affect our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

A major catastrophe, such as an earthquake, monsoon, flood, infectious disease including the COVID-19 virus, or other natural disaster, labor strike, or work stoppage at our
suppliers’ or manufacturers partners’ facilities or our customers, could result in a prolonged interruption of our business. A disruption resulting from any one of these events
could cause significant delays in product shipments and the loss of sales and customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations, and cash flows.

If we are unable to obtain effective intellectual property protection for our products, processes and technology, we may be unable to compete with other companies.
Intellectual property protection for our products, processes and technology is important and uncertain. If we do not obtain effective intellectual property protection for our
products, processes and technology, we may be subject to increased competition. Our commercial success will depend, in part, on our ability to maintain the proprietary nature
of our key technologies by securing valid and enforceable patents and effectively maintaining unpatented technology as trade secrets.

We protect our proprietary technology by seeking to obtain United States and foreign patents in our name, or licenses to third party patents, related to proprietary technology,
inventions, and improvements that may be important to the development of our business. However, our patent position involves complex legal and factual questions. The

standards that the United States Patent and Trademark Office and its foreign counterparts use to grant patents are not always applied predictably or uniformly and can change.
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Additionally, the scope of patents is subject to interpretation by courts and their validity can be subject to challenges and defenses, including challenges and defenses based on
the existence of prior art. Consequently, we cannot be certain as to the extent to which we will be able to obtain patents for our new products and technology or the extent to
which the patents that we already own, protect our products and technology. Reduction in scope of protection or invalidation of our licensed or owned patents, or our inability
to obtain new patents, may enable other companies to develop products that compete directly with ours on the basis of the same or similar technology.

We also rely on the law of trade secrets to protect unpatented know-how and technology to maintain our competitive position. We try to protect this know-how and technology
by limiting access to the trade secrets to those of our employees, contractors and partners, with a need-to-know such information and by entering into confidentiality
agreements with parties that have access to it, such as our employees, consultants and business partners. Any of these parties could breach the agreements and disclose our trade
secrets or confidential information, or our competitors might learn of the information in some other way. If any trade secret not protected by a patent were to be disclosed to or
independently developed by a competitor, our competitive position could be negatively affected.

We could be subject to significant product liability claims that could be time-consuming and costly, divert management attention and adversely affect our ability to
obtain and maintain insurance coverage.

We could be subject to product liability claims if any of the product applications are alleged to be defective or cause harmful effects. For example, because some of the
scanning modules incorporating our LBS technology could scan a low power beam of colored light into the user’s eye, the testing, manufacture, marketing and sale of these
products involve an inherent risk that product liability claims will be asserted against us.

Additionally, any misuse of our technology or products incorporating our technology by end users or third parties that obtain access to our technology, could result in negative
publicity and could harm our brand and reputation. Product liability claims or other claims related to our products or our technology, regardless of their outcome, could require
us to spend significant time and money in litigation, divert management time and attention, require us to pay significant damages, harm our reputation or hinder acceptance of
our products. Any successful product liability claim may prevent us from obtaining adequate product liability insurance in the future on commercially desirable or reasonable
terms. An inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at an acceptable cost or otherwise to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the
commercialization of our products and technology.

Our operations could be adversely impacted by information technology system failures, network disruptions, or cyber security incidents.

We rely on information technology systems to process, transmit, store, and protect electronic data between our employees, customers, manufacturing partners and suppliers.
Our systems and the third parties we rely on for related services are vulnerable to actual or attempted cybersecurity incidents, such as attacks by hackers, acts of vandalism,
malware, social engineering, denial or degradation of service attacks, computer viruses, software bugs or vulnerabilities, supply chain attacks, phishing attacks, ransomware
attacks, misplaced or lost data, human errors, malicious insiders or other similar events. Such systems are also susceptible to other disruptions due to events beyond our control,
including, but are not limited to, natural disasters, power loss, and telecommunications failures. Our system redundancy may be inadequate and our disaster recovery planning
may be ineffective or insufficient to account for all eventualities.

As security incidents have become more prevalent across industries we will need to continually examine, modify and update our systems. These updates or improvements may
require implementation costs. In addition, we may not be able to monitor and react to all developments in a timely manner. The measures we do adopt may prove ineffective.

Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with current and future regulatory or customer-driven privacy, data protection, and information security requirements, or to
prevent or mitigate cyber incidents, could harm our business and expose us to potential litigation, liability, remediation costs, investigation costs, loss of revenue, damage to our
reputation and loss of customers. While we maintain insurance coverage to address certain aspects of cyber risks, such insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all
losses or all claims that may arise, should such an event occur.
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We, and certain of our third-party vendors, collect and store personal information in connection with human resources operations and other aspects of our business. While we
obtain assurances that any third parties we provide data to will protect this information and, where we believe appropriate, monitor the protections employed by these third
parties, there is a risk the confidentiality of data held by us or by third parties may be compromised and expose us to liability for such breach.

Loss of any of our key personnel could have a negative effect on the operation of our business.

Our success depends on our executive officers and other key personnel and on the ability to attract and retain qualified new personnel. Achievement of our business objectives
will require substantial additional expertise in the areas of sales and marketing, research and product development and manufacturing. Competition for qualified personnel in
these fields is intense, and the inability to attract and retain additional highly skilled personnel, or the loss of key personnel, could hinder our ability to compete effectively in

the automotive or technology markets and adversely affect our business strategy execution and results of operations.

Risks Related to Development for the Automotive Industry

If our products and solutions are not selected for inclusion in ADAS systems by automotive OEMs or automotive Tier 1 suppliers, our future prospects will be
materially and adversely affected.

Automotive OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers design and develop ADAS technology over several years, undertaking extensive testing and qualification processes prior to selecting a
product such as our lidar sensors and software for use in a particular system, product or vehicle model because such products will function as part of a larger system or platform
and must meet certain other specifications. We have invested and will continue to invest significant time and resources to have our products considered and possibly selected by
OEMs or Tier 1 suppliers for use in a particular system, product or vehicle model, which is known as a “series production win” or a “series production award.” In the case of
ADAS technology, a series production award would mean that our lidar sensor and/or ADAS solution had been selected for use in a particular vehicle model. However, if we
are unable to achieve a series production award with respect to a particular vehicle model, we may not have an opportunity to supply our products to the automotive OEM for
that vehicle model for a period of many years. In many cases, this period can be as long as five to seven or more years. If our products are not selected by an automotive OEM
or our suppliers for one vehicle model or if our products are not successful in that vehicle model, it is unlikely that our product will be deployed in other vehicle models of that
OEM. If we fail to win a significant number of vehicle models from one or more of automotive OEMs or their suppliers, our future business prospects will be materially and
adversely affected.

The complexity of our products and the limited visibility into the various environmental and other conditions under which potential customers may use the products
could result in unforeseen delays or expenses from undetected defects, errors or reliability issues in hardware or software which could reduce the market adoption of
our products, damage our reputation with prospective customers, expose us to product liability and other claims, and adversely affect our operating costs.

Our products are highly technical and complex and require high standards to manufacture and may experience defects, errors or reliability issues at various stages of
development. We may be unable to timely manufacture or release products, or correct problems that have arisen or correct such problems to the customer’s satisfaction.
Additionally, undetected errors, defects or security vulnerabilities could result in serious injury to the end users or bystanders of technology incorporating our products, inability
of customers to commercialize technology incorporating our products, litigation against us, negative publicity and other consequences. These risks are particularly prevalent in
the highly competitive ADAS market. These problems may also result in claims, including class actions, against us that could be costly to defend. Our reputation or brand may
be damaged as a result of these problems and potential customers may be reluctant to buy our products, which could adversely affect our financial results.
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Adverse conditions in the automotive industry or the global economy more generally could have adverse effects on our results of operations.

While we make our strategic planning decisions based on the assumption that the markets we are targeting will grow, our business is dependent, in large part on, and directly
affected by, business cycles and other factors affecting the global automobile industry and global economy generally. Automotive production and sales are highly cyclical and
depend on general economic conditions and other factors, including consumer spending and preferences, changes in interest rates and credit availability, consumer confidence,
fuel costs, fuel availability, environmental impact, governmental incentives and regulatory requirements, and political volatility, especially in energy-producing countries and
growth markets. In addition, automotive production and sales can be affected by our automotive OEM customers’ ability to continue operating in response to challenging
economic conditions and in response to labor relations issues, regulatory requirements, trade agreements and other factors. The volume of automotive production in North
America, Europe and the rest of the world has fluctuated, sometimes significantly, from year to year, and we expect such fluctuations to give rise to fluctuations in the demand
for our products. Any significant adverse change in any of these factors may result in a reduction in automotive sales and production by our automotive OEM customers and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Developments in alternative technology may adversely affect the demand for our lidar technology.

Significant developments in alternative technologies, such as cameras and radar, may materially and adversely affect our business prospects in ways we do not currently
anticipate. Existing and other camera and radar technologies may emerge as OEMs’ preferred alternative to our solution, which would result in the loss of competitiveness of
our lidar solution. Our R&D efforts may not be sufficient to adapt to these changes in technology and our solution may not compete effectively with these alternative systems.

ADAS features may be delayed in adoption by OEMs, which would negatively impact our business prospects.

The ADAS market is fast evolving and there is generally a lack of an established regulatory framework. Vehicle regulators globally continue to consider new and enhanced
emissions requirements, including electrification, to meet environmental and economic needs as well as pursue new safety standards to address emerging traffic risks. To
control new vehicle prices, among other concerns, OEMs may need to dedicate technology and cost additions to new vehicle designs to meet these emissions and safety
requirements and postpone the consumer cost pressures of new ADAS features. As additional safety requirements are imposed on vehicle manufacturers, our business prospects
may be materially impacted.

Because the lidar and ADAS markets are rapidly evolving, it is difficult to forecast customer adoption rates, demand, and selling prices for our products and
solutions.

We are pursuing opportunities in rapidly evolving markets, including technological and regulatory changes, and it is difficult to predict the timing and size of the opportunities.
For example, lidar-based ADAS solutions require complex technology and because these automotive systems depend on technology from many companies, commercialization
of ADAS products could be delayed or impaired on account of certain technological components of ours or others not being ready to be deployed in vehicles. In addition, the
selling prices we are able to ultimately charge in the future for the products we are currently developing may be less than what we currently project. Our future financial
performance will depend on our ability to make timely investments in the correct market opportunities. If one or more of these markets experience a shift in prospective
customer demand, our products may not compete as effectively, if at all, and they may not be designed into commercialized products. Given the evolving nature of the markets
in which we operate, it is difficult to predict customer demand or adoption rates for our products, selling prices or the future growth of our target markets. If demand does not
develop or if we cannot accurately forecast it, the size of our markets, inventory requirements or future financial results will be adversely affected.

Because lidar is new in the markets we are seeking to enter, our market forecasts may not materialize as anticipated.

Our market opportunity estimates and growth forecasts are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not materialize as anticipated.
These forecasts and estimates relating to the expected size and growth of the markets for lidar-based technology may prove to be inaccurate. Even if these markets experience
the forecasted growth we anticipate, we may not grow our business at similar rates, or at all. Our future growth is subject to many factors, including market adoption of our

products, which is subject to many risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that these forecasts will not be materially inaccurate.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

Our Cybersecurity Processes

We continue to strengthen our cybersecurity measures to safeguard our information systems based on industry standards. Our measures include policies to promote internal
compliance by our employees, policies and procedures to regularly evaluate the security of our information systems and implementation of third-party products, including
intrusion prevention and detection solutions, multifactor identification and anti-virus software, to help detect and protect against potential cybersecurity threats. We educate our
staff on cybersecurity matters with periodic risk awareness information, phishing awareness campaigns, and training materials. Moreover, given the rapid growth of our global
operations in 2023 due to the Ibeo acquisition, and our expectations for near- and long-term strategic growth, our Information Technology, or IT, team is prioritizing
enhancements to our response system and continuity plans.

A key dimension to the security and effectiveness of our information system is our compliance with standards that are unique to the industries in which we operate. For
instance, it is critical that our information system achieves TISAX certification. Established by the German Association of the Automotive Industry, Trusted Information
Security Assessment Exchange, or TISAX, is a globally recognized assessment and exchange mechanism for information security in the automotive industry. Automotive
OEMs rely on the TISAX label to ensure that suppliers and partners have a solid information security management system in place. To successfully complete the TISAX
assessment process in our German and U.S. operations, we are actively evaluating our cybersecurity measures and seeking enhancements, including engaging a third-party
auditor and global standardization of our cybersecurity training program, to ensure a comprehensive and robust system.

We evaluate our third-party information system providers, as well as any other provider that may have access to our data, for their maturity and reliability, and as a matter of
policy we choose to only work with reputable vendors.

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

We have not encountered cybersecurity incidents that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our operations or financial condition.
Any material cybersecurity incident could have a material impact on our operations by causing a disruption to our ability to function as a global organization, by interrupting
our internal and external communications and reporting or managing our operations. Refer to “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this annual report on Form 10-K, including “Our
operations could be adversely impacted by information technology system failures, network disruptions, or cybersecurity breaches,” for additional discussion about
cybersecurity-related risks.

Governance

Board of Directors and Audit Committee

With delegated authority from our Board of Directors and in accordance with its charter, our Audit Committee is charged with the oversight of enterprise risk, including risk
related to cybersecurity threats. Our Audit Committee Chair is expected to report regularly to our Board of Directors about our Audit Committee’s oversight of enterprise risk.

Beginning in 2024, our Audit Committee Chair will report quarterly to our Board of Directors specifically about our cybersecurity incident management and governance.
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Management, and specifically our Chief Financial Officer, reports to our Audit Committee on cybersecurity, including initiatives and strategies, and incident reporting and any
lessons learned. Beginning in 2024, our Chief Financial Officer will make this report on a quarterly basis. From time to time, management will also engage in informal
discussions with members of the Audit Committee about our cybersecurity practices and risks, including informing our Audit Committee Chair in a timely manner about any
cybersecurity incidents that management determines may have a significant impact on our operations or that may trigger any reporting obligations.

Our Audit Committee will conduct an annual review of our cybersecurity measures and the effectiveness of our risk management strategies.
Management

Anubhav Verma, joined MicroVision in 2021 as our Chief Financial Officer. He is an experienced risk management professional and currently oversees the Company’s
accounting and finance strategies, including risk management. Mr. Verma also oversees our IT team and, with regular communication with the team, is responsible for
approving the IT budget, hiring of IT personnel, including third-party consultants, and approving cybersecurity processes and other cybersecurity-related matters. Although we
do not currently employ a chief information security officer, we are working with an outside consulting firm that is serving in this role and assisting our internal team with the
primary responsibility of overseeing our cybersecurity measures and risks.

The day-to-day responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing our cybersecurity risks resides with our IT team. Across the IT team we have employees who have in-
depth knowledge and decades of cybersecurity industry experience, including prior experience with developing and overseeing cybersecurity polices and processes for
companies required to comply with NIST SP800-171, cybersecurity standards for companies that store sensitive unclassified information on behalf of the United States
government, and former Ibeo employees having experience with TISAX compliance. Yet, we recognize the evolving and increasing threat that cybersecurity will have on our
operations. As part of our long-term growth strategy, we expect to establish a dedicated cybersecurity team to oversee our cybersecurity risk management.

The IT Team Director regularly meets with the Chief Financial Officer and as appropriate the Chief Executive Officer to discuss cybersecurity risks. This ensures that
management is informed about our current cybersecurity measures and aware of any potential risks facing our operations. In the event of a cybersecurity incident, we have put
in place a reporting structure to inform the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer and General Counsel promptly of any incident so that they may assess the
appropriate response to the incident and any reporting concerns that may be triggered by the incident.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In September 2021, we entered into a lease on approximately 16,681 square feet of space located in Redmond, Washington that we use primarily for general office space. The
lease provides for an initial term of 128 months that commenced November 1, 2021.

In September 2021, we entered into a second lease on approximately 36,062 square feet of space located in Redmond, Washington that we use primarily for product testing and
lab space. The lease provides for an initial term of 120 months and commenced on December 1, 2022.

In April 2022, we entered into a lease on approximately 3,533 square feet of space located in Nuremberg, Germany that we use primarily for general office space for business
development activities. The lease provides for a term of 60 months that commenced May 1, 2022.

In September 2022, we entered into a second lease on approximately 3,810 square feet of space located in Nuremberg, Germany that we use primarily for product testing for
engineering and development activities. The lease provides for a term of 60 months that commenced November 15, 2022.
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In connection with our January 2023 acquisition of assets from Ibeo, we assumed three leases in Hamburg, Germany covering approximately 45,208 square feet of office space,
garages to house test and demonstration vehicles, space for IT network equipment, and long-range laser testing space.

In December 2023, we entered into a lease on approximately 60,000 square feet of space located in Hamburg, Germany that we will use primarily for general office space and
product testing. This lease is intended to replace the office space described in the immediately preceding paragraph. The lease provides for a term of 60 months and will
commence on the date the property is delivered to us, which is expected to occur between August 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024.

We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that, should it be needed, suitable additional or substitute space will be available to
accommodate any such expansion of our operations. For a further description of our leased properties, see Note 11, Leases, of the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report, which is incorporated by reference in response to this item.

ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject to various claims and pending or threatened lawsuits in the normal course of business. We are not currently party to any other legal proceedings that
management believes are reasonably possible to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Executive officers are appointed by our Board of Directors and hold office until their successors are elected and duly qualified. The following persons serve as executive
officers of MicroVision, Inc.:

Sumit Sharma, age 50, was appointed Chief Executive Officer in February 2020 and served as Chief Operating Officer from June 2018 to February 2020, after serving as Vice
President of Product Engineering and Operations since February 2017 and Vice President and Senior Director of Operations since September 2015. Prior to MicroVision, from
April 2015 to September 2015, he was a Product Development and Operations consultant at BlueMadison Consulting. From November 2013 to March 2015, he was the Senior
Director, Advanced Manufacturing Operations and Technology Development at Jawbone. From March 2011 to October 2013, he was the Head of Manufacturing Operations for
project GLASS at Google. Mr. Sharma has extensive experience in optics, wearable technology, product development and qualification for automotive industry. Mr. Sharma
also has deep experience in global operations and developing strategic partnerships. A patent holder, Mr. Sharma received his baccalaureate degree in engineering from New
Jersey Institute of Technology.

Anubhav Verma, age 38, joined MicroVision in November 2021 as Chief Financial Officer. Prior to MicroVision, from October 2016 to November 2021, he led several growth
initiatives including M&A and Capital Market transactions as Senior Vice President Finance of Exela Technologies. From November 2013 to October 2016, he was an
Investment Professional of HandsOn Global Management driving end-to-end M&A deals including post-merger integration along with several rounds of capital market
financings. From July 2009 to October 2013, he advised several Fortune 500 companies as an Investment Banker at Credit Suisse in their New York and Mumbai offices. Mr.
Verma has extensive experience in Mergers and Acquisitions (M&A), Capital Markets and Strategic Finance roles for publicly listed and privately held companies. Mr. Verma
received a Bachelor of Technology degree in engineering and a Masters of Technology degree in engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology, Bombay.
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Drew Markham, age 56, joined MicroVision in June 2021 as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Before joining MicroVision, from January 2017 through June
2021, Ms. Markham was President at Avisé, a social purpose corporation, where she was a legal consultant to publicly traded technology companies. From January 2013 to
December 2016, she was Vice President, Deputy General Counsel & Assistant Secretary at RealNetworks, Inc. From June 1999 to December 2012, she was an attorney with
Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati. Ms. Markham received her Juris Doctor degree from the University of Washington School of Law and her Bachelor of Science degree in
Accounting from the University of Florida.

PART II.

ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock began trading publicly on August 27, 1996. Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq Global Market under the ticker symbol “MVIS.” We have never
declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain all future earnings to fund the operations of our business and do not anticipate
paying dividends on the common stock in the foreseeable future.

As of February 26, 2024, there were approximately 144 holders of record of 195,267,385 shares of common stock outstanding. As many of our shares of common stock are
held by brokerages and institutions on behalf of shareholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial holders of our common stock represented by these record
holders.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” or incorporated by reference in future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in
such filing.

The following graph shows a comparison from 2018 through 2023 of the cumulative total return for our common stock, the Russell 2000 Index and the Dow Jones US
Electronic and Electrical Equipment Index. Our prior annual reports had included cumulative total return from the NASDAQ Electrical Components Index, however it is not
included on this graph because the index has been discontinued. The comparisons in the graph are historical and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible future
performance of our common stock.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On November 21, 2023, pursuant to subscription agreements dated as of November 14, 2023, between us and each of the purchasers, we sold in the aggregate 50,761 shares of
our common stock, par value $0.001 per share (“Common Stock™), at $1.97 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $0.1 million. The purchasers consisted

of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and certain members of our Board of Directors.

On March 13, 2023, pursuant to a subscription agreement dated as of March 13, 2023, we sold to our Chief Executive Officer 100,000 shares of Common Stock, at $2.14 per
share, for an aggregate purchase price of $0.2 million.

The sales of our Common Stock described above were each undertaken in reliance upon an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), pursuant to Section 4(a)(2).

ITEM 6. RESERVED

ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the related
notes included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K. The following discussion focuses on the results of our operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2022. Similar discussion of the results of our operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 can
be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2022.
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Overview

Currently, our development and commercialization efforts are focused primarily on automotive lidar and advanced driver-assistance systems (ADAS) markets where we can
deliver safe mobility at the speed of life. Our integrated solution combines our lidar sensors, including our MEMS-based dynamic-range and flash-based short/mid-range, with
perception software, to be integrated on our custom ASIC, targeted for sale to premium automotive OEMs and Tier 1 automotive suppliers.

Although automotive lidar is our priority now, we have developed solutions for Augmented Reality, Interactive Displays, and Consumer Lidars. In the recent past, our strategy
had been to sell AR displays or components, Interactive Displays, or Consumer Lidars to original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and original design manufacturers (ODMs)
for incorporation into their products.

We have incurred substantial losses since inception and expect to incur a significant loss during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. We have funded operations to date
primarily through the sale of common stock, convertible preferred stock, warrants, the issuance of convertible debt and, to a lesser extent, from development contract revenues,
product sales and licensing activities. There can be no assurance that additional capital will be available or that, if available, it will be available on terms acceptable to us on a
timely basis. We cannot be certain that we will succeed in commercializing our technology or products.

Key accounting policies and estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that materially
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent liabilities. We evaluate our estimates on a continuous basis. We
base our estimates on historical data, terms of existing contracts, our evaluation of trends in the consumer display and 3D sensing industries, information provided by our
current and prospective customers and strategic partners, information available from other outside sources and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The results form the basis for making judgments regarding the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following key accounting policies require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
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Business combination

Our business combination is accounted for under the acquisition method. We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of the underlying net assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the
purchase consideration is included in bargain purchase gain in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates
and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets.

Intangible assets

Our intangible assets consist of acquired technology from the January 2023 Ibeo asset purchase and purchased patents. The estimated fair value of acquired technology was
calculated through the income approach using the multi-period excess earnings and relief from royalty methodologies. The intangible assets are amortized using the straight-
line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from one to seventeen years. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of their carrying values to the projected
undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related intangible assets or group of assets over their remaining lives. Measurement of an impairment loss for our intangible
assets is based on the difference between the fair value of the asset and its carrying value.

Share-based compensation

We issue share-based compensation to employees in the form of stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs), and performance stock units (PSUs). We account for the share-
based awards by recognizing the fair value of share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the service period of the award, net of estimated forfeitures. The
fair value of stock options is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of RSUs and non-executive PSUs is determined by the
closing price of our common stock on the grant date or the period end date for the awards that are being measured by the service inception date. For performance-based awards,
expense is recognized when it is probable the performance criteria will be achieved. If the likelihood becomes improbable that the performance criteria will be achieved, the
expense is reversed. Executive PSUs that have market-based performance criteria are valued using a binomial option pricing model using the following inputs: stock price,
volatility, and risk-free interest rates. Changes in estimated inputs or using other option valuation methods may result in materially different option values and share-based
compensation expense.

Leases

Significant judgment may be required when determining whether a contract contains a lease, the length of the lease term, the allocation of the consideration in a contract
between lease and non-lease components, and the determination of the discount rate included in our office lease. We review the underlying objective of each contract, the terms
of the contract, and consider our current and future business conditions when making these judgments.

Results of Operations

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022.

Revenue
2023 2022 $ change % change
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 7,259 $ 664 6,595 993.2

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive
in exchange for those goods or services. We recognize revenue either at a point in time, or over time, depending upon the characteristics of the individual contract. If control of
the deliverable(s) transfers over time, the revenue is recognized in proportion to the transfer of control. If control passes to the customer only upon completion and transfer of
the asset, revenue is recognized at the completion of the contract.

In April 2017, we signed a contract with Microsoft Corporation to develop an LBS display system; the contract terminated effective December 31,2023. Under the agreement,
we received an upfront payment of $10.0 million. In March 2020, Microsoft took over production of components that we had been producing for them. As a result, beginning in
March 2020, we earned a royalty on each component shipped approximately equal to the gross profit we would have earned if we had continued to produce and ship the
components. The increase in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 was primarily due to the recognition of the remaining $4.6
million of revenue as we believe the likelihood of further deliveries under the contract is remote. We do not expect to recognize any further revenue in connection with this
contract.

The remaining increase in revenue during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 compared to the prior year was primarily a result of customer contracts assumed in
connection with our January 2023 acquisition of assets from Ibeo.

The revenue backlog during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 was $3.1 million as compared to $0.0 million in 2022.
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Cost of revenue

% of % of
2023 revenue 2022 revenue $ change % change

(In thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 2,772 38.2 $ 100 n/a $ 2,672 2,672.0

Cost of revenue includes the direct and allocated indirect costs of products and services sold to customers. Direct costs include labor, materials, reserves for estimated warranty
expenses, and other costs incurred directly, or charged to us by our contract manufacturers, in the manufacture of these products. Indirect costs include labor, overhead, and
other costs associated with operating our manufacturing capabilities. Overhead includes the costs of procuring, inspecting and storing material, facility and other costs, and is
allocated to cost of revenue based on the proportion of indirect labor which supported revenue activities.

Cost of revenue can fluctuate significantly from period to period, depending on the product mix and volume, the level of overhead expense and the volume of direct material
purchased. The increase in cost of revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 was primarily due to the amortization of
intangible assets obtained in the acquisition of Ibeo assets of $1.4 million. The increase in 2023 was also driven by materials and labor associated with the corresponding
increase in revenue this year.

Research and development expense

2023 2022 $ change % change

(In thousands)
Research and development expense $ 56,707 $ 30,413 $ 26,294 86.5

Research and development expense consists of compensation related costs of employees and contractors engaged in internal research and product development activities, direct
material to support development programs, laboratory operations, outsourced development and processing work, and other operating expenses. We assign our research and
development resources based on the business opportunity of the available projects, the skill mix of the resources available and the contractual commitments we have made to
our customers. We believe that a substantial level of continuing research and development expenses will be required to further develop our scanning technology.

The increase in research and development expense during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 was primarily due to the Ibeo acquisition
that resulted in higher salary and benefits expenses as a result of increased headcount of $21.2 million, increased depreciation expenses of $1.6 million, increased facilities and
information technology expenses of $1.6 million compared to the prior year.

Sales, marketing, general and administrative expense

2023 2022 $ change % change

(In thousands)
Sales, marketing, general and administrative expense $ 36,689 $ 24,041 $ 12,648 52.6

Sales, marketing, general and administrative expense includes compensation and support costs for marketing, sales, management and administrative staff, and for other general
and administrative costs, including legal and accounting services, consultants and other operating expenses.

The increase in sales, marketing, general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022 was primarily due to
the Ibeo acquisition that resulted in increased salary and benefits expenses as a result of increased headcount of approximately $7.0 million, increased professional services of
$1.3 million incurred in connection with the Ibeo acquisition, increased non-cash compensation expense of $1.1 million, increased depreciation expense of $1.1 million and
increased purchased labor of $0.7 million.
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Bargain purchase gain, net of tax

2023 2022 $ change % change

(In thousands)
Bargain purchase gain, net of tax $ 1,669 $ = $ 1,669 -

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, we recorded a bargain purchase gain related to the acquisition of assets from Ibeo. The bargain purchase gain represents
the excess of the fair value of the underlying net assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the purchase consideration paid in the transaction.

Other income (expense), net

2023 2022 $ change % change

(In thousands)
Other income (expense), net $ 5,510 $ 799 $ 4,711 589.6

The increase in other income during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 is due to a payment of $3.0 million as an incentive to
terminate our previous building lease. The remainder of the increase is primarily due to income from investment securities.

Income taxes

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recognized tax expense of $1.1 million and $0.0 million, respectively, mainly related to income in foreign
jurisdictions offset, partially offset by a deferred income tax benefit generated by the reduction to a deferred tax liability created as a result of the acquisition of Ibeo in Q2
2023. The change in income tax expense during the year ended December 31, 2023 was largely the result of profitability in foreign jurisdictions related to the Ibeo acquisition.
As of December 31, 2023, we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $463.1 million for federal income tax reporting purposes. In addition, we have research
and development tax credits of $10.1 million. During 2023, $23.1 million federal net operating losses and $0.3 million general business credits expired unused. A majority of
the net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits available to offset future taxable income, if any, will expire in varying amounts from 2024 to 2043, if
not previously used.

In certain circumstances, as specified in the Internal Revenue Code, a 50% or more ownership change by certain combinations of our shareholders during any three-year period
would result in a limitation on our ability to use a portion of our net operating loss carryforwards.

We recognize interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense. We did not have any unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2023 or at
December 31, 2022.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred significant losses since inception. We have funded operations to date primarily through the sale of common stock, convertible preferred stock, warrants, the
issuance of convertible debt and, to a lesser extent, from development contract revenues, product sales, and licensing activities. At December 31, 2023, we had $45.2 million in
cash and cash equivalents and $28.6 million in investment securities. We also have approximately $19.0 million availability left on our existing $35.0 million ATM facility that
was put in place in the third quarter of 2023. Based on our current operating plan for 2024 and beyond, we anticipate that we have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to fund
our operations for at least the next 12 months.

Operating activities

Cash used in operating activities totaled $67.1 million during 2023, compared to $38.0 million in 2022. Cash used in operating activities resulted primarily from cash used to
fund our net loss, after adjusting for non-cash charges such as share-based compensation, depreciation and amortization charges and changes in operating assets and liabilities.
The changes in cash used in operating activities were primarily attributed to the Ibeo acquisition that resulted in increased operating expenses to support the development of our
lidar sensors. During the second half of 2023, we made a payment of $3.1 million to our contract manufacturing partner in connection with the buildup of MOVIA sensor
inventory for direct sales to both automotive and non-automotive customers. Moreover, we expect to make additional payments to this partner totaling approximately $6.2
million over the first six months of 2024 in line with agreed-upon deliveries.

Investing activities

Cash provided by investing activities totaled $21.8 million in 2023, compared to cash used in investing activities of $38.1 million in 2022. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2023, we purchased short-term investment securities totaling $41.7 million and sold short-term investment securities totaling $76.7 million. During the twelve
months ended December 31, 2022, we purchased short-term investment securities totaling $90.2 million and sold short-term investment securities totaling $60.6 million.
Purchases of property and equipment during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $2.0 million and $4.4 million, respectively. During the twelve months
ended December 31, 2023, we made payments totaling $11.2 million related to the acquisition of Ibeo assets. We expect to make the final payment related to the Ibeo
acquisition of approximately $3.0 million and we expect restricted cash of $3.3 million to be released from escrow to Ibeo during the first quarter of 2024. In 2022, operating
funds advanced to Ibeo during the pre-closing period totaling $4.1 million were included in cash used in investing activities.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities totaled $72.4 million in 2023, compared to $14.3 million in 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we made principal
payments under long-term debt totaling $0.4 million related to the loan under the Paycheck Protection Program of the 2020 CARES Act (PPP) administered by the Small
Business Administration compared to $0.5 million in the prior year. Proceeds received from stock option exercises totaled $0.3 million during 2023 compared to $0.7 million

during 2022.
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The following is a list of our financing activities during 2023 and 2022.

In August 2023, we entered into a $35.0 million ATM equity offering agreement with Craig-Hallum. Under the agreement, we are able, at our discretion, to offer
and sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate value of up to $35.0 million through Craig-Hallum. As of December 31, 2023, we had completed sales
under such sales agreement, having sold 6.1 million shares for net proceeds of $15.5 million. As of December 31, 2023, we have approximately $19.0 million
available under this ATM agreement.

In June 2023, we entered into a $45.0 million ATM equity offering agreement with Craig-Hallum. Under the agreement, we were able, at our discretion, to offer
and sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate value of up to $45.0 million through Craig-Hallum. As of June 30, 2023, we had completed sales under
such sales agreement, having sold 10.9 million shares for net proceeds of $43.9 million. No further shares are available for sales under this agreement.

In June 2021, we entered into a $140.0 million ATM equity offering agreement with Craig-Hallum. Under the agreement we were able, at our discretion, to offer
and sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate value of up to $140.0 million through Craig-Hallum. As of December 31, 2022, we had issued 8.3
million shares of our common stock for net proceeds of $81.8 million under this ATM agreement. During the quarter ended March 31, 2023, we issued 5.0 million
shares of our common stock for net proceeds of $12.5 million under the agreement. The sales agreement was terminated in June 2023.

Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to, the rate at which OEMs and other potential customers introduce products incorporating our
technology and the market acceptance and competitive position of such products. Our ability to raise capital will depend on numerous factors, including the following:

Perceptions of our ability to continue as a going concern;

Market acceptance of products incorporating our technology;

Changes in evaluations and recommendations by any securities analysts following our stock or our industry generally;
Announcements by other companies in our industry;

Changes in business or regulatory conditions;

Announcements or implementation by our competitors of technological innovations or new products;

The status of particular development programs and the timing of performance under specific development agreements;
Economic and stock market conditions;

The cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

Our ability to establish cooperative development or licensing arrangements; or

Other factors unrelated to our company or industry.

If we are successful in establishing OEM co-development arrangements, we may receive full or partial funding for certain non-recurring engineering costs for technology
development and/or product development. Nevertheless, we expect our capital requirements to remain high as we expand our activities and operations with the objective of
commercializing our technology.
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Contractual obligations

The following table lists our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period
Contractual Obligations <1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years > 5 years Total
Open purchase obligations * $ 10,414 $ 320 $ - $ - $ 10,734
Minimum payments under finance leases - - - - -
Minimum payments under operating leases” 2,951 6,819 6,686 8,527 24,983
$ 13,365 $ 7,139 $ 6,686 $ 8,527 $ 35,717

* Open purchase obligations represent commitments to purchase materials, capital equipment, maintenance agreements and other goods used in the normal operation
of our business.
+ Minimum payments under operating leases included payments associated with the forward-starting lease of MicroVision GmbH with a target commencement date of
August 1, 2024.

Recent accounting pronouncements

See Note 2, “Summary of significant accounting policies,” in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements found in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate and Market Liquidity Risks

As of December 31, 2023, all of our cash and cash equivalents have variable interest rates; however, we believe our exposure to market and interest rate risks is not material.
Due to the generally short-term maturities of our investment securities, we believe that the market risk arising from our holdings of these financial instruments is not significant.
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations; however, we do anticipate our labor costs to increase as a
result of inflationary pressures.

Our investment policy generally directs that the investment managers should select investments to achieve the following goals: principal preservation, adequate liquidity, and
return. As of December 31, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents are comprised of short-term highly rated (A rated securities and above) money market savings accounts and our

short-term investments are comprised of highly rated corporate and government debt securities (A rated securities and above). The values of cash and cash equivalents and
investment securities, available-for-sale as of December 31, 2023, are as follows (in thousands):

Amount Percent
Cash and cash equivalents $ 45,167 61.2%
Less than one year 28,611 38.8
$ 73,778 100.09,

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Our major contract and collaborative research and development agreements, product sales, and licensing activity payments are currently made in U.S. dollars or Euros. Changes
in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to the Euro and other currencies may affect revenue and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars. In addition, our international
subsidiary financial statements are denominated in Euros. As such, the consolidated financial statements will continue to remain subject to the impact of foreign currency
translation as our international operations continue to expand. We may enter into foreign currency hedges to offset material exposure to currency fluctuations when we can
adequately determine the timing and amounts of the exposure.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
MicroVision, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MicroVision, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and
schedule (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 29, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to
which it relates.

Business Combination — Valuation of Acquired Intangible Assets

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company acquired certain net assets of Ibeo Automotive Systems (Ibeo), a lidar hardware and software
provider based in Hamburg, Germany for total consideration of approximately EUR 20.0 million or $21.6 million, subject to settlement of working capital adjustments. The
acquisition was accounted for as a business combination and included acquired intangible assets.

We identified the business combination, and in particular, the valuation of acquired intangible assets, as a critical audit matter because determining the fair value of acquired
intangible assets required management to use complex valuation models based on underlying assumptions to estimate future cash flows. This, in turn, required significant and
subjective auditor judgment, including the need to involve fair value specialists, in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence obtained.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

e Testing the design, implementation, and operating effectiveness of internal controls over the valuation of acquired intangible assets, including controls surrounding the
valuation methodology and selection of assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of acquired intangible assets.

e With the assistance of valuation specialists, testing the reasonableness of the valuation methodology, discount rate, royalty rate, contributory asset rate, internal rate of return,
and weighted average cost of capital used to estimate the fair value of acquired intangible assets.

o Testing the significant assumptions used to estimate future cash flows by testing the underlying data to supporting the assumptions and comparing the assumptions to industry
trends and subsequent results to evaluate the reasonableness of management’s estimates as of the date of the acquisition.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 29, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
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MicroVision, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands)

December 31,
2023 2022
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 45,167 $ 20,536
Investment securities, available-for-sale 28,611 62,173
Restricted cash, current 3,263 -
Accounts receivable, net of allowances 949 -
Inventory 3,874 1,861
Advance to Ibeo - 4,132
Other current assets 4,890 2,306
Total current assets 86,754 91,008
Property and equipment, net 9,032 6,830
Operating lease right-of-use asset 13,758 14,579
Restricted cash, net of current portion 961 1,418
Intangible assets, net 17,235 75
Other assets 1,895 1,086
Total assets $ 129,635 $ 114,996
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,271 $ 2,061
Accrued liabilities 8,640 2,058
Accrued liability for Ibeo business combination 6,300 -
Contract liabilities 300 4,601
Current portion of operating lease liability 2,323 1,846
Current portion of finance lease obligations - 21
Other current liabilities 669 839
Total current liabilities 20,503 11,426
Operating lease liability, net of current portion 12,714 13,829
Other long-term liabilities 614 -
Total liabilities 33,831 25,255
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.001; 25,000 shares authorized; zero and zero shares issued and outstanding,
respectively - -
Common stock, par value $0.001; 310,000 shares authorized; 194,736 and 170,503 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 195 171
Additional paid-in capital 860,765 772,221
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) 210 (127)
Accumulated deficit (765,366) (682,524)
Total shareholders’ equity 95,804 89,741
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 129,635 $ 114,996

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Research and development expense
Sales, marketing, general and administrative expense
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Bargain purchase gain, net of tax
Gain on debt extinguishment
Other income (expense), net
Net loss before taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

Net loss per share - basic and diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic and diluted

MicroVision, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
$ 7,259 $ 664 2,500
2,772 100 2
4,487 564 2,498
56,707 30,413 24,111
36,689 24,041 22,256
(34) - -
93,362 54,454 46,367
(88,875) (53,890) (43,869)
1,669 - -
- - 692
5,510 799 (23)
$ (81,696) $ (53,091) (43,200)
(1,146) - -
$ (82,842) $ (53,091 (43,200
$ (0.45) $ (0.32) (0.27)
182,802 165,958 160,662

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MicroVision, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Net loss $ (82,842) § (53,091) $ (43,200)
Other comprehensive loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities, available-for-sale 153 (108) (19)
Unrealized gain on translation 184 - -
Comprehensive loss $ (82,505) $ (53,199 $ (43,219)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MicroVision, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands)

Additional Accumulated Total
Common Stock paid-in Subscriptions other Accumulated shareholders’

Shares Par value capital receivable comprehensive loss deficit equity (deficit)
Balance at December 31, 2020 152,926 153 601,224 (6,135) - (586,233) 9,009
Share-based compensation expense 2,365 2 15,282 - - - 15,284
Exercise of options 1,518 2 2,652 - - - 2,654
Sales of common stock, net of issuance costs 7,554 7 122,884 6,135 - - 129,026
Net loss - - - - - (43,200) (43,200)
Other comprehensive loss - - - - (19) - (19)
Balance at December 31, 2021 164,363 164 742,042 - (19) (629,433) 112,754
Share-based compensation expense 1,294 1 15,460 - - - 15,461
Exercise of options 525 1 725 - - - 726
Sales of common stock, net of issuance costs 4,321 5 13,994 - - 13,999
Net loss - - - - - (53,091) (53,091)
Other comprehensive loss - - - - (108) - (108)
Balance at December 31, 2022 170,503 $ 171 $ 772,221 $ - (127) $ (682,524) § 89,741
Share-based compensation expense 1,946 2 16,139 - - - 16,141
Exercise of options 191 - 175 - - - 175
Sales of common stock, net of issuance costs 22,096 22 72,230 - - - 72,252
Net loss - - - - - (82,842) (82,842)
Other comprehensive gain - - - - 337 - 337
Balance at December 31, 2023 194,736 $ 195 $ 860,765 $ S 210 $ (765,366) $ 95,804

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operations:

Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of property and equipment
Bargain purchase gain

Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Share-based compensation expense
Non-cash interest income

Inventory write-downs

Net accretion of premium on short-term investments

Gain on debt extinguishment
Change in:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current and non-current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Contract liabilities and other current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Sales of investment securities
Purchases of investment securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Advance to Ibeo
Cash paid for Ibeo business combination

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal payments under finance leases
Principal payments under long-term debt
Payments received on subscriptions receivable
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period

MicroVision, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities

Non-cash additions to property and equipment
Accrued liability for Ibeo business combination
Acquisition of right-to-use asset operating lease
Accrued financing fees

Currency gain in translation

Unrealized gain in investment securities, available-for-sale

The following table provides a reconciliation of the cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balances as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
(82,842) $ (53,091) $ (43,200)
7,864 2,246 1,464
12 64 882
(1,669) - -
(34)
16,141 15,461 15,284
= = (10)
76 87 48
(1,275) 21 86
- - (692)
(949) - -
(892) (168) (1,828)
(2,096) (217) (2,552)
942 (1,737) 2,520
6,571 888 675
(6,452) (293) (1,319)
(2,500) (1,280) (762)
13 - -
(67,090) (38,019) (29,404)
76,700 60,576 -
(41,710) (90,158) (32,825)
(1,935) (4,359) (2,493)
- (4,132) -
(11,233) = -
21,822 (38,073) (35,318)
21) (26) (28)
- (392) (488)
- - 6,135
175 726 2,654
72,284 13,999 122,891
72,438 14,307 131,164
267 - -
27,437 (61,785) 66,442
21,954 83,739 17,297
49,391 $ 21,954 $ 83,739
- $ 764 $ 550
6,300 $ - $ -
1,338 $ 10,184 $ 5,097
32y § - $ -
184 $ - $ -
153 $ (108)  $ (19)
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
45,167 $ 20,536 $ 82,647
4,224 1,418 1,092
49,391 $ 21,954 $ 83,739

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MicroVision, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2023

1. THE COMPANY AND LIQUIDITY

MicroVision, Inc. is developing and commercializing lidar sensors and software to be used in automotive safety and autonomous driving applications. Our dynamic-range lidar
sensor uses our pioneering laser beam scanning (LBS) technology. Our LBS technology is based on our patented expertise in systems that include micro-electrical mechanical
systems (MEMS), laser diodes, opto-mechanics, electronics, algorithms and software, and how those elements are packaged into a small form factor. This lidar sensor also
utilizes edge computing and machine intelligence as part of the solution. Though automotive lidar is our priority now, we have developed solutions for Augmented Reality,
Interactive Displays, and Consumer Lidars.

In the recent past, our strategy had been to sell AR displays or components, Interactive Displays, or Consumer Lidars to OEMs and ODMs for incorporation into their products.
In fiscal years 2021 and 2022, our sole customer was Microsoft Corporation; in 2023, this customer accounted for a significant portion of our total revenue. Our arrangement
with this customer generated royalty income; however, the volume of sales and resulting royalties from that arrangement were not significant. A few years ago, we shifted our
focus to increase the value of the Company by completing development of our 1st Generation long-range lidar module to a level that would be ready to scale in the market. We
believe our technology and designs for automotive lidar can be successful in the market, and our solutions will have features and performance that exceed those of competitors
and will provide a sustainable strategic advantage in the market.

We completed the acquisition of Ibeo Automotive Systems GmbH (“Ibeo”) assets on January 31, 2023 pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of the Asset Purchase
Agreement, dated December 1, 2022, and amended as of January 31, 2023, by and between our wholly owned subsidiary, MicroVision GmbH organized under the laws of The
Federal Republic of Germany, and Ibeo for a purchase price of EUR 15.0 million, or approximately $16.3 million, subject to potential reduction on the terms set forth in the
Asset Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the purchase price also included advanced funds to Ibeo so that it could continue its operations while in
insolvency during the period between signing and closing. Specifically, we advanced to Ibeo EUR 3.9 million, or approximately $4.1 million in December 2022; EUR 2.7
million, or approximately $3.0 million in January 2023; and EUR 0.6 million, or approximately $0.7 million in February 2023 shortly after the closing. These fund advances
included amounts related to headcount reductions carried out by Ibeo management, decreasing the number of employees to transfer in connection with the acquisition to
approximately 250 employees. These headcount reduction costs of EUR 2.3 million, or approximately $2.5 million, were reimbursed to MicroVision by way of deduction from
the purchase price in accordance with the Asset Purchase Agreement.

We have incurred significant losses since inception and expect to incur a significant loss during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. We have funded our operations to
date primarily through the sale of common stock, convertible preferred stock, warrants, the issuance of convertible debt and, to a lesser extent, from development contract
revenues, product sales and licensing activities.

At December 31, 2023, we had total liquidity of $73.8 million including $45.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and $28.6 million in short-term investment securities. As of
December 31, 2023, we have approximately $19.0 million available under an existing ATM agreement. Based on our current operating plan, we anticipate that we have
sufficient cash and cash equivalents to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months. We will require additional capital to fund our operating plan past that time. We will
seek to obtain additional capital through the issuance of equity or debt securities, product sales and/or licensing activities. There can be no assurance that any such efforts to
obtain additional capital would be successful.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles of the United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from our estimates. We have identified the following areas where estimates and assumptions have been
made in preparing the financial statements: business combinations, valuation of intangibles, revenue recognition, inventory valuation, valuation of share-based payments,
income taxes, depreciable lives assessment and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
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Cash and cash equivalents and fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair
value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, the authoritative guidance establishes a three level fair value inputs hierarchy, and requires an entity to maximize the use of observable valuation
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. We use market data, assumptions and risks we believe market participants would use in measuring the fair value of the
asset or liability, including the risks inherent in the inputs and the valuation techniques.

Our financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying value of our
financial instruments approximates fair value due to their short maturities. Our cash equivalents are comprised of short-term highly rated (A rated securities and above) money
market savings accounts.

Our short-term investment securities are primarily debt securities. The Company has classified its entire investment portfolio as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities
are stated at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in other comprehensive income (loss). Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned. Realized
gains and losses are presented separately on the income statement.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MicroVision, Inc. and MicroVision GmbH. MicroVision GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of MicroVision,
Inc. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Business Combination

Our business combination is accounted for under the acquisition method. We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of the underlying net assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the
purchase consideration is included in bargain purchase gain in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates
and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for our German operation is the Euro, which represents the currency of its primary economic environment. The results of operations for the German
operation are translated from the local currency into U.S. dollars using the average exchange rates during each period. All assets and liabilities are translated using exchange
rates at the end of each period, with foreign currency translation adjustments included as a component of other comprehensive loss. All equity transactions and certain assets are
translated using historical rates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars.

Segment Information

We determine operating segments based on how our chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) manages the business, makes operating decisions around the allocation of
resources, and evaluates operating performance. Our CODM is our Executive Management team, who reviews our operating results on a consolidated basis. We operate as one
segment, which relates to sale and servicing of lidar hardware and software. The profitability of our product group is not a determining factor in allocating resources and the
CODM does not evaluate profitability below the level of the consolidated company.

Inventory

Inventory consists of raw materials, work in process and finished goods assemblies. Inventory is computed using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method and is stated at the lower
of cost and net realizable value. Management periodically assesses the need to account for obsolescence of inventory and adjusts the carrying value of inventory to its net
realizable value when required.

Intangible assets

Our intangible assets consist of acquired technology from the January 2023 Ibeo asset purchase and purchased patents. As part of the Ibeo asset acquisition, we acquired
primarily two intangible assets in the form of Perception software and Reference software with a useful life of 15 years and 8 years, respectively. The estimated fair value of
acquired technology was calculated through the income approach using the multi-period excess earnings and relief from royalty methodologies. The intangible assets are
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from one to seventeen years. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of their carrying values to the
projected undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related intangible assets or group of assets over their remaining lives. Measurement of an impairment loss for our
intangible assets is based on the difference between the fair value of the asset and its carrying value.
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Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets (two to five years) using the straight-line method. Our property and
equipment may include assets related to future product lines. As our production needs change, we periodically assess the remaining estimated useful life of our production
equipment. If necessary, we adjust the depreciation on our production equipment to reflect the remaining estimated useful life. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over
the shorter of estimated useful lives or the lease term. Costs for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred and expenditures for major improvements are
capitalized at cost. Gains or losses on the disposition of assets are reflected in the income statements at the time of disposal.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash, current includes $3.3 million related to the Ibeo asset acquisition that has been withheld from the Purchase Price and held in escrow for a maximum period of
13 months post-Closing as partial security for potential claims arising out of or in connection with the Asset Purchase Agreement.

In addition, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, restricted cash, net of current portion was in money market savings accounts and serves as collateral for irrevocable letters of
credit related to our facility lease agreements. The restricted cash balance at December 31, 2023 includes $0.7 million related to a letter of credit that was issued in connection
with a lease agreement entered into in September 2021 for our company headquarters in Redmond, Washington. The new lease commenced on December 1, 2022, and the
required balance of the letter credit periodically decreases over the term of the 120-month lease. The restricted cash balance also includes $0.3 million related to a letter of
credit that was issued in connection with a lease agreement entered into in September 2021 for our general office and lab space in Redmond, Washington, and the required
balance of the letter of credit periodically decreases over the term of the 120-month lease.

Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. On our balance sheet, our office lease is included in Operating lease right-of-use (ROU) asset, Current portion of
operating lease liability and Operating lease liability, net of current portion. On our balance sheet, finance leases are included in Property and equipment, Current portion of
finance lease obligations and Finance lease obligations, net of current portion.

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. For leases that do not
provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments.
We use the implicit rate when readily determinable. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Significant judgment may be required when determining whether a contract contains a lease, the length of the lease term, the allocation of the consideration in a contract
between lease and non-lease components, and the determination of the discount rate included in our office lease. We review the underlying objective of each contract, the terms
of the contract, and consider our current and future business conditions when making these judgments.

Revenue recognition

The following is a description of principal activities from which we generate revenue. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred
to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services. We generate all of our revenue from contracts

with customers.

We evaluate contracts based on the 5-step model as stated in Topic 606 as follows: (i) identify the contract, (ii) identify the performance obligations, (iii) determine the
transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied.

A contract contains a promise (or promises) to transfer goods or services to a customer. A performance obligation is a promise (or a group of promises) that is distinct, as
defined in the revenue standard.
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The transaction price is the amount of consideration an entity expects to be entitled to from a customer in exchange for providing the goods or services. A number of factors
should be considered to determine the transaction price, including whether there is variable consideration, a significant financing component, noncash consideration, or
amounts payable to the customer. The determination of variable consideration will require a significant amount of judgment. In estimating the transaction price we will use
either the expected value method or the most likely amount method.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations in the contract based on relative standalone selling prices. Determining the relative standalone selling
price can be challenging when goods or services are not sold on a standalone basis. The revenue standard sets out several methods that can be used to estimate a standalone
selling price when one is not directly observable. Allocating discounts and variable consideration must also be considered. Allocating the transaction price can require
significant judgement on our part.

Revenue is recognized when (or as) the customer obtains control of the good or service/performance obligations are satisfied. Topic 606 provides guidance to help determine if
a performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time or over time. Where a performance obligation is satisfied over time, the related revenue is also recognized over time.

Product revenue

We sell our products to customers under a contract or by purchase order. We consider the sale of each individual item to be one performance obligation. The transaction price is
generally either at stated product price per quantity or at a fixed amount at contract inception. Revenue is recognized under Topic 606 when the product is shipped to the
customer because control passes to the customer at the point of shipment. Our product sales generally include acceptance provisions, however, because we generally can
objectively determine that we have met agreed-upon customer specifications prior to shipment, control of the item passes at the time of shipment.

License and royalty revenue

We recognize revenue on upfront license fees at a point in time if the nature of the license granted is a right-to-use license, representing functional intellectual property with
significant standalone functionality. If the nature of the license granted is a right-to-access license, representing symbolic intellectual property, which excludes significant
standalone functionality, we recognize revenue over the period of time we have ongoing obligations under the agreement. We will recognize revenue from sales-based royalties
on the basis of the quarterly reports provided by our customer as to the number of royalty-bearing products sold or otherwise distributed. In the event that reports are not
received, we will estimate the number of royalty-bearing products sold by our customers.

Contract revenue

Our contract revenue in a particular period is dependent upon when we enter into a contract, the value of the contracts we have entered into, and the availability of technical
resources to perform work on the contracts. We recognize contract revenue either at a point in time, or over time, depending upon the characteristics of the individual contract.
If control of the deliverable(s) occur over time, the revenue is recognized in proportion to the transfer of control. If control passes to the customer only upon completion and
transfer of the asset, revenue is recognized at the completion of the contract. In contracts that include significant customer acceptance provisions, we recognize revenue only
upon acceptance of the deliverable(s).

We identify each performance obligation in our development contracts at contract inception. The contracts generally include product development and customization specified
by the customer. In contracts with multiple performance obligations, we identify each performance obligation and evaluate whether the performance obligations are distinct
within the context of the contract. Performance obligations that are not distinct at contract inception are combined.

Our development contracts are primarily fixed-fee contracts. If control of deliverables occurs over time, we recognize revenue on fixed fee contracts on the proportion of total
cost expended (under Topic 606, the ‘input method’) to the total cost expected to complete the contract performance obligation. For contracts that require the input method for
revenue recognition, the determination of the total cost expected to complete the performance obligations on fixed fee contracts involves significant judgment. We incorporate
revisions to hour and cost estimates when the causal facts become known.

39




Cost of product revenue

Cost of product revenue includes the direct and allocated indirect costs of products sold to customers. Direct costs include labor, materials, reserves for estimated warranty
expenses, and other costs incurred directly, or charged to us by our contract manufacturers in the manufacture of these products. Indirect costs include labor, manufacturing
overhead, and other costs associated with operating our manufacturing capabilities and capacity. Manufacturing overhead includes the costs of procuring, inspecting and storing
material, facility and other costs, and is allocated to cost of product revenue based on the proportion of indirect labor which supported production activities. The cost of product
revenue can fluctuate significantly from period to period, depending on the product mix and volume, the level of manufacturing overhead expense and the volume of direct
material purchased.

Cost of contract revenue

Cost of contract revenue includes both the direct and allocated indirect costs of performing on contracts and producing prototype units and evaluation kits. Direct costs include
labor, materials and other costs incurred directly in producing prototype units and evaluation kits or performing on a contract. Indirect costs include labor and other costs
associated with operating our research and development department and building our technical capabilities and capacity. Cost of contract revenue is determined by the level of
direct and indirect costs incurred, which can fluctuate substantially from period to period.

Our overhead, which includes the costs of procuring, inspecting and storing material, and facility and depreciation costs, is allocated to inventory, cost of product revenue, cost
of contract revenue, and research and development expense based on the level of effort supporting production or research and development activity.

Concentration of credit risk and major customers and suppliers
Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk are primarily cash equivalents and accounts receivable. We typically do not require collateral
from our customers. As of December 31, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents are comprised of short-term highly rated (A rated securities and above) money market savings
accounts.

Concentration of major customers and suppliers

In 2023, one commercial customer (“Customer A”) accounted for $4.6 million in revenue, representing 63% of our total revenue, a second commercial customer accounted for
$0.8 million in revenue, representing 11% of our total revenue and a third commercial customer accounted for $0.4 million in revenue, representing 5% of our total revenue. In
2022, Customer A accounted for $0.7 million in revenue, representing 100% of our total revenue. No revenue was recognized from Customer A during the second half of 2022
or the first three quarters of 2023 as no shipments of our components were reported by the customer during that period. In 2021, Customer A accounted for $2.5 million in
revenue, representing 100% of our total revenue. Subsequent to fiscal year 2023, we do not expect to recognize further revenue from Customer A, which will negatively affect
our future revenue.

Typically, a significant concentration of our components and the products we have sold are manufactured and obtained from single or limited-source suppliers. The loss of any
single or limited-source supplier, the failure of any of these suppliers to perform as expected, or the disruption in the supply chain of components from these suppliers could
subject us to risks and uncertainties including, but not limited to, increased cost of sales, possible loss of revenues, or significant delays in product development or product
deliveries, any of which could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for differences between the financial statement and tax bases of the assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible
amounts in the future, based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense is recorded for the amount of income tax payable for the

period increased or decreased by the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period.
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Net loss per share

Basic net loss per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the periods. Net loss per share, assuming dilution, is calculated
using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding and the dilutive effect of all potentially dilutive securities, including common stock equivalents and
convertible securities. Net loss per share, assuming dilution, is equal to basic net loss per share because the effect of dilutive securities outstanding during the periods, including
options and warrants computed using the treasury stock method, is anti-dilutive.

The components of basic and diluted net loss per share were as follows (in thousands, except loss per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Numerator:
Net loss available for common shareholders $ (82,842) $ (53,091) $ (43,200
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 182,802 165,958 160,662
Net loss per share - basic and diluted $ (0.45) $ (0.32) $ (0.27)

During each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we excluded the following securities from net loss per share as the effect of including them would have
been anti-dilutive. The shares shown represent the number of shares of common stock which would be issued upon conversion in the respective years shown below (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Options outstanding 752 945 1,533
Nonvested restricted stock units 9,983 8,866 2,625
10,735 9,811 4,158

Research and development

Research and development expense consists of compensation related costs of employees and contractors engaged in internal research and product development activities, direct
material to support development programs, laboratory operations, outsourced development and processing work, and other operating expenses. We assign our research and
development resources based on the business opportunity of the available projects, the skill mix of the resources available and the contractual commitments we have made to
our customers. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. We believe that a substantial level of continuing research and development expense will be required
to further develop our technology.

Share-based compensation

We issue share-based compensation to employees in the form of restricted stock units (RSUs), and performance stock units (PSUs) and stock options. We account for the share-
based awards by recognizing the fair value of share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the service period of the award, net of estimated forfeitures. The
fair value of RSUs and non-executive PSUs is determined by the closing price of our common stock on the grant date. For performance-based awards, expense is recognized
when it is probable the performance criteria will be achieved. If the likelihood becomes improbable that the performance criteria will be achieved, the expense is reversed.
Executive PSUs that have market-based performance criteria are valued using a binomial option pricing model using the following inputs: stock price, volatility, and risk-free
interest rates. Changes in estimated inputs or using other option valuation methods may result in materially different option values and share-based compensation expense. The
fair value of stock options is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
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The following table summarizes the amount of share-based compensation expense by line item on the Statement of Operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Research and development expense 6,531 6,933 6,125
Sales, marketing, general and administrative expense 9,610 8,528 9,159
$ 16,141 $ 15,461 $ 15,284

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year financial statements to conform to classifications used in the current year. These reclassifications had no impact on net
loss, shareholders’ equity or cash flows, as previously reported.

3. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On January 31, 2023, we completed the acquisition of certain net assets of Ibeo, a lidar hardware and software provider based in Hamburg, Germany. The purpose of the
acquisition was to acquire certain Ibeo assets, primarily intellectual property, and personnel, to enable us to expand our technology and product portfolio and diversify our
revenue profile.

Total consideration related to this transaction was approximately EUR 20.0 million or $21.6 million, consisting of approximately (i) EUR 7.0 million or $7.6 million in cash
paid at closing, (ii) EUR 6.6 million or $7.1 million in cash advanced to Ibeo prior to closing, (iii) EUR 3.0 million or $3.3 million held in escrow for 13 months to be available
to cover properly established claims by MicroVision, (iv) EUR 0.6 million or $0.7 million in costs paid on behalf of the seller, and (v) EUR 2.7 million or approximately $3.0
million after calculating the deduction in purchase price agreed between both the parties. The remaining balance of approximately EUR 2.7 million is expected to be paid
during the first quarter of 2024. In addition, we incurred $0.6 million of acquisition-related costs associated with the acquisition during the twelve months ended December 31,
2023, which were included in Sales, marketing, general and administrative expense. We incurred $0.5 million of acquisition-related costs associated with the acquisition during
the three twelve months ended December 31, 2022.

The accrued liability for Ibeo business combination on our balance sheet in the amount of $6.3 million includes $3.3 million that was withheld from the Purchase Price and held
in escrow for a maximum period of 13 months post-Closing as partial security for potential claims arising out of or in connection with the Asset Purchase Agreement is

intended to be released and $3.0 million holdback amount that is expected to be paid in first quarter of 2024.

The transaction has been accounted for as a business combination. The results of operations for the acquisition are included in our consolidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition onwards.

The following table summarizes the final purchase price allocation to assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands):

Weighted Average
Useful Life (in
Amount years)
Purchase consideration:
Cash paid at closing(! $ 8,245
Payable to Ibeo® 6,246
Advances to Tbeo® 7,120
Total purchase consideration $ 21,611
Inventory $ 1,197
Other current assets 703
Operating lease right-of-use asset 234
Property and equipment, net 5,330
Intangible assets:
Acquired technology 17,987 13
Order backlog 26 1
Contract liabilities (1,178)
Operating lease liabilities (234)
Deferred tax liabilities (785)
Total identifiable net assets $ 23,280
Bargain purchase gain(4) (1,669)

(1) Represents $7.6 million in cash paid at closing and $0.7 million in cash paid shortly after close.

(2) Recorded as accrued liability to Ibeo in our consolidated balance sheet. Pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement, $3.3 million will be withheld from
the Purchase Price and held in escrow for a maximum period of 13 months post-closing as partial security for potential claims arising out of or in connection with
the Asset Purchase Agreement and $3.0 million holdback amount is expected to be paid in first quarter of 2024.

(3) Represents $4.1 million and $3.0 million in cash advanced to Ibeo in December 2022 and January 2023, respectively.

(4) The bargain purchase gain represents the excess of the fair value of the underlying net assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the purchase consideration and
is included in bargain purchase gain in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The bargain purchase gain was attributable to the negotiation process with Ibeo
during its insolvency proceedings resulting in cash consideration paid being less than the fair value of the net assets acquired.
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The estimated fair value of acquired technology was calculated through the income approach using the multi-period excess earnings and relief from royalty methodologies. The
estimated fair value of the order backlog was calculated through the income approach using the multi-period excess earnings methodology.

Supplemental Unaudited Pro Forma Information

The below unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the combined results of operations for the Company and Ibeo as if the acquisition had been completed on
January 1, 2022. The unaudited pro forma information presented below is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of our consolidated results of
operations of the combined business had the acquisition actually occurred at the beginning of fiscal year 2022 or the results of our future operations of the combined

businesses. Nonrecurring pro forma adjustments include:

e Recognition of the bargain purchase gain as if incurred in the first quarter of 2022;
® Acquisition-related costs of $1.1 million are assumed to have been incurred on January 1, 2022.

The following table summarizes the unaudited pro forma results (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Total revenue $ 7,808 6,957
Net loss (80,243) (115,786)

4. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The following is a description of principal activities from which we generate revenue. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred
to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services. We generate all of our revenue from contracts
with customers.

We evaluate contracts based on the 5-step model as stated in Topic 606 as follows: (i) identify the contract, (ii) identify the performance obligations, (iii) determine the
transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied.

A contract contains a promise (or promises) to transfer goods or services to a customer. A performance obligation is a promise (or a group of promises) that is distinct, as
defined in the revenue standard.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration an entity expects to be entitled to from a customer in exchange for providing the goods or services. A number of factors
should be considered to determine the transaction price, including whether there is variable consideration, a significant financing component, noncash consideration, or
amounts payable to the customer. The determination of variable consideration will require a significant amount of judgment. In estimating the transaction price we will use
either the expected value method or the most likely amount method.
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The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations in the contract based on relative standalone selling prices. Determining the relative standalone selling
price can be challenging when goods or services are not sold on a standalone basis. The revenue standard sets out several methods that can be used to estimate a standalone
selling price when one is not directly observable. Allocating discounts and variable consideration must also be considered. Allocating the transaction price can require
significant judgement on our part.

Revenue is recognized when (or as) the customer obtains control of the good or service/performance obligations are satisfied. Topic 606 provides guidance to help determine if
a performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time or over time. Where a performance obligation is satisfied over time, the related revenue is also recognized over time.

Disaggregation of revenue
The following table provides information about disaggregated revenue by timing of revenue recognition, (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2023
License and

Product royalty Contract
revenue revenue revenue Total
Timing of revenue recognition:
Products transferred at a point in time $ 1,019 4,888 1,106 $ 7,013
Product and services transferred over time - - 246 246
Total $ 1,019 $ 4,888 $ 1,352 $ 7,259

Year Ended December 31, 2022
License and

Product royalty Contract
revenue revenue revenue Total
Timing of revenue recognition:
Products transferred at a point in time $ - $ 664 $ - $ 664
Product and services transferred over time = - - -
Total $ - $ 664 $ - $ 664

Year Ended December 31, 2021
License and

Product royalty Contract
revenue revenue revenue Total
Timing of revenue recognition:
Products transferred at a point in time $ - $ 2,500 $ - $ 2,500
Product and services transferred over time - = - -
Total $ - $ 2,500 $ - $ 2,500
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Contract balances
The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities from contracts with customers (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Accounts receivable, net $ 949 § - 8 -
Accrued liabilities - - -
Contract liabilities 300 4,601 5,265

Under Topic 606, our rights to consideration are presented separately depending on whether those rights are conditional or unconditional. We present our unconditional rights to
consideration as “accounts receivable” in our Balance Sheet.

Significant changes in the contract assets and the contract liabilities balances during the period are as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change
Contract assets $ 949  § - 8 949 -
Contract liabilities (300) (4,601) 4,301 93.5
Net contract assets (liabilities) $ 649 $ (4,601) $ 5,250 114.1

In April 2017, we signed a contract with Microsoft Corporation to develop an LBS display system; the contract terminated effective December 31, 2023. Under the agreement,
we received an upfront payment of $10.0 million. As of December 31, 2022, we had applied $5.4 million against the contract liability. During the year ended December 31,
2023, we applied the remaining $4.6 million against the contract liability with this customer since we believe the likelihood of further deliveries under the contract is remote.
We do not expect to recognize any further revenue in connection with this contract.

Contract acquisition costs

We are required to capitalize certain contract acquisition costs consisting primarily of commissions paid when contracts are signed. We currently do not pay any commissions
upon the signing of a contract; therefore, no commission cost has been incurred as of December 31, 2023.

In connection with our January 2023 acquisition of assets from Ibeo, we assumed contract liabilities totaling approximately $1.2 million. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2023, we recognized revenue totaling $1.0 million against the contract liability.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

The following table provides information about the estimated timing of revenue recognition (in thousands):
2024 2025

Revenue $ 300 $ -
5. INVESTMENT SECURITIES, AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Our investment securities, available-for-sale are comprised of corporate debt securities. The principal markets for the debt securities are dealer markets which have a high level
of price transparency. The market participants for debt securities are typically large money center banks and regional banks, brokers, dealers, pension funds, and other entities
with debt investment portfolios.

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair
value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, the authoritative guidance establishes a three level fair value inputs hierarchy and requires an entity to maximize the use of observable valuation
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. We use market data, assumptions and risks we believe market participants would use in measuring the fair value of the
asset or liability, including the risks inherent in the inputs and the valuation techniques. The hierarchy is summarized below.
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Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities at the measurement date that the reporting entity has the ability to access.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which requires us to develop our own assumptions, which are significant to the measurement of the
fair values.

The valuation inputs hierarchy classification for assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands).
These tables do not include cash held in our money market savings accounts.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As of December 31, 2023
Assets
Corporate debt securities $ - $ 8,471 $ - $ 8,471
U.S. Treasury securities - 20,140 - 20,140
$ - $ 28,611 $ - $ 28,611
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As of December 31, 2022
Assets
Corporate debt securities $ - $ 15,500 $ - $ 15,500
U.S. Treasury securities - 46,673 - 46,673
$ = $ 62,173 $ = $ 62,173

Our short-term investments are summarized below as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands).

Investment
Cost/ Gross Gross Securities,
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Available-
Cost Gains Losses For-Sale
As of December 31, 2023
Assets
Corporate debt securities $ 8,466 $ 6 $ (@) $ 8,471
U.S. Treasury securities 20,119 21 - 20,140
$ 28,585 $ 27 $ (1) $ 28,611
As of December 31, 2022
Assets
Corporate debt securities $ 15,538 $ = $ (38) $ 15,500
U.S. Treasury securities 46,762 2 91) 46,673
$ 62,300 $ 2 $ (129) $ 62,173
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The maturities of the investment securities available-for-sale as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are shown below (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
As of December 31, 2023
Maturity date
Less than one year $ 28,585 § 27 $ (1 $ 28,611
As of December 31, 2022
Less than one year $ 62,300 $ 2 % (129) $ 62,173

The following table summarizes investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months and those that have been in a continuous unrealized
loss position for more than 12 months as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Less than Twelve Twelve Months or
Months Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
As of December 31, 2023
Corporate debt securities $ 1,488 § 1 s - § - 1,488 [€))
U.S. Treasury securities 1,486 - - - 1,486 -
$ 2974 $ I $ - § - $ 2974 § (1
As of December 31, 2022
Corporate debt securities $ 12,295 § 38 $ - 8 - 12,295 38)
U.S. Treasury securities 34,530 91) - - 34,530 91)
$ 46825 $ (129) $ - 8 - $ 46,825 § (129)
6. INVENTORY
Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2023 2022
Raw materials $ 1,574 $ 1,556
Work in process 305 305
Finished Goods 1,995 -
$ 3874 § 1,861
7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2023 2022
Production equipment $ 6,140 $ 6,140
Leasehold improvements 3,843 3,789
Computer hardware and software/lab equipment 12,149 10,515
Office furniture and equipment 5,367 1,804
27,499 22,248
Less: Accumulated depreciation (18,467) (15,418)
$ 9,032 $ 6,830

Depreciation expense was $3.1 million in 2023, $0.7 million in 2022 and $0.9 million in 2021.
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The components of intangible assets were as follows:

Net ‘Weighted
As of December 31, 2023 Gross Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Remaining
(in thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Period (Years)
Acquired technology $ 20,172 $ 2,940 $ 17,232 12
Backlog 26 23 3 -
$ 20,198 $ 2,963 $ 17,235
Gross Net ‘Weighted
As of December 31, 2022 Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Remaining
(in thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Period (Years)
Acquired technology $ 951 $ 876 $ 75 4
$ 951 $ 876 $ 75
Amortization expense was $2.1 million in 2023, $0.0 million in 2022 and $0.0 million in 2021.
The following table outlines our estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets held at December 31, 2023 (in thousands):
Research and
Cost of Development
Years Ended December 31, Revenue Expense Total
2024 $ 1,548 584 $ 2,132
2025 1,548 54 1,602
2026 1,548 25 1,573
2027 1,508 - 1,508
Thereafter 10,420 - 10,420
$ 16,572 $ 663 $ 17,235
9. ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2023 2022
Bonuses $ 1,359 §$ 537
Payroll and payroll taxes 3,704 766
Income taxes payable 2,111 -
Accrued professional fees 236 378
Liabilities to suppliers 885 130
Other 345 247
$ 8,640 $ 2,058

In addition, the accrued liability for Ibeo business combination on our balance sheet in the amount of $6.3 million includes $3.3 million that was withheld from the Purchase
Price and held in escrow for a maximum period of 13 months post-Closing as partial security for potential claims arising out of or in connection with the Asset Purchase

Agreement and $3.0 million holdback amount that is expected to be paid in first quarter of 2024.

10. COMMON STOCK

In August 2023, we entered into a $35.0 million ATM equity offering agreement with Craig-Hallum. Under the agreement, we are able, at our discretion, to offer and sell shares
of our common stock having an aggregate value of up to $35.0 million through Craig-Hallum. As of December 31, 2023, we had completed sales under such sales agreement,
having sold 6.1 million shares for net proceeds of $15.5 million. As of December 31, 2023, we have approximately $19.0 million available under this ATM agreement.
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In June 2023, we entered into a $45.0 million ATM equity offering agreement with Craig-Hallum. Under the agreement, we were able, at our discretion, to offer and sell shares
of our common stock having an aggregate value of up to $45.0 million through Craig-Hallum. As of June 30, 2023, we had completed sales under such sales agreement, having
sold 10.9 million shares for net proceeds of $43.9 million. No further shares are available for sales under this agreement.

In June 2021, we entered into a $140.0 million ATM equity offering agreement with Craig-Hallum. Under the agreement we were able, at our discretion, to offer and sell shares
of our common stock having an aggregate value of up to $140.0 million through Craig-Hallum. As of December 31, 2022, we had issued 8.3 million shares of our common
stock for net proceeds of $81.8 million under this ATM agreement. During the quarter ended March 31, 2023, we issued 5.0 million shares of our common stock for net
proceeds of $12.5 million under the agreement. The sales agreement was terminated in June 2023.

11. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
We use the straight-line attribution method to allocate the fair value of share-based compensation awards over the requisite service period for each award. The valuation of and
accounting for share-based awards includes a number of complex and subjective estimates. These estimates include, but are not limited to, the future volatility of our stock

price, future stock option exercise behaviors, estimated employee turnover, and award forfeiture rates.

Description of Incentive Plan

Our 2022 Incentive Plan has 20.0 million shares authorized, which includes 3.5 million shares not issued pursuant to any awards granted under the 2020 Incentive Plan. There
were 9.4 million shares available for awards as of December 31, 2023.

Options Valuation Methodology and Assumptions

We use the Black-Scholes option valuation model to determine the fair value of options granted and use the closing price of our common stock as the fair market value of our
stock on that date.

We consider historical stock price volatilities, volatilities of similar companies and other factors in determining estimates of future volatilities.

We use historical lives, including post-termination exercise behavior, as the basis for estimating expected lives.

Risk-free rates are based on the U.S. Treasury Yield Curve, as published by the U.S. Treasury.

The following table summarizes the weighted-average valuation assumptions and weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the periods shown below:

Year Ended December 31,

Assumptions (weighted-average) 2023 2022 2021

Volatility 0% 0% 120%
Expected term (in years) - - 4.0
Risk-free rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.9%
Expected dividends 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Pre-vest forfeiture rate 0.0% 0.0% 8.5%
Grant date fair value of options granted $ - $ - $ 11.72
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Options Activity and Positions

The following table summarizes activity and positions with respect to options for the periods shown below (in thousands):

Weighted-average

remaining Aggregate
‘Weighted-average contractual intrinsic

Options Shares exercise price term (in years) value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 3,281 1.51 6.6 $ 12,784
Granted 8 14.04

Exercised (1,519) 1.75

Forfeited or expired (237) 1.23

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 1,533 1.37 5.6 $ 5,645
Granted - -

Exercised (525) 1.38

Forfeited or expired (63) 3.00

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 945 1.26 5.7 $ 1,137
Granted - -

Exercised (191) 0.92

Forfeited or expired (2) 0.28

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 752 $ 1.35 4.6 $ 1,083
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 752 $ 1.35 4.6 $ 1,083
Exercisable as of December 31, 2023 752 $ 1.35 4.6 $ 1,083

The total grant date fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $0, $0.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively. As of December
31, 2023, we have no unrecognized share-based compensation related to options.

Restricted stock activity and positions

The following table summarizes activity and positions with respect to RSUs and PSUs for the three years ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):
Weighted-average

Shares price
Unvested as of December 31, 2020 1,983 $ 0.76
Granted 4,179 12.92
Vested (2,380) 3.11
Forfeited (1,157) 11.97
Unvested as of December 31, 2021 2,625 13.05
Granted 9,180 2.46
Vested (1,391) 9.16
Forfeited (1,548) 6.42
Unvested as of December 31, 2022 8,866 3.85
Granted 3,491 3.89
Vested (1,872) 6.98
Forfeited (502) 7.47
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 9,983 $ 3.09

In 2023, we issued 2.6 million PSUs to non-executive employees subject to the achievement of development goals. These shares are liabilities subject to mark-to-market
accounting as the number of shares was not fixed when issued. One-third of these shares will vest in connection with 2023 achievement of the milestones and the remaining
two-thirds will vest over two years from June 30, 2023.

In 2023, we issued 0.1 million shares for the partial achievement of internal performance milestones during the fourth quarter of 2022. These shares were valued based on the
closing price of our common stock on the dates of grant and vest quarterly over two years. We had canceled 0.4 million PSUs in the fourth quarter of 2022 related to the same

internal performance milestones.

In 2023, we issued 0.6 million time-based RSUs to non-executive employees for promotion, retention, and new hire grants. These shares were valued based on the closing price
of our common stock on the dates of grant. These shares vest over three or four years from the date of grant.
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In 2023, we issued 0.3 million time-based RSUs to independent directors for annual equity compensation. These shares were valued based on the closing price of our common
stock on the dates of grant. These shares vest quarterly, with the final installment vesting the earlier of the one year anniversary of the grant date or the day before the next
annual meeting.

In June 2022, we issued 6.0 million PSUs to our executive officers. The PSUs are subject to the achievement of performance goals and time-based vesting. The PSUs will
become eligible to vest if the closing price of our common stock reaches or exceeds specified price thresholds for at least 20 consecutive trading days during the performance
period through December 31, 2025. If the performance goals are met, the portion of the PSUs deemed earned will become subject to time-based vesting in equal quarterly
installments over two years starting from the date on which the goal is achieved. These PSUs were valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model using the following inputs:
stock price, volatility, and risk-free interest rates.

In 2022, we issued 2.4 million PSUs to non-executive employees subject to the achievement of development goals. These shares were valued based on the closing price of our
common stock on the dates of grant. These shares vest quarterly over two years from the achievement of established performance criteria. We canceled 0.4 million PSUs in the
fourth quarter of 2022 and re-issued 0.1 million PSUs in the first quarter of 2023 due to partial achievement of internal performance milestones.

In 2022, we issued 0.6 million time-based RSUs to non-executive employees for promotion, retention, and new hire grants. These shares were valued based on the closing price
of our common stock on the dates of grant. These shares vest over three or four years from the date of grant.

In 2021, an equity award was granted to the Chief Executive Officer in the form of 1.2 million restricted stock units. These shares were valued based on the closing price of our
common stock on the dates of grant. On the date of grant, 0.3 million shares vested immediately, 0.3 million vested in April 2022 and subsequent grants of 0.3 million RSUs
will be made on an annual basis in each of April 2023 and April 2024.

In 2021, we issued 1.5 million shares of performance stock units to non-executive employees. These shares were valued based on the closing price of our common stock on the
dates of grant. The shares vest one-eighth upon achievement of performance milestones with the remainder vesting quarterly over the following seven quarters. In 2021, 1.1
million of the performance stock units were canceled because of modifications to or failure to achieve performance milestones.

In 2021, we issued 1.1 million RSUs to non-executive employees for promotion, retention and new hire grants. These shares were valued based on the closing price of our
common stock on the dates of grant. These shares vest annually over one to four years from the date of grant.

As of December 31, 2023, our unrecognized share-based compensation related to RSUs was $5.0 million, which we plan to expense over the next 1.6 years, our unrecognized
share-based compensation related to executive PSUs was $5.1 million, which we plan to expense over the next 1.8 years, and our unrecognized share-based compensation
related to the non-executive PSUs was $3.3 million, which we plan to expense over the next 1.0 year.

12. LEASES

We lease our office space and certain equipment under finance and operating leases. Our leases have remaining lease terms of one to ten years. Our office lease agreement
includes both lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for separately. Our finance leases contain options to purchase the leased property. The depreciable life of
assets and leasehold improvements are limited by the expected lease term, unless we are reasonably certain to exercise the purchase option.

In September 2021, we entered into an office lease with Redmond East Office Park LLC, a Washington limited liability company, pursuant to which we will lease
approximately 16,681 square feet of space located in Redmond, Washington that we will use primarily for general office space. The lease provides for an initial term of 128
months that commenced November 1, 2021. Pursuant to the lease, annual base rent was approximately $0.5 million for the first year and is subject to annual increases of 3.0%.
In addition to base rent, we pay additional rent comprised of our proportionate share of any operating expenses, real estate taxes, and management fees. We have the option to
extend the term for one ten-year renewal period, provided that the rent would be subject to market adjustment at the beginning of the renewal term. The total minimum lease
payments related to this lease is $6.4 million.
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In September 2021, we entered into a second office lease with Redmond East Office Park LLC, pursuant to which we will lease approximately 36,062 square feet of space
located in Redmond, Washington that we will use primarily for product testing and lab space. The lease provides for an initial term of 120 months that commenced on
December 1, 2022. Pursuant to the lease, annual base rent will be approximately $1.1 million for the first year and is subject to annual increases of 3.0%. In addition to base
rent, we will pay additional rent comprised of our proportionate share of any operating expenses, real estate taxes, and management fees. We have the option to extend the term
for one ten-year renewal period, provided that the rent would be subject to market adjustment at the beginning of the renewal term. The total minimum lease payments related
to this lease are $13.0 million. During the quarter ended June 30, 2023, we received a payment of $3.0 million as an incentive to terminate our previous building lease. The gain
is recorded as other income in our statement of operations.

In April 2022, we entered into an office lease with Universal-Investment-Gesellschaft mbH, a German investment company, pursuant to which we lease approximately 3,533
square feet of space located in Nuremberg, Germany that we use primarily for general office space for business development activities. The lease provides for a term of 60
months that commenced May 1, 2022. Pursuant to the lease, annual base rent is approximately $76,000 per year. The total minimum lease payments related to this lease is
approximately $0.4 million.

In September 2022, we entered into a second office lease with Universal-Investment-Gesellschaft GmbH, a German investment company, pursuant to which we lease
approximately 3,810 square feet of space located in Nuremberg, Germany that we use primarily for product testing for engineering and development activities. The lease
provides for a term of 60 months that commenced November 15, 2022. Pursuant to the lease, annual base rent is approximately $92,000 per year. The total minimum lease
payments related to this lease is approximately $0.5 million.

In connection with our January 2023 acquisition of assets from Ibeo, we assumed three leases in Hamburg, Germany covering approximately 51,000 square feet.

One lease is with IntReal International Real Estate Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft and covers approximately 5,511 square feet of space for IT network equipment through
December 31, 2026. Pursuant to the lease, annual base rent is approximately $65,000 per year. The total remaining minimum lease payments related to this lease are
approximately $0.3 million. During the quarter ended March 31, 2023, we recorded a right-of-use asset in the amount of $0.2 million on our balance sheet. A second lease is
with Neuer Holtigbaum and covers approximately 32,529 square feet of office space and long-range laser testing space through August 2023. During the quarter ended
September 30, 2023, we amended this lease and extended until August 2024. The total remaining minimum lease payments related to this lease are approximately $0.2 million.
The third lease is with BG BAU Berufsgenossenschaft der Bauwirtschaft and covers approximately 13,127 square feet of garage space to house our test and demonstration
vehicles through July 31, 2024. The total remaining minimum lease payments related to this lease are approximately $0.1 million.

In December 2023, we entered into a lease on approximately 60,000 square feet of space located in central Hamburg in Germany. This lease is intended to replace the office
space described in the immediately preceding paragraph. The lease provides for a term of 60 months and will commence on the date the property is delivered to us, which is
expected to occur between August 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024.

The components of lease expense were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Operating lease expense $ 2,625 $ 1,501 $ 513

Finance lease expense:

Amortization of leased assets 21 26 30
Interest on lease liabilities - 2 3
Total finance lease expense 21 28 33
Total lease expense $ 2,646 $ 1,529 $ 546
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Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 2,500 $ 1,280 $ 762
Operating cash flows from finance leases - 2 3
Financing cash flows from finance leases 21 26 28
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:
Operating leases $ 1,338 $ 10,184 $ 5,322
Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:
December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Operating leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 13,758 $ 14,579
Current portion of operating lease liability 2,323 1,846
Operating lease liability, net of current portion 12,714 13,829
Total operating lease liabilities $ 15,037 $ 15,675
Finance leases
Property and equipment, at cost $ 112 $ 112
Accumulated depreciation 97) (80)
Property and equipment, net $ 15 $ 32
Current portion of finance lease obligations $ - $ 21
Finance lease obligations, net of current portion - -
Total finance lease liabilities $ - $ 21
Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term
Operating leases 8.4 years 13.1 years
Finance leases - 0.5 years
Weighted Average Discount Rate
Operating leases 4.6% 9.0%
Finance leases 0.0% 6.3%
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As of December 31, 2023, maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

(in thousands) Operating Finance

Years Ended December 31, leases leases

2024 2,373 -
2025 2,019 -
2026 2,032 -
2027 1,971 -
Thereafter 9,663 -
Total minimum lease payments 18,058 -
Less: amount representing interest (3,021) -
Present value of lease liabilities 15,037 $ -

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Purchase commitments

During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, we entered into a $9.3 million purchase commitment with a contract manufacturing partner for the production of MOVIA sensor
inventory to support direct sales to both automotive and non-automotive customers. We made a payment of $3.1 million during the third quarter and expect to make the
remaining future payments by the end of the second quarter of 2024 based on an agreed sensor delivery schedule.

Litigation

We are subject to various claims and pending or threatened lawsuits in the normal course of business. We are not currently party to any legal proceedings that management

believes are reasonably possible to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

14. INCOME TAXES

Components of income (loss) before income taxes (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2021
United States $ (86,730) $ (53,091) $ (43,200)
Foreign 5,034 - -
Total $ (81,696) $ (53,091) $ (43,200)
Components of income tax expense (benefit) (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2021
Current
Federal $ - 8 - 5
State - -
International 2,061 -
Total Current Tax Expense 2,061 -
Deferred
Federal - -
State - -
International 915) -
Total Deferred Tax Expense (915) -
Total Tax Expense $ 1,146 $ -3
The effective tax rate of our provision (benefit) for income taxes differs from the Federal statutory rate as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Statutory rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
Permanent Items and adjustments 0.1% 0.0% 0.0%
Compensation related 0.4)% (0.5)% (8.2)%
Share-based compensation (1.1% 2.2)% 25.1%
Net operating loss expiration (6.3)% 9.0)% (16.2)%
Tax credits 1.0% 1.5% 1.4%
Change in valuation allowance (15.0)% (10.8)% (23.1)%
Bargain Purchase gain 0.9% 0.0% 0.0%
Other (1.0)% 0.0% 0.0%
Total (1.4)% 0.0% 0.0%
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Deferred tax assets are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

Deferred tax assets 2023 2022
Reserves 632 $ 651
Net operating loss carryforwards 97,254 92,469
R&D credit carryforwards 10,114 9,628
Depreciation/amortization deferred 26,079 19,787
Operating lease liabilities 3,878 3,292
Other 7,833 7,360
Total deferred tax assets 145,790 133,187
Deferred tax liabilities:
Operating lease right-of-use assets (3,272) (3,062)
Total deferred tax liabilities (3,272) (3,062)
Net valuation allowances (142,376) (130,125)
Deferred tax assets $ 142 $ -

As of December 31, 2023, we maintained a valuation allowance of $142.4 million for our deferred tax assets that we believe are not more likely than not to be realized.

As of December 31, 2023, we have net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $463.1 million for federal income tax reporting purposes. In addition, we have research
and development tax credits of $10.1 million. During 2023, $23.1 million federal net operating losses and $0.3 million general business credits expired unused. A majority of
the net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits available to offset future taxable income, if any, will expire in varying amounts from 2024 to 2043, if
not previously used.

Certain net operating losses arise from the deductibility for tax purposes of compensation under nonqualified stock options equal to the difference between the fair value of the
stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the options. For financial reporting purposes, the tax effect of this deduction, when recognized, is accounted for as an

income tax benefit.

In certain circumstances, as specified in the Internal Revenue Code, a 50% or more ownership change by certain combinations of our shareholders during any three-year period
would result in limitations on our ability to use a portion of our net operating loss carryforwards.

We had no unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2023 or 2022.

We recognize interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 we recognized no
interest or penalties.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, Oregon and in Germany. Due to our operating loss and credit carryforwards, the U.S. federal statute of limitations
remains open for 1998 and onward. Tax years 2022 and forward remain open in Germany.

15. RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN
We have a retirement savings plan that qualifies under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k). The plan covers all qualified employees. Contributions to the plan are made at the
discretion of our Board of Directors. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 we contributed $0.5 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million to the plan,

respectively.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There have been no changes in or disagreements with accountants on accounting or financial disclosure matters during our fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) evaluated our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), prior to the filing of this Form 10-K. Based upon
that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on its evaluation under the framework in /nternal Control — Integrated Framework (2013), our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

(¢) Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls. Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. We completed the acquisition of Ibeo assets on January 31, 2023. As part of the asset acquisition, we are in the
process of incorporating our controls and procedures with respect to MicroVision GmbH’s operations, and we will include internal controls with respect to their operations in
our assessment of the effectiveness of our ICFR as of December 31, 2024. Other than changes related to incorporating our controls and procedures with respect to MicroVision
GmbH, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the period ended December 31, 2023 which has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
MicroVision, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Microvision Inc.’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated balance sheets of
Microvision Inc. as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity
(deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and schedule (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”) and our report dated February 29, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting included in Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As discussed in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, in January 2023, the Company acquired certain assets of IBEO Automotives (Microvision
GmbH). For the purposes of assessing internal control over financial reporting, management excluded Microvision GmbH, whose financial statements constitute approximately
10% of the Company’s consolidated total assets (excluding $18 million of intangible assets, which were integrated into the Company’s control environment) and approximately
5% of consolidated net loss as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal controls over the financial reporting of
Microvision GmbH.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 29, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
(a) None.
(b) During the three months ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended).
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
None.

PART III.
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information regarding executive officers is included in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Item 4A. The information required by this Item 10 of Form 10-K and not
provided in Item 4A will be included under the caption “Proposal One — Election of Directors” and “Board of Directors & Governance Matters” in our 2024 Proxy Statement
and is incorporated herein by reference. Our 2024 Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC prior to our 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 of Form 10-K will be included under the captions “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation,” and “Director Compensation for 2023” in our 2024 Proxy Statement and are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information as of December 31, 2023, regarding equity compensation plans approved and not approved by shareholders is summarized in the following table (in thousands,
except per share data):

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Number of securities
securities to be Weighted- remaining available for
issued upon average exercise further issuance under
exercise of price of equity compensation
outstanding outstanding plans (excluding
options, warrants options, warrants securities reflected in
and rights and rights column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) ()
Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders 9,422
Options to purchase common stock 752 $ 1.35
Restricted stock units and performance stock units 9,983 -
Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders - - -
Total 10,735 9,422

The other information required by this Item 12 of Form 10-K will be included under the caption “Information about MicroVision Common Stock” in our 2024 Proxy Statement
and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 of Form 10-K will be included under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Board of Directors &
Governance Matters” in our 2024 Proxy Statement and are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 of Form 10-K will be included under the caption “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our 2024 Proxy Statement and
is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(A) Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements
e Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
e Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022
e Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
e Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
e Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
o Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
e Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule IT
MicroVision, Inc.

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves Schedule
(In thousands)

Additions
Balance at Charges Charges Balance

beginning of to costs and to other at end of
Year Ended December 31, fiscal period expenses accounts Deductions fiscal period
2021
Tax valuation allowance $ 114,407 $ 9,973 $ - $ - $ 124,380
2022
Tax valuation allowance $ 124,380 $ 5,745 $ - $ - $ 130,125
2023
Tax valuation allowance $ 130,125 $ 12,252 $ - $ - $ 142,377

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
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3. Exhibits

The following exhibits are referenced or included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit

Number Description

2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 1, 2022, by and between Ibeo Automotive Systems GmbH and MicroVision GmbH¥

2.2 Amendment Agreement, dated January 31, 2023, to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 1, 2022, by and between Ibeo Automotive Systems GmbH
and MicroVision GmbH)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of MicroVision, Inc., as amended.®

32 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of MicroVision, Inc.*)

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of MicroVision, Inc. dated June 7, 2018.©)

3.4 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of MicroVision, Inc. dated October 8, 2020®

3.5 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of MicroVision, Inc. dated May, 18, 2023.

3.6 Amended and Restated Bylaws of MicroVision, Inc. ®)

4.1 Form of Specimen Stock Certificate for Common Stock. ()

42 Description of Common Stock O,

10.1 2022 MicroVision, Inc. Incentive Plan.(13"

10.2 Lease Agreement Concerning_Office Premises between Victoria Immo Properties I S.a r.l., dated December 15, 2023 (covering_approximately 60,000 square
feet).

10.3 Change of Control Severance Plan.®)*

10.4 Employment Agreement between MicroVision, Inc. and Sumit Sharma dated April 8, 2021. an

10.5 At-the-Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated August 29,2023, by and between the Company and Craig-Hallum Capital Group Lrcd”

10.6 Lease Agreement between Redmond East Office Park LLC and MicroVision, Inc. dated September 24, 2021 (covering approximately 16,681 square feet)&

10.7 Lease Agreement between Redmond East Office Park LL.C and MicroVision, Inc. dated September 24, 2021 (covering approximately 36,062 square feet). a2

10.8 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement(13)*

10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement(ls)*

10.10 At-the-Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated June 16,2023, by and between the Company and Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLcto

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Moss Adams LLP.

31.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code (18 U.S.C.
1350), as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

322 Principal Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)_or Rule 15d-14(b)_and Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code (18 U.S.C.
1350), as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

97.1 Policy on Recoupment of Incentive Compensation

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document).

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312523024390/d396201dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312523024390/d396201dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000006577009000021/exh3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312512066935/d303924dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312518187996/d587665dex33.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000113626120000174/exh3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312523149298/d476840dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312523187268/d508660dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000104746903041939/a2124892zex-4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000113626121000040/exh4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312522170281/d316399dex46.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312522158306/d329765dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000113626121000197/exh10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312523223871/d545694dex11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000113626121000232/exh10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000113626121000232/exh10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312522170281/d316399dex48.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312523056723/d461483dex109.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/65770/000119312523168450/d504922dex11.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex21-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex23-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex31-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex31-2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex32-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex32-2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/microvision/sec/0001493152-24-008335/for_pdf/ex97-1.htm

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment to Form S-3 Registration Statement, Registration No. 333-102244.
2) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2009.

3) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 24, 2022.

4) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2012.

) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 14, 2023.

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Form S-1 Registration Statement, Registration No. 333-222857.
7 Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 19, 2023.

8) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2020.

) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(10) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 29, 2023.

(11 Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2021.

(12) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021.

(13) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form S-8 filed on June 8, 2022.

(14) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2023.

(15) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(16) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 16, 2023.

* Management contracts and compensatory plans and arrangements required to be filed as exhibits pursuant to Item 15(b) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MicroVision, Inc.

By /s/ Sumit Sharma

Sumit Sharma
Date: February 29, 2024 Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Sumit Sharma and Anubhav Verma, jointly and
severally, his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that
each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the following
capacities on February 29, 2024.

Signature Title

/s/ Sumit Sharma Chief Executive Officer and Director

Sumit Sharma (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Anubhav Verma Chief Financial Officer

Anubhav Verma (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Simon Biddiscombe Director

Simon Biddiscombe

/s/ Robert P. Carlile Director
Robert P. Carlile

/s/ Judy Curran Director
Judy Curran

/s/ Jeffrey Herbst Director
Jeffrey Herbst

/s/ Mark Spitzer Director

Mark Spitzer

/s/ Brian V. Turner Director

Brian V. Turner
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MIETVERTRAG UBER BUTRORAUME

LEASE AGREEMENT CONCERNING OFFICE PREMISES

zwischen / between
VICTORIA IMMO PROPERTIES 1 A RL.
als Vermieter / as Landlord
und / and
MICROVISION GMBH

als Mister / as Tenant

Exhibit 10.2
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ZWISCHEN:

(1)  Victoria Immo Properties I S.ar.l.
1, rue Louvigny
L-1946 Luxembourg

eingetragen im  Handelsregister  beim
Registre de Commerce ot des Sociétés

Luxemburg unter B 227707

—nachfolgend "Vermieter" —
UND

(2} MicroVision GmbH
Neuer Héltighaum 6
22143 Hamburg

eingetragen  im  Handelsregister  des

Amtsgerichts Hamburg unter HEB 1813525

— nachfolgend "Mieter" —,

und  Mieter
gemeinsam als dic "Parteien” und cinzeln als cine

"Partei” bezeichnet,

Vermieter nachfolgend  auch

wird der folgende
MIETYERTRAG

iiber Biiroflichen nach

Bedingungen geschlossen:

den  nachfolgenden

BETWEEN:
{1)  Vietoria Immo Properties [ S.a r.l.
1. ruc Louvigny

L-1946 Luxembourg

registered with the Trade and Companies
Register of Luxembourg (Registre de Com-
meree et des Sociétés) under number B
227707

— heremafter referred to as "Landlord™ —
AND

{2y  MicroVision GmbH
MNeuver Holtigbaum 6
22143 Hamburg

registered in the commercial register of the

district court Hamburg under HEB 181325

— hercinafter referred to as "Tenant” —,

hereinafter, Landlord and Tenant shall collectively
be referred to as the "Parties” and individually as

a "Party”,

the following
RENTAL CONTRACT

on office space is concluded under the following

conditions:

Seite 3 von 110




PRAAMBEL

Pl

p.z

Der Vermicter i3t Figentiimer der im P.1
Gruondbuch  des  Amtsgerichts  Hamburg,
Band 34, Blatt 2096 (Gemarkung 5t. Georg
Sind, Flurstiick 2106) sowic Band 46, Blatt
1859 (Gemarkung 5t. Georg Siid, Flurstiick
2002) Grundstiicke,
nachfolgend | Liegenschaft™ genannt. Die

eingelragenen

Licgenschaft wird unter der postalischen
Anschrift: Amsinckstrabie 63-71d. 20097
Hamburg gefiihrt. Dic Licgenschaft ist im
Lageplan der Anlage P.1 farblich rot
umrandet kenntlich gemacht und mit einem
Birogebiiude bebaut.

Die Parteien sind sich ihrer Verantwortung P2
fir  den
Lebensgrundlagen und  des Klhimas  im
der kinftigen Generationen
bewusst; sic sind sich dariiber cinig, dass sic
die Durchflilwung des Mietverhiltnisses an
mdglichst nachhalligen Kriterien ausrichien
daher

Schutz der natfirlichen

Interesse

wallen. Es  ist insbesondere  der

Wunsch der Parteien, hei der
Bewirtschaftung  und  Nutzung  des
Mietgegenstandes mit  Ressourcen und

Energie schonend und sparsam umzugehen,
Emissionen zu vermeiden und konstruktiv
zusammenzuarbeiten, um auch innovative
Wege zur Emeichung einer mdglichst
nachhaltigen, ressourcenschonenden  und
dkologischen Bewirtschaliung und Nutzung
des Mietgegenstandes zu beschreiten. Dabei
sollen Skonomische, dkelogische und soziale

Aspekte  gleichermalien  berficksichtigt
werden (zZusammengefasst die , Nachhaltige
Nutzung und Bewirtschafiung™. Die

Parteien  werden  sich  bemiithen,  thre
Mitarbeiter, Untermieter, Dienstleister (z. B,
Property und'oder Facility Manager) und
und

sonstige  fir  die  Nutzung

Bewirtschaftung der Immaohilie

PREAMBLE

The Landlord is the owner of the real properties
entered in the land register of the District Court
of Hamburg, volume 34, sheet 2096 (district St,
Georg Siid, parcel 2106) and volume 46, sheet
1859 (district 5t. Georg 5iid, parcel 2072), here-
inafler referred to as the "Property”). The Prop-
erty is registered under the postal address:
Amsinckstrabe 63-71d, 20097 Hamburg. The
Property is marked with a red outline on the site
plan in Annex P.1 and is developed with an of-

fice building.

The Parties are aware of their responsibility for
the protection of the natural foundations of life
and the climate in the interest of future genera-
tions; they agree that they want to orient the per-
formance of the lease to the most sustainable cri-
teria possible, It is therefore the wish of the Par-
ties in particular to use resources and energy
sparingly and economically in the management
and use of the Lease Object, to avoid emissions
and to work together constructively in order to
also pursue innovative ways of achieving the
most sustainable, resource-conserving and eco-
logical management and use of the Lease Object
possible. In doing so, cconomic, ccological and
social aspects shall be taken into account in equal
measure {collectively referred to as "Sustainable
Use and Management"). The Parties shall en-
deavor to encourage their employees, sublessees,
service providers (e.g. property and/or facility
managers) and other contractual partners rele-
vant to the use and management of the Property
to observe the aspects of Sustainable Use and

Management.
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1.1.3

1.1.4

mabgeblichen Vertragspartner znr
Beachtung der Aspekie der Nachhaltigen
Nutzung und Bewirlschallung anzuhalten.

MIETGEGENSTAND 1.

Der Vermicter vermietet auf der Licpenschaft
an den Mieter:

Flichen im Erdgeschoss des
Birogeblindekomplexes (Einginge
Amsinckstralie 7lc, 71d), bestchend aus der
LMietfliiche 1% miat ciner Grifle von ca.
55544 m?* (die zur alleinigen Nutzung durch
den Micter vorgeschene Fliche ist in dem als
Anlage 1.1.1 beigefiigten Plan rot umrandet
gekennzeichnet).

Flichen im 5  Obergeschoss  des
Birogeblindekomplexes (Eingiinge
Amsinckstrabe 71, 71b, 7le, 71d), bestchend
aus der , Mietfliche 2 mit einer Grdle von ca.
2.777,90 m? {dic zur alleinigen Nutzung durch
den Misler vorgeschene Fliche ist in dem als
Anlage 1.1.2 beigefiigten Plan orange
gekennzeichnet).

Flichen im 6 Obergeschoss  des
Biirogebiudekomplexes {Eingiinge
Amsinckstralie 71, 71b, Tle, T1d), bestechend
aus der , Mietfliche 3 mit einer Grole von ca.
1.647,06 m?* (die zur alleinigen Nutzung durch
den Mieter vorgesehene Fliche ist in dem als
Anlage 1.1.3  beigefiglen Plan  orange
gekennzeichnet).

Flichen im 6 Obergeschoss  des
Biirogebiudckomplexes {Eingiinge
Amsinckstralie 71b, 7lc, T71d), bestehend aus
der _ MietllGiche 4 mit ciner Grife von ca.
559, m* {die zur alleinigen Nutzung durch
den Mieter vorgesehene Fliche ist in dem als
Anlage 1.1.3 beigefiigten Plan rot umrandet
gekennzeichnet).

LEASE ORIECT

11

1.1.2

1.1.3

The Landlord rents on the Property to the Tenant:

Areas on the ground floor of the office building
complex (entrances at Amsinckstrasse Tle, T1d).
consisting of the "Leased Area 1" with a size of
approx. 555,44 m? (the space intended for sole use
by the Tenant is marked with a red border in the
plan attached as Annex 1.1.1).

Areas on the 5th floor of the office building
complex (entrances at Amsinckstralle 71, 71b,
Tle, 71d), consisting of the "Leased Area 2"
with a size of approx. 2,777.90 m* (the area
intended for sole use by the Tenant is marked

in orange in the plan attached as Annex 1.1.2).

Areas on the 6th floor of the office building
complex (entrances at Amsinckstralle 71, 71b,
Tle, 71d), consisting of the "Leased Area 3"
with a size of approx. 1,647.06 m* (the area
intended for sole use by the Tenant is marked

in orange on the plan attached as Annex 1.1.3).

Areas on the 6th floor of the office building
complex (entrances at Amsincksiralic 71b,
Tle, 71d), consisting of the "Leased Area 4"
with a size of approx. 559.00 m? {the area in-
tended for sole use by the Tenant is marked
with a red border in the plan attached as Annex
LL3)
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L.15

116

LL7

12 Stellplitze fiir KFZ
belegen  im 2. Untergeschoss  des
Birogebiiudekomplexes (Nm. 557-368). in
dem als Anlage 1.1.5 beigefiigten Plan rot

{Testfahrzeuge)

umrandet  gekennzeichnet, zur

Nutzung durch den Mister.

alleinigen

4 Stellplitze fiir KI'Z (Testfahrzeuge) belegen
i Untergeschoss des
Biirogebiiudekomplexes (Nrn. 344-347), in
dem als Anlage 1.1.5 beigefiigten Plan Dblau
markiert  gekennzeichnet,
Nutzung durch den Micter.

im 2,

zur  alleinigen

75 Stellpliitze fir KFZ (PKW) belegen im 2
Untergeschoss  des  DBilirogebiudekomplexes
(Nen, 452-457, 462, 484-5006, 496a, 511-543,
548-356, 369, 570} in dem als Anlage 1.1.5
Plan markiert
gekennzeichnet, zur alleinigen Nutzung durch
den Mieter.

beigefiigten ariin

7 Stellplitze fir KFZ (PKW) belegen im
Aulenbereich der Liegenschaft (Nm. 13-19),
in dem als Anlage 1.1.8 beigefiigten Lageplan
farblich grilnrol markiert gekennzeichnet, zur
alleinigen Nutzung durch den Mieter.

Die vorstehend unter Ziffer 1.1.1 bis 1.1.4
aufgefiibrten  Mietflichen  haben  eine
Gesamtmietfliche  von 553940 m?*
{,;.Gesamtmietiiche™), fiir

Abrechnungszwecke maligeblich ist. und

ca,

welche

werden nachfolgend  gemeinsam mit  den
1.1.5 bis 118

insgesamt  auch

vorstehend unter  Ziffer

aufgefiihrten  Stellplitzen

WMietgegenstand”  genannt,.  In der

Gesamtmictfliche sind anteilige
Gemeinschaftsflichen im Geblinde (MFE/G-2),
d.h. Flichen innerhalb des Gebiudekomplexes,
dic Mictern

gemeinschaftlich werden,

von allen oder mehreren

genutzt van
insgesamt ca. 423,70 m* berlicksichiigt (in den
als Anlagen beigefiigten Plinen farblich grau
gekennzeichnet).

1.1.5

1.1.6

1.1.7

1.1.8

12 parking spaces for motor vehicles (lest ve-
hicles) in the 2nd basement of the office build-
ing complex (no. 557-368), marked with a red
border in the plan attached as Annex 1. 1.5, for

the sole use of the Tenant.

4 parking spaces for motor vehicles (test ve-
hicles) i the 2nd basement of the office build-
ing complex (no. 544-547), marked in blue

color in the plan attached as Annex 1.1.5, for

the sole use of the Tenant.

75 parking spaces for motor vehicles (cars) in
the 2nd basement of the office building com-
plex (no, 4532-437, 462, 484-506, 496a, 511-
543, 348-536, 369, 370), marked in green color
in the plan attached as Annex 1.1.5 for the sole
use of the Tenant.

7 parking spaces for motor vehicles (cars) in
the outside arca of the Property (no. 13-19),
marked in green on the site plan attached as

Annex L L8, for the sole use of the Tenant.

The Leased Arcas listed above under Clauses
1.1.1 to 1.1.4 have a total leasable area of ap-
prox. 5,539.40 m* ("Total Rental Space").
which is decisive for sctflement purposes, and
are hereinafter together with the parking
spaces listed above under Clauses 113 o
1.1.8 also referred to collectively as the "Lease
Object. The Total Rental 3pace includes pro-
portionate common areas in the building
(MF/G-2), i.e. arcas within the building com-
plex which are used jointly by all or several
tenants, totaling approx. 423,70 m* (marked in

color gray in the plans attached as Annexes).
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1.4

Dig Gemeinschafis{lichen im
Gebiudekomplex sowie sonstigen Freiflichen,
Hoflliichen Verkehrswege im
AuBenbereich der Liegenschaft nutzt der
Mieter gemeinschaftlich mit den dbrigen

Mietern im Gebiundekomplex.

und

Die Mietflichen des Mietgegenstands sowie
Kfe-Stellplitze
aufgefiihrten Plinen der Anlagen jeweils im

sind in den vorsichend
Einzelnen dargestellt und kenntlich gemacht.
Im Ubrigen gilt hinsichtlich der als Anlagen
beigefiigten Pline Folgendes: Die Pline aus
den  Anlagen Bestandteile  des
Mietvertrages und haben Geltung filr diesen
nur insoweil, als in thnen dic Lage des
Mietgegenstandes im Gebiudekomplex und zu
angrenzenden  Verkehrsflichen
gemeinschalllichen Mietbereichen mit den

sin

den und

fibrigen  Mietern  im  Gebiudekomplex
aufgezeigt ist. Simtliche anderen in den Plinen
aufgefiihrten Details sind unverbindlich und
enthalten keine Beschaffenheitsangaben oder

mgesicherten Eigenschaften.

Die in Ziffer 1.1 bezeichneten Flichen wurden
nach der "Richtlinic zuwr Berechnung der
Mietfliche fir gewerbliche Riume (MF/G),
Stand  01.06.2017"  der Gesellschafi  fiir
immobilismeirtschaftliche Forschung e V. (gif
& 1) berechnet; eine Kuziibersicht ist dicsem
Mietvertrag  als  Anlage 1.4 beigefilpt.
Eventuclle Abweichungen der tatséichlichen
Gribe  von  der  Gesamtmietfliche

unerheblich, soweit diese nicht mehr als 3%

sind

betragen. Eine proportionale Erhdhung oder
Senkung der Miete gemib Ziffer 5 und der
flichenabhingigen Umlagen gemil Ziffer 6
konnen  die i

Flichenabweichung

Parteien erst ab  einer
3%
verlangen, sodann aber flir den gesamten
Betrag der Abweichung {und nicht nur fir die
die 3%  iberschreitet.

Dariiberhinausgehende Anspriiche kénnen die

von mchr als

Abweichung,

[
fad

14

The Tenant uses the common areas in the
building complex as well as other open areas,
vard arcas and traffic routes in the oulside area
of the Property jointly with the other tenants in

the building complex.

The Leased Areas of the Leass Object as well
as the parking spaces are shown in defail and
identified in the plans set forth in the annexes
listed above, In addition, the following applies
with regard to the plans attached as annexes:
The plans from the annexes are part of the
Rental Contract and shall only apply to them
insofar as they show the location of the Lease
Object in the building complex and the adja-
cent tratfic areas and common rental areas with
the other lenanis in the building complex of the
Property. All other details listed i the plans
are non=binding and do not contain any quality

specifications or guaranteed properties.

The areas referred to in Clause 1.1 have been
caleulated in accordance with the "Guideling
for the Calculation of Leasable Space for Com-
mereial Premises (MF/G), as of June 1, 2017"
issued by the Gassllschaft fiir immobilien-
wirtschaffiche Forsclung e V. (gif eJ); a
brief overview is attached to this Rental Con-
tract as Annex 1.4. Any deviations of the ac-
tual size from the Total Rental Space shall be
insignificant insofar as they do not exceed 3%,
The Parties may only demand a proportional
increase of decrease of the rent pursuant to
Clause 3 and of the area-dependent allocations
pursuant to Clause 6 if an area deviation of
more than 3%. In such case, the Partics may
demand an adjustment for the entire amount of
deviation (and not only for the deviation that

exceeds 3%). The Parties may not assert any
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1.5

Parteien im Falle von Flichenabweichungen
nicht geltend machen.

Der Mieter hat den Mietgegenstand eingehend
besichtigt und festgestellt, dass er fir seinen
Mietzweek grundsitzlich geeignet ist. Fiir die
KFZ-Stellplitze gilt, dass der Mister in sigener
Verantwortung fiir cine Kennzeichnung sorgt
und das Risiko einer unerlaubten Drittnutzung
trigt. Die Nutzungsordnung fiir die Kfz-
Stellplitze ist dicsem Verlrag als Anlage 1.5
beigefigt und wird vom Micter beachtet,

Der Gebiudekomplex einschlieBlich  des
Mietgegenstandes  entsprach  ber  seiner
Errichtung in den Jahren 1994 bis 1996 den
seinerzeitigen bautechnischen Anforderungen.
Der Vermieter erklirt, dass nach seinem besten
Wissen der Gebdudekomplex frei von Asbest
wird dem Mieter in

vorbehaltlich

isl. Der Mielgegenstand
Fustand
allgemeinen Alterung zur Verfilgung gestellt.
nicht fa) zwingende gesetzliche
Machrilst-, Ertchtigungs-  oder
Pflichten bestehen und/oder ¢5 Bauteile im
Rahmen des Um- und  Ausbaus  des
Mietgegenstands (vgl. nachstehende Ziffer 1.7)

umgestaltet oder ermneuerl werden undfoder o)

diesem seiner
Soweit

sonstige

sich aus der Baubeschreibung {Anlage 1.7a)
etwas anderes ergibt, hat der Micter keinen
Anspruch darauf, dass der Mietgegenstand
ctwa in der Zwischenzeit oder rukiinftig
wiihrend der Mictzeit cingefiihrien strengeren
oder
Anforderungen, insbesondere im Bereich des
Schall- und Wirmeschutzes, geniigt. Dem
Mieter st bekanni, dass der Mielgegensiand
iber die in Anlage 1.7a definderten und in
Anlage 1.7k dargestellten
Rinmlichkeiten Tiber
Kiihlungseinrichtung verfiigt und es deshalb

verbesserten bautechnischen

grafisch
hinaus keine
jahreszeitlich bedingt zu Innentemperaturen
von iiber 26 Grad Celsins kommen kann.
der

Vorgenannle Umstinde wurden  bei

1.5

further claims in the event of deviations in

area.

The Tenant has nspecied the Lease Objeet in
detail and determined that it is basically suita-
ble for his rental purpose. For the parking
spaces, the Tenant is responsible for ensuring
that they are marked and bears the risk of un-
authorized third-party use. The rules of use for
the parking spaces are attached to this Rental
Contract as Annex 1.5 and will be observed by

the Tenant.

The building complex, including the Lease Ob-
ject, corresponded to the construction require-
ments at the time of its construction in the
years 1994 to 1996. The Landlord declares
that, to the best of his knowledge, the building
complex is free of asbestos. The Lease Object
will be provided to the Tenant in this condition
subject to its general aging. Unless («) there are
mandatory statutory retrofitting/upgrading or
other obligations and/or (b components are re-
designed or renewed as part of the conversion
and expansion of Lease Object (see Clause 1.7
below) and/or (¢} the building description (Ap-
pendix 1.7a) states otherwise, the Tenant shall
not be entitled to claim that the Lease Object
complies with any stricter or improved strue-
tural engineering requirements introduced in
the meantime or in the future during the rental
term, in particular in the area of noise and heat
protection. The Tenant is aware that the Lease
Object besides the rooms defined in Annex
1.7a and shown graphically in Annex 1.7b does
not have cooling facilities and that it is there-
fore possible for internal emperatures lo ex-
ceed 26 degrees Celsius due to the season. The
aforementioned circumstances were taken into
account when calenlating the agreed rent. In-
sofar as this causes heating, this does not con-
stitute a defect of the Lease Object that entitles

the Tenant to warranty or damage claims,
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Bemessung  der  versinbarten  Miete
beriicksichtigt. hierdurch  bedingt
Erwirmungen aufireten, stelll dies keinen
Mangel des Mietgegenstandes dar, der den

Mieter Pl Gewithrleistungs-

Sofermn

oder

Schadensersatzanspriichen berechtigt.

Der Mictgegenstand wird durch den Vermicter
vor Ubergabe ausgebaut. Der Umfang der vom
Vermieter  durchzufilhrenden  Um-  und
Ausbaumalnahmen ergibl sich aus der als
Anlage 1.7a beigefigten Baubeschreibung und
dem als Anlage 1.7b beigefiigten Bauplinen.
Die Baubeschreibung (Anlage 1.7a) und die
Baupline {Anlage 1.7b) wurden im Vorfeld mit
dem Mieter abgestimmt, Anderungswilnsche
des Micters wurden besprochen und — soweit

dariiber
hinausgehende Anderungswiinsche gelten die

vereinbart —  aufgenommen:  fiir

Regelungen in Ziller 30,

Der Vermieter ist fir alle das Grondstiiek und
(Gebiude betreffenden
behdirdlichen Genehmigungserfordernisse

verantwortlich. Behdrdliche Anordoungen und
Auflagen, dic den Mictgegensiand in seiner

gesetzlichen  oder

Bausubstanz sowie den vermieterseitigen Um-
Ausbau  betreflfen  (einschlieBlich
Brandschutz) sind ebenfalls vom Vermister zu
erfiilllen. Er hat diese jeweils selbst und auf
eigene Kosten einzuholen. Der Vermieter ist

und

verpflichtet, bei der Ausfithrung der Um- und

Ausbhaumalnahmen alle gesctzlichen
Bestimmungen und nach den anerkannten
Regeln der Technik einschligigen, technischen
insbesondere die  den
Regeln der Technik

entsprechenden DIN-Nommen sowie VDE- und

Vaorschriften,

anerkannlen

VDI-Mormen, sowic etwaige behdrdliche (auch
gewerbebehdrdliche und
berufsgenossenschaftliche)  Auflagen  zu
erfiillen und etwa bendtigte Genehmigungen,
Bescheinigungen und Priifzeugnisse (2.B. von

Sachverstindigen) in Zusammenhang mit den

1.7

The Lease Object shall be extended by the
Landlord prior to handover, The scope of the
conversion and extension measures to be car-
ried out by the Landlord is set out in the con-
struction description attached as Annex 1.7a
and the construction plans attached as Annex
L7b. The construction description (Annex
1.7a) and the construction plans { Annex 1.7b)
were agreed with the Tenant in advance. Any
change requests of the Tenant were discussed
and — to the extent agreed — incorporated; the
provisions in Clause 30 shall apply to any
Change Requests going beyond this.

The Landlord is responsible for any statutory
or public authority’s requirements conceming
the property and the buildings, Official orders
and requirements that affect the Lease Object
in terms of its structure as well as the Land-
lord's renovation and expansion (including fire
protection) must also be fulfilled by the Land-
lord. The Landlord has to comply with this ob-
ligation at its own risk and at its own expense.
The Landlord is obligated when carrying out
the conversion and expansion measures to
comply with all statutory provisions and, in ac-
cordance with the acknowledged rules of tech-
nology, to comply with the relevant technical
rules, in particular the DIM standards and VDE
and VDI regulations in accordance with the
recognized rules of technology and to meet all
official requirements imposed (also of the
business licensing authorities and of the Ger-
man Employer's Liability Insurance Associa-
tion) and to provide. at its own cosis, any re-

quired permits, certificates and manufacturer’s
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1.8

Un- und AvsbaumaBnahinen auf seine Kosten

selbst berzubringen.

Soweit fiir die Um- und Ausbaumalnahmen
gemil Ziffer 1.7 und'oder den Mietzweck
gemill Ziffer 2 eine Bavgenchmigung oder
sonstige Gffentlich-rechtliche Genehmigungen
Anderung  Brandschutz

teilweiser Mutzungsinderungen

{wa, auforund

efe.)
erforderlich sind oder bestimmie Auflagen fir
die  Fertigstellung  der  Um-  und
Ausbaumalinahmen gemill Ziffer 1.7 und/oder
den Mistzweck gemiiB Ziffer 2 zu erfilllen sind,
wird der Vermicter dicse unverziiglich auf
elgene Kosten und Risiken beantragen bzw.
erfiillen. Der Micter verpflichict sich, soweit
seinerseits  Informationen  dem  Vermicter
hierzu zur Verfligung zu stellen sind, diese dem
Vermieter  aul  dessen  Auflorderung
unverziiglich zur Verfligung zu stellen, z. B.
hinreichend detaillierte Informationen zu den

geplanten Nutzungen bereitznstellen.

Die Baubeschreibung (Anlage 1.7a) und die
Baupline {Anlage 1.7b) sind Bestandteil des
Mietvertrages. Im Falle einer bautechnisch
ader baurechtlich erforderlichen Anderung der
geplanten  Auvsfiileung  ist der  Vermieter
verpilichtet den Mieter unverziiglich zu
Falle
MNutrungsbecintrichticung der Mictsache fiir

den Micter erhilt dicser das Recht, binnen zwel

informieren. Im einer

{2) Wochen nach entsprechender Information
durch den Vermicter eigene Vorschlige zu
unterbreiten, die der bautechnischen bzw.
baurechilichen Erforderlichkeit Genilge tun.
Der Vermieter wird in diesem Fall um die
Beriicksichtigung der Vorschlige des Mieters
bemilht sein.

1.8

certificates (for example from experts) in con-
nection with the conversion and expansion

MEARUTES.

To the extent that a building permit or other
permits under public law for the conversion
and expansion measures pursuant to Clavse 1.7
and/or the purpose of lease pursuant to Clause
2 are required (including changes to fire pro-
tection due to partial changes in use, ete.) or if
cerlain conditions must be met for the comple-
tion of the conversion and expansion measures
in accordance to Clause 1.7 and/or the change
in use pursuant to Clause 2, the Landlord shall
apply for or fulfill these without delay at its
own expensé and risk. The Tenant undertakes,
insofar as information is to be made available
to the Landlord for this purpose, to make the
information available to the Landlord without
delay at the Landlord's request, ¢.g. 1o provide
sufficiently detailed information on  the

planned uses.

The construction description ( Annex 1.7a) and
the construction plans {Annex 1.7b) arc part of
the Rental Contract. In the event of a change in
the planned design required by construction
engineering or building law, the Landlord is
obliged to inform the Tenant immediately. In
the event that the use of the Lease Object is im-
paired for the Tenant, the Tenant shall have the
right to submit its own proposals within two
{(2) weeks after appropriate information by the
Landlord, which satisfy the requirements of
construction engineering or building law. In
this case, the Landlord shall endeavor to take
the Tenant’s suggestions nto aceount.
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22

23

MIETZWECK

Die Vermictung der Mictflichen 1 bis 3 erfolgt
zur  Nutzung als  Biiro-, Servicefliiche,
Logistik, Messung von Lasertechnologie
Arbeitsbereiche
einschlieblich der damit im Zusammenhang
slchenden  sonstigen Die:

Vermietung der Mietfliche 4 erfolgt zur

und elektrooptische

Nutzungen.

Nutzung als Dachterrasse zum Aufenthalt von
Personen. Die Kiz-Stellplitze gemilb Ziffern
1.1.5 bis 1.1.8 werden zur Abstellung von
Personenkraftwagen vermictet,

Eine von dem gemiB Ziffer 2.1 vereinbarten
Mietzweck abweichende Nutzung bedarf der

vorherigen  schrifilichen  Zustimmung  des
Vermieters; der  Vermieter darf  seine
Zustimmung  nur  aus  wichtigem  Grund

verweigermn oder verzigern.

Soweit der Micter beabsichtigh, dic in ZifTer
1.1.5 benannten uwnd in Anlage 115 rol
umrandet gekennzeichneten Stellplitze ganz
oder tellweise zur Nutzung als Kiz-Werkstat
umzuwidmen, so stimmt der Vermieter einer
solchen Umwidmung  hiermit  bereits  7u.
Sollten behdrdliche Genehmigungen filr die
Nutzung der in Ziffer 1.1.5 benannten und in
Anlage 1.1.5 rot umrandet gekennzeichneten
Stellplitze als Kfz-Werkstatt erforderlich sein,
hat der Mieter diese Genehmigungen selbst und
auf eigene Kosten ecinzuholen und dem
Vermieter unaufgefordert vorzulegen. Auf

Fiffern 2.4 sowie 12,1 wird verwiesen.

Der Vermicter ist dafiir verantwortlich, dass dic
gemill Ziffer 2.1 vercinbarte Nulzung des
Mietgegenstands spiitestens ab dem Spitesten
Ubergahetermin der  baurechtlichen
Grenehmigung umfasst ist. Sollten behordliche
Genehmigungen  Hir

von

die  Nutzung  des
Mietgegenstands im Eahmen des versinbarten

Mietzweckes erforderlich sein und auf’ die

2.

2.1

2.2

23

PURPOSE OF LEASE

The Leased Areas 1 to 3 are rented for use as
office and service spaces, logistics, measure-
ment of laser technology and electrooptical
working spaces including any associated
other uses. The Leased Area 4 is for use as a
rool terrace for people o stay. The parking
spaces pursuant to Clauses 1.1.5 to 1.1.8 are

rented out to park passenger cars.

Any use deviating from the purpose of lease
defined in Clause 2.1 shall require Landlord's
prior written consent; Landlord can only delay
or withhold its consent for good reason

(wichtiger Grind).

To the extent that the Tenant intends to reallo-
cale the parking spaces named in Section 1.1.5
and marked with a red border in Annex 1.1.5
in whole or in part for use as a vehicle work-
shop, the Landlord hereby already agrees to
such reallocation. If official permits or approv-
als are required for the use of the parking
spaces named in Section 1.1.5 and marked with
ared border in Annex 1.1.5 as a vehicle work-
shop, the Tenant must obtain thess permits and
approvals himsell and at ils own expense and
present them to the Landlord without being
asked. Reference is made to Clauses 2.4 and
12.1.

The Landlord is responsible that the agreed use
of the Lease Object pursuant to Clause 2.1 is
covered by the building permit at the latest as
of the Latest Handover Date. Should official li-
cences be required for the use of the Lease Ob-
ject within the framework of the stipulated pur-
pose of the lease and result from the Tenant's

person or business operations, the Tenant shall
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Person oder den Geschifisbetrieb des Mieters
suriickzufithren sein, hat der Micter diese
Genehmigungen selbst und aul eigene Kosten
einzuholen.

Der  Mieter  verpflichtet den
Mietgegenstand nur filr gesetzlich, behdrdlich

und vertraglich zuldssige Zwecke zu nutzen

sich,

und insbesondere die fiir das Gewerbe des
Mieters
Umweltschutevorschnfien zu beachien. Dem
Mieter ist es untersagt, im Mietgegenstand
und/oder
rassistischern und/oder religids fanatischem
Inhalt 7u betreiben. Der Betrieh ciner Sckie
oder eines Bordells oder eines dhnlichen,

einschligigen

Geschiifie mit  diskriminierendem

sittlich anstéBigen Gewerbes sind verboten.

24

obtain such licences itself and at its own ex-

pense.

The Tenant undertakes to use the Lease Object
only for legally. officially and contractally
permissible purposes and in particular to ob-
serve the environmental protection regulations
relevant to the Tenant’s business. The Tenant
is prohibited ffom conducting business with
discriminatory and/or racist and/or religiously
fanatical content in the Lease Object. The op-
eration of a sect or a brothel or a similar, 1m-

moral business is prohibited.

Seite 12 von 110




31

tad
et

ad
Ly

ok
=

341

UBERGARE

Der dem Micter den
Mietgegenstand in vertragsgemilem Zustand
frithestens am 1. August 2024 (, Friihester
I:'bergahelermin“) und spitestens am 31
Dezember 2024 [, Spiitester
Ubergabetermin®) zu iibergeben. Im Fall
fiir
verbindliche Anderungswiinsche des Micters
(vgl. Ziffer 3001 und 30.3) verursachten
Verzdgerung im Sinne der Ziffer 30.3 Satz 2
verschicbt sich der Spiteste Ubergabetermin
entsprechend,

Vermicter  hat

einer allein  durch den Vermieter

Der Vermieter ist verpflichtet, dem Mieter

spiitestens  acht  (8) Wochen vor dem
Ubergabemonat einen Vier-Wochen-Korridor,
innerhalb  dessen  die  Ubergabe  des

Mietgegenstands erfolgen wird (wobei der
Vier-Wochen-Korridor
Frithesten Ubergabetermin und dem Spitesten

Ubergabetermin licgen muss) mitzuteilen. Der

zwischen dem

genane Tag der Ubergabe, welcher innerhalb

des  mitgeteilten  Vier-Wochen-Korridors
lisgen muss, ist dem Mister sodann mindestens
vier (4) Wochen der tatsichlichen
Ubergabe schriftlich und verbindlich fir die

Parteien mitzuteilen (,Ubergabetag™),

wor

Erfolgt  eine  der
vorstchender  Ziffer 3.2 micht  oder
vertragsgemil, gilt der Spiteste
Ubergabetermin als Ubergabetag.

Mitteilungen  nach

nicht

Wird der Ubergabetag iiberschritten (d.h.
unterbleibt am Ubergabetag dic Ubergabe des
gosamies Mictgegensiands an den Micter), gilt
Folgendes:

fird der {Thergabetag aus nicht vom Mieter zu
vertretenden Griinden  tberschritten, st der
Vermicter dem Mieter zum Ersatz des diesem
der Ubergabe

Schaden Der

aufgrund verzigerten

entstehenden verpflichtet.

3.

LR

32
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HANDOVER

The Landlord must handover the Lease Object
to the Tenant in the contractually agreed form
at the earliest on August 1, 2024 (“Earliest
Handover Date™) and no later than Decem ber
31, 2024 (“Latest Handover Date™). In the
evenl of a delay caused solely by Tenant's
Change Request(s) that are binding for the
Landlord (ef Clauses 30.1 and 30.3) within
the meaning of Section 30.3 Sentence 2, the
Latest Handover Date will be postponed ac-

cordingly.

The Landlord is obliged to provide the
Tenant with a four-week corridor within which
the handover of the Lease Object will take
place no later than eight (8) weeks before the
handover month (whereby the four-week cor-
ridor must be between the Earliest Handowver
Date and the Latest Handover Date). The exact
day of handover, which must be within the
communicated four-week corridor, must then
be communicated to the Tenant by the Land-
lord in writing and bindingly for the Parties at
least four (4) weeks before the actual handover
(“Handover Day™).

If one of the notifications in accordance with
Section 3.2 above 15 not made or not in accord-
ance with the Contract, the Latest Handover
Date is deemed to be the Handover Day.

If the Handover Date is exceeded (i.e. the com-
plete Lease Object is not handed over to the
Tenant on the Handover Day). the [ollowing

applies:

If the Handover Day is exceeded for reasons
for which the Tenant is not responsible, the
Landlord is obliged to pay compensation to the
Tenant for the damages suffered as a conse-
quence of the delayed Handover, The Tenant's
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Schadensersatzanspruch des Mieters entsteht
nichi, dic  Uberschreitung  des
Ubergahetags allein aufgrund hiherer Gewalt
erfolgt.

sofern

Wird der Ubergabetag aus nicht vom Mieter 7u
vertretenden Griinden um mehr als sechs (6)
Monate iiberschritten. so hat der Micter
zusdtzlich zum Schadensersatzanspruch nach
vorstehender Ziffer 3.4.1 das Recht. von
digsem Mietvertag zuriickzutreten. Wird der
Ritcktritt micht spitestens innerhalb eines
Monats  nach  Ablaul
sechsmonatigen  Frist erkliint, erlischt  das
Riicktrittsrecht.

der  vorsichenden

Licat cin Fall der Uberschreitung  des
Ubergabetages aufgrond von hitherer Gewalt
vor, ist der Micter erst zum Rickintt von
diesem Mietvertrag  berechtigl, wenn der
Ubergabetag um mehr als acht (8) Monate
fiberschritten wird, Wird der Rilcktritt nicht
spiitestens binnen eines Monats nach Ablauf
der vorstehenden achtmonatigen Frist erkliint,
erlischt das Rilektrittsrecht.

Die Parteien sind sich einig, dass in Anbetracht
der umfangreichen Um- und
Ausbaumalnahmen  {vgl.  Ziffer 1.7)

gegebenenfalls auch eine sukzessive Ubergabe
von  Teilbercichen des Mietgegenstandes
crfolgen kann. Die Parteien werden sich
dahingehend nach Baufortschritt und Sinn und
Zweek fiir jede Partei entsprechend abstimmen
und das Ergebnis entsprechender Abstimmung
auf Verlangen einer Partei in einem dem
Schriftformerforderis der §§ 530, 378, 126
BGB

Bestandieil dieses Vertrags machen.

entsprechenden  Machtrag  7um

Die Parteien sind sich ferner einig, dass im
Hinblick auf den Flichenbedarf des Micters (ab
dem  Frithesten Ubergabetermin) sowie in
Anbetracht  einer Um-
AushaumalBnahmen Ziller

i
L7

mit  den

{vel.

342
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claim for damages does not arise if the Hando-
ver Day is ecxceeded solely due to foree

majeure.

If the Handover Day is exceeded by more than
six (6) months for reasons for which the Tenant
is not responsible, the Tenant has the right to
withdraw from this Rental Contract in addition
to the claim for damages in accordance with
Clause 3.4.1 above. I the withdrawal is not de-
clared at the latest within one moenth after the
expiry of the above six-month period, the right
of withdrawal expires,

If the Handover Day is cxceeded due to foree
majeure, the Tenant is only entfitled to with-
draw from this Rental Contract il the Handover
Day is more than eight {8) months is exceeded.
If the withdrawal is not declared at the latest
within one month afier the expiry of the above
eight-onth period, the right of withdrawal ex-
pires,

The Parties agree that, in view of the extensive
conversion and  expansion measures (el
Clause 1.7), if necessary, a gradual handover
of parts of the Lease Object can also take place.
The Parties will coordinate accordingly ac-
cording to the progress of construction and the
purpose and use for the Party and, at the re-
quest of one Party, make the result of the cor-
responding coordination part of this Contract
in an addendum that complies with the written
form requirement of §§ 350, 578, 126 BGB.

The Parties also agree that, with regard to the
Tenant's space requirements (from the Earlicst
Handover Date) and in view of a change of use
permit (cf. Clause 1.8) associated with the con-

version and expansion measures (. Clause
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einhergehenden
Nutzungsinderungsgenchmigung (val. ZilTer
1.8} gegebenenfalls auch allernative Flichen
auf der Liegenschaft in entsprechender Grifle
der Gesamtmietlliche zur temporiiren Nutzung
als Bire in Betracht kommen kinnten
{nachfolgend
Parteien werden sich dahingehend — auch unter
Beriicksichtigung des Baufortschritts der Um-
und Ausbaumalinahmen (vgl. Ziffer 1.7), des
Stands des
Genehmigungsverfahrens  (vgl. Ziller 1.8)
sowie nach Sinn und Zweck fiir jede Partei
entsprechend abstimmen und das Ergebnis

JErsatzmietflichen™).  Die

baurcchilichen

entsprechender Abstimmung auf Verlangen
ciner Partei in cinem dem
Schriftformerfordernds der §8 550, 378, 126
BGB  entsprechenden
Bestandteil dieses Vertrags machen.

Nachtrag ~ zum

Den  Parteien steht ein  beiderseitiges
Sonderkiindigungsrecht fiir diesen Mietvertrag
21, sofem die
Nutzungsinderungsgenchmigung (vgl. Ziffer
1.8) von der zustiindigen Behorde nicht bis
spiitesten neun (9) Monate nach dem Spitesten
Ubergabetermin - vollzugsfihig  erteill  wird
{mSonderkiindigungsrecht™). Der Vermieter
hat den Mieter unverziiglich nach Versagung
bzw. Erteilung der Nutzungsgenehmigung/-
dnderung  schriftlich zu  informieren. Das
Sonderkiindigungsrecht steht einer Partei nicht
7u, wenn der Grund fiir die Nichterteilung der
Nutzungsinderungsgenchmigung
ausschlieflich von ihr zu vertreten ist. Die
Parteien stellen diesberiiglich Klar, dass die
Beantragung der Nutzungsinderung als solche
von keiner Parted zu vertreten ist. Ein elwaig
hestehendes  Sonderkindigungsrecht  der
Parteien erlischt spitestens mit vollzugsfihiger
Erteilung der Nutzungsinderungs genshmigung
fiir den Mictgegenstand. Rechte des Micters
nach Ziffer 3.4.1 bleiben hiervon unberithrt,

1.7), alternative areas on the Property in a cor-
responding size of the Tolal Rental Space
might also be available to the Tenant for lem-
porary use as an office (hereinafter referred to
as “Substitute Rental Areas™. The Parties
will coordinate accordingly — also taking into
account the progress of construction of the
conversion and expansion measures  (cf
Clause 1.7), the status of the building approval
process (cf. Clause 1.8) as well as the purpose
and use for cach Party — and, at the request of
one Party, will make the resull of the comre-
sponding coordination part of this Contract in
an addendum that complies with the written
form requirement of §§ 350, 378, 126 BGB.

The Parties are entitled to a mutual special
right of termination for this Rental Contract if
the change of use permit (ef. Clavse 1.8) is not
issued by the responsible authority in a valid
manner by nine (9) months after the Latest
Handowver Date at the latest (“Special Right of
Termination™). The Landlord must inform the
Tenant in writing immediately after the usage
permil/change has been refused or granted. A
Party is not entitled to the Special Right of Ter-
mination if the reason for not granting the
change of use permit is solely their responsi-
bility. The Partics hercby clarify that no Party
is responsible for the application of the change
in use as such in the aforementioned sense.
Any existing Special Right of Termination of
the Parties expires at the latest when the
change of use permit for the Lease Object is
actually issued by the responsible authority in
a valid manner. Any rights of the Tenant pur-

suant to Clause 3.4.1 shall remain unaffected,
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Der Micter ist berechligt, zwei (2) Wochen vor
dem Ubergabetag Teilflichen des
Mielgegensiands  zu belrelen, um  die

Installation seimes Server-Kithlsystems im
Hauptserverraum der Mietfliche 1 sowie auf
den Stellplitzen Nr. 460 wnd 461 im 2.
Untergeschoss der Licgenschaft verzubereiten
und zu erledigen. Der Mieter ist dabei
verptlichtet, geeignete Vorkehmngen (zB.
Terminabstimmungen/-koordinierungen  mil
dem Vermieter bzw. dessen beaufiragten
Dienstleistern, Unterweisung von Milarbeitern
Mieters  bzpl.
treffen,  um

Beeintrichtigungen der fortdavernden Um-

und  Dienstleistern  des
Verkchrssicherheit) 7
und Ausbauarbeiten am Mictgegenstand durch
die (vorbereitenden) Installationsarbeiten des
Mieters zu verhindern. Die Partsien werden

sich diesbeziiglich einvernchmlich abstimmen.

Bei der Ubergabe der sinzelnen Mietflichen
des Mietgegenstandes ist von den Parteien ein
Protokoll zu fertigen, in dem alle beanstandeten
etkennbaren  Mingel sowie  erkennbare
erforderliche Restarbeiten zu den Um- und
Ausmalinahmen gemill Ziffer 1.7 und die
Anzahl und die Nummemn der iibergebenen
Schliissel bzw. Schlilsselkarten  schnfilich
festgehalten werden (,,I'-.'hcrgahcprntuknll“).
wegen
erkennbaren Mingel oder Restarbeiten, dic im
Ubergabeprotokoll nicht aufsefihrt sind und
die der Mieter aufgrund Fahrlissigkeit nicht
erkannt hat, sind ausgeschlossen, ¢s sei denn,

Spitere  Einwendungen solcher

si¢ entstehen erst oder werden erst nach der
Ubergabe erkennbar. Das Ubergabeprotokoll
ist von beiden Parteien zu unterzeichnen und
auf schriftliches Verlangen ciner Partei in
einem dem Schriftformerfordernis des §8 530,
578, 126 BGB entsprechenden Nachtrag zum

Bestandteil dicses Vertrags zu machen.

Bei Ubergabe vorhandene geringfligige
Mingel, die den Geschiftsbetrich des Mieters

38

ik
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The Tenant is entitled to enter parts of the
Lease Object two {2) weeks before the Hando-
ver Day in order 1o prepare and carry oul the
installation of his server cooling system in the
main server room of the Leased Area 1 as well
as on the parking spaces no. 460 and 461 in the
2nd basement of the Property. The Tenant is
obliged to take appropriate precautions (e.g.
scheduling/coordinating  appointments  with
the Landlord or its commissioned service pro-
viders, instructing the Tenant's employees and
service providers regarding traffic safety) 1o
prevent disruptions to the ongoing conversion
and expansion works in the Lease Object due
to the Tenant s (preparatory) installation work.
The Parties will reach an agreement in this re-

spect.

Upon handover of the individual leased areas
of the Lease Object, the Parties shall draw up a
protocol in which all visible defects com-
plained of as well as any visible necessary re-
maining work on the conversion and exlension
measures pursuant to Clause 1.7 and the quan-
tity and the numbers of the keys or key cards
handed over shall be recorded in wriling
("Handover Protocol"). Subsequent objec-
tions due to such visible defects or residual
waork which are not listed in the Handover Pro-
tocol and which the Tenant did not recognize
due to negligence shall be excluded, unless
they only arise or are visible afier the hando-
ver, The Handover Protocol shall be signed by
both Parties and, al the wrilten request of one
Party, shall be made part of this Rental Con-
tract in an addendum in accordance with the
written form requirement of §§ 350, 578, 126
BGB.

Any immaterial defects evident at the time of
handover shall mnot  constitute  sufficient
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4.1

4.2

4
)

4.4

micht

beeintriichtigen und auch ohne cine mehr als

mehr  als  nur unwesentlich

nur  unwesentliche  Beeintriichtipung  des
Geschiftsbetriches  des  Mieters  behoben
werden kinnen, verzigern die Ubergabe nicht,
Sie sind jedoch dann

WVermieter zu beheben.

unverzilglich vom

MIETBEGINN UND MIETDAUER

Das  Mietverhiilinis  beginnt  filr  den
Mictgegenstand am Tag der tatsiichlichen
Ubergabe des gesamten Mictgegenstandes an
den Mieter und endet nach Ablauf von fiinf (5)
Jahren gerechnet ab dem letztlen Kalendertag
des Monats, in den der Mietbeginn fillt
(nachfolgend | Festlaulzeit™). Die Parleien
werden den Tag der tatsiichlichen Ubergabe
des Mietgegenstandes in einem formgerechten
Nachtrag (§§ 350, 3578, 126 BGB) zum
Mictvertrag festhalten.

Der Micter hat das zweimalige Rechl, die
Verlingerung der Festlaufzeit um jeweils drei
(3) Jahre zu erkliren (jeweils "Option"). Die
Jeweilige Option muss jeweils spitestens zwolf
{12) Monate bevor das Mietverhilinis endet
gegeniiber dem Vermieter schrifilich ausgeiibt
werden; in diesem Fall verlingert sich die
Festlaulzeit des Mictverhilinisses aulomatisch
um (jeweils) drei (3) Jahre,

Nach Ablauf der

der Option{en) gemiB Ziffer 4.2 verlingerten —
Mictverhiltnis

gefls, aufgrund Ausitbung

Festlaufzeit  endet  das
automatisch, ohne dass es eciner Kiindigung

bedarf,

Setzt der Mieter den Gebrauch des
Mietgegenstands nach Ablaul der Mictzeil fort,
so  gilt Mietverhiltnis  nicht  als
stillschweigend verlingert: § 543 BGB findet
keine Anwendung,

das

4.1

42

43

4.4

grounds to delay the handover, provided that
both their existence and any efforts to remedy
them without significantly impairing the Ten-
ant’s business operations. Nevertheless, the
Landlord should remedy any such defects

without undue delay.

COMMENCEMENT OF LEASE AND
LEASE TERM

The tenancy for the Lease Object commences
upon actual delivery of the complete Lease Ob-
ject to the Tenant and ends after five (5) years
have elapsed, calculated from the last calendar
day of the month in which the tenancy com-
mences (hereinafter referred to as "Fixed
Term™). The Parties will record the day of the
actual handover of the Lease Objectin a formal
addendum (§§ 530, 578, 126 BGB) to the
Rental Contract,

The Tenant has twice the right to declare an ex-
tension of Fized Term for three (3) years each
time {(each an "Option"). The respective Op-
tion must be exercised in writing to the Land-
lord no later than twelve (12) months before
the lease ends; in this case, the Fixed Term is
automatically extended by (each) three (3)

years.

After the expiry of the Fixed Term
cable, extended due to the exercise of the Op-

if appli-
tion(s) in accordance with Clause 4.2 - the
Rental Contract ends automatically without the

need for termination.

The tenancy shall not be deemed tacitly ex-
tended if the Tenant continues 1o use the Lease
Object atter expiration of the lease term; § 545
BGB shall not be applicable.

Seite 17 von 110




4.5

5.1

5.2

Lh
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Auf Verlangen einer Partei werden die 4.5

Parteien dic Verlingerung der Festlaufzeit
durch Ausiibung der Option sowie das Ende
der Mietzeit in einem schriftformkonformen
Machtrag zu diesem Mictvertrag festhalten.

MIETE

Die monatliche Miete betrigt anfinglich ab

Migtbeginn:

=

5.

At the request of one of the Parties, the Parties
shall record the extension of the Fixed Term by
exercising the Option and the end of the rental
term in a written addendum to this Eental Con-
tract.

RENT

The monthly rent shall initially from the lease

commencement date amount to:

Grundimiete / Base Rent

Umsatzsteuer / VAT

MNebenkostenvorauszahlung / Prepayment incidental costs (2iffer/ Clavse 6.9.13

Gesamtmonatsmiete (netto) / Total monthly rent (Net)

106.439,50 EUR
21.049.72EUR
127.489,22 EUR

24222 95 EUR

Gesamtmonatsmicte (brutto) / Total Monthly Rent (Gross)

151.712,17 EUR

Die Grundmicte ist pauschaliert und von der
tatsdchlichen Gréle des Mietgegenstands
unabhiingig., soweil nicht die Grdbe des
der
angegebenen Gesamimietfliche um mehr als

drei (3) Prozent abweicht (vgl. Ziffer 1.4).

Mietgegenstands  von vertraglich

Miete

gesetzlich  jeweils

Der Vermieter berechnet auf die
Umsatzsteuer  1n der
geltenden Hihe, zurzeit neunzehn (19) Prozent

(val. Ziffer 8).

Der Vermicter gewiilrt dem Mieter eine
mictfreic Zeit von sechs (6) Monaten ab
Mictbeginn {Ziffer 4.1). Fir dic Berechnung
der mietfreien Zeit gilt § 188 Abs, 2 Safz 1
BGE entsprechendl, Die Mietbefreiung gilt
nichi die
Mebenkostenvorauszahlungen. Diese sind auch

fiir Nebenkosten  und  die
withrend des mietfreien Zeiraums fir den
Mietgegenstand zu zahlen.

Dic

Gesamtmonatsmicte (brutto) ist zeitanteilig #u

erste vom Micter zu  zahlende

zahlen, sollle der Mietbeginn nicht auf einen

Monatsersten fallen. Sollle cine sukzessive

52

L
fak

54

535

The Base Rent constitules a lump sum and
does not depend on the actual size of the Lease
Object, unless the size of the Lease Object de-
viates from the contractually specified Total
Rental Space by more than three (3) percent
(cf. Clause 1.4),

Landlord charges VAT on the rent at the appli-
cable statutory rate, ie. currently ninctecen

(19) percent (cf. Clause 8),

The Landlord grants the Tenant a rent-free pe-
riod of six (6) months from the start of the
rental period (Clausc 4.1). § 138 (2) sentence 1
BGB applies accordingly to the calculation of
the rent-free period. The exemption from rent
does not apply to the ancillary costs and the ad-
vance payments for ancillary costs. These are
also to be paid during the rent-free period for
the Lease Object.

The first Total Monthly Rent (Gross) to be paid
by the Tenant shall be paid pro rata temporis if
the commencement of the rental period does
not fall on the first day of a month. If partial
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6.2

=
fai

Ubergabe  von Teilbereichen des
Mictgegenstandes erfolgen (vgl. Zifer 3.5), so
sind sich die Parteien einig, dass der Micter die
monatliche Miete anteilig fiir die jeweilige
Mietfliche zu zahlen hat. Sowohl Grundmiets

als auch Mebenkostenvorauszahlung bemisst

sich nach der tatsichlich

Mietfliche.

fibergcbenden

BETRIEBS- UND NEBENKOSTEN

Zusitzlich zur Zahlung der Miete trdgt der
Mieter die Betrichskosten gemill Verordnung
iber dic Aufsicllung von Belrichskosien
{Betriebskostenverordnung — BetrKV) in der
jewsils gellenden Fassung. Die akluell giiltige
Fassung ist diesem Vertrag als Anlage 6.1
beigeligt.

Der Mieter triigt neben den Betrigbskosten
gemiill Ziffer 6.1 die anteiligen Kosten der
kaufminnischen
Objektverwaltung, (z.B. folgende Leistungen:
Controlling;
Durchfiithrung von Mietfliicheniibergaben und -

und  der  technischen

und

Personalfiihrung

riicknahmen:, Kontrolle des Gebiuderustands

und  der  technischen  Funktionsn  (mit
Ausnahme  von Tach und Fach);
MNebenkostenmanagement  (Erstellung  von

Budgets, Wirtschaftsplinen, Controlling). Der
Micter beteiligt sich an den vorgenannicn
Kaosten  der
pauschal drei (3) Prozent der vom Micter

tatsiichlichen

Immaobilienverwaltung  mit
Jeweils Fall zahlenden
JTahresgrundmiete. Soweit in diesem Vertrag
weitere  Nebenkostentragungspflichten  des
Mieters vorgesehen sind, hat der Mieter auch
diese weiteren Nebenkosten zu tragen.

Der Mieter tréigt anteilig folgende Kosten,
sofern  diese wihrend der Laufreit des
Mietverlrages  [ir
tatsfichlich
Leistungen betroffen sind, die ausschlieBlich

den  Mielgegenstand

anfallen und  soweit nicht

6.2

&
[®)

areas of the Leass Object are handsd over
gradually (sce Clause 3.5). the Parlies agrec
that the Tenanl must pay the monthly rent pro
rata for the respective leased area. Both the
Base Fent and the advance payment for oper-
ating costs are based on the rental space actu-
ally handed over.

OFPERATING AND ANCILLARY COSTS

In addition to paving the rent, the Tenant shall
bear the operating costs in accordance with the
(German Ordinance on the Statement of Oper-
ating Costs (Befriehskostenverardnung — Be-
i 1) as amended from time to time, The cur-
rently valid version is attached to this Rental

Contract as Annex 6.1

In addition to the operating costs pursuant to
Clause 6.1, the Tenant shall bear the pro rata
costs of commercial and technical property
management (e.g. the following services: Per-
sonnel management and controlling; execution
of rental space transfers and redemptions; con-
trol of the building condition and technical
functions (with the exception of roof and
shed); ancillary cost management {preparation
of budgets, economic plans, controlling). The
Tenant contributes to the aforementioned prop-
crty management costs with a flat rate of
three (3) percent of the annual Base Rent to
be paid by the tenant. Insofar as further ancil-
lary cost obligations of the Tenant are provided
in this Rental Contract, the Tenant shall also
bear these additional ancillary costs.

The Tenant shall bear the following costs on a
pro rata basis, insofar as they are actually in-
curred for the Lease Object during the term of
the Rental Contract and insofar as services are

not affected that relate exclusively to other
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andere, von der Blironutzung durch den Mister
abgrenzbare Nutzungseinheiten betreffen:

Die Kosten des Betrigbs, der Pllege, der
Remigung, der Wartung, der allgemeinen
Instandhaltung ({inkl. Schénheitsreparaturen)
S0Wie der Instandsetzung der
gemeinschaftlichen Flichen, Anlagen,
technischen und  sonstigen Einrichtungen
konkreter

Spezilizierung , Allgemeinfliichen® genannt)

(nachfolgend mangels

wie folgt:

+ Die Kosten der Reinigung (inklusive
Glasreinigung)  der  Allgemeintlichen
sowie der Abfallbeseitigung auf den
Allgemeinflichen;

+ die Kosten der Aullenreinigung der
Fassade (einschlicBlich aller Glas- sowie
Metallelemente) und auben liegender Glas-
sowie Vordicher und eines ebwaigen,
auben liegenden Sonnenschutzes:

o dic Kosten der Wartung, allgemeinen
Instandhaltung und Instandsetzung von
allen Oberflichen, =B. Bodenbeligen,
Glaselementen, abgehingten Decken etc.
der Allgemeinflichen;

+ die Kosten fiir den Betrieb, die Wartung,
die  allgemeine Instandhaltung  und
Instandsetzung  der Klima-, Be- und
Entliiflungsanlagen (cinschlicBlich aller
Bestandteile und Zubehdrstitcke) und aller
sonstigen, zentralen oder der

Allgemeinheit dienenden, technischen

Anlagen, wie z. B. der Gebdudeleittechnik,

der Sprech- und Lautsprecheranlagen. der

Aufriige und sonstigen Férdermittel, der

technischen Uberwachungssysteme, der

Notstromversorgungstechnik, der
Breitband-Kabeltechnilk, der
Informationstechnik;

units of use that can be demarcatexd from the

Tenant's office use:

The costs of operation, upkeep, cleaning, ser-
vicing, general maintenance {including deco-
rative repairs) and repair of the common-use
areas, Tacilities, technical and other installa-
tions (hercinafter "Common Areas" duc to

lack of specification) as follows:

¢+ The costs of cleaning {including glass
cleaning) of the Common Areas and of

waste disposal on the Common Areas,

+  the costs of external clsaning of the fagade
{including all glass and metal clements)
and external glass and projecting roofs and

any external sun protection:

+  the costs of servicing, gencral maintenance
and repair of all surfaces, e.g. floor cover-
ings, plass clements, suspended ceilings,

etc, of the Common Areas:

+ the costs of operation, servicing, general
maintenance and repair of air conditioning,
ventilation and air extraction systems {in-
cluding all components and accessorics)
and all other technical facilities that are
central or serve the gencral public, such as
building control technelogy, intercom and
loudspeaker systems, lifis and other means
of transport, technical monitoring systems,
emergency power supply technology,
broadband cable technology. information
technology;
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die Kosten fir die regelmibige
Uberpriifung, Wartung und die allgemeine
Instandhaltung und gef. die
ErsatzbeschafTung der Feuerlischer;

dic Kosten fiir den Betrieb, die
regelmiBigen Prifungen, die Wartung, die
allgemeine  Instandhaltung  und  dic
Instandsetzung  der  brand-  und
sicherheitstechnischen
dazu zihlen z. B. die Blitzschutzanlage,

Einrichtungen,

Stomungs- und Brandmeldeanlagen mit
MNebeneinrichtungen, die Sprinkleranlage,
die Rauch- und Wirmeabzugsanlage, die

Hydranten, Einbruchmelder, ELA-
Anlagen, Fenerléschtechnik,
Uberwachungskameras inklusive

Aufreichnungstechnik und Notrufanlagen
und aller mechanischen bzw.
automatischen Elemente wie Tiren, Tore,
Schranken, Brandschutztiiren,

die Kosten fiir den Betrieb, <die Reinigung,
die Wartung, die
Instandhalung und Instandsetzung  der
allgemein zuginglichen Sanitiranlagen

allgemeine

inklusive der zugehdrenden., gesamien
Sanitirtechnik:

die Kosten Lir Beleuchiumgsmittel der
Allgemeinflichen;

die Kosten der Versorgung der
Allgemeintlichen, Anlagen und
Einrichtungen mit Wasser, Strom, Wirme,
Kilte, (Gas cle. cinschlicflich
Wasserautbersitung (inklusive Feit- und
Olabscheider), Kanalgebiihren und der
Kosten der Verbrauchserfassung;

die Kosten fir  gemeinschafiliche
Dekorationen, z B. Pflanzen und
Wasserflichen  der  Allgemeinflichen
(deren Wartung, allgemeine

Instandhaltung und Instandselzung sowic
etwa anfallende Betrichskosten, wie Strom,
Wasser etc.);

the costs of regular inspection, servicing
and general maintenance and, if necessary,

replacement of the fire extinguishers:

the costs of operation, regular inspections,
servicing, general maintenance and repair
of the technical installations in terms of
fire precaution and safety, including e.g.
the lightning protection system, the mal-
function and fire detection systems with
ancillary installations, the sprinkler sys-
tem, the smoke and heal outlet system, the
hydrants, intrusion detection systems, PA
systems, fire extinguishing technology,
surveillance cameras including recording
technology and emergency message sys-
tems and all mechanical and automatic ¢l-
ements such as doors, gates, barriers, fire

doors;

the costs of operation, cleaning, servicing,
gencral maintenance and repair of all pub-
liely accessible sanitary facilities including
the associated entire sanitary technology;

the lighting costs of the Common Areas;

the costs of supplying the Common Areas,
facilitics and installations with water, clec-
tricity, heat, air-conditioning, gas, etc. in-
cluding water treatment {including fat and
oil separators), canal fees, costs of meter-
ing consumption;

the costs of communal decorations, e.g.
plants and water areas in the Common Ar-
cas (their servicing, gencral maintenance
and repair and any incurred operating

cosls, such as electricity, waler, ele.);
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6.4

6.5

« die Kosten eines allgemeinen

Sanitiraumes  (Reinigung,  allgemeine
Instandhaltung
AnschalTung

Pritfungskosten);

und  Instandsetzung,

von  Verbandsmaterial,
« die Wartung, allgemeine Instandhaltung
Be-
Ausschilderung, der Informationsstinde

und Instandsetzung  der und

und der Beflaggung sowie (bei den

Informationsstinden) dis Personalkosten.

Die Belastung des Mieters mit Kosten filr die
allgemeine Instandhaltung und Instandsetrung
{einschhefhch

Ersatzbeschaffungen) von Allgemeinflichen,

Reparaturen,

von gemeinschaftlichen Anlagen sowic von
technischen und sonstigen Einrichtungen wird
Jihrlich aul sieben (7) Prozent der vom Mieter
tatsiichlichen

jewsils  zu zahlenden

JTahresgrundmiete (zzgl. USt) beschriinkt.

Der Micter wird nicht mit Kosten der Wartung,
der Uberpriifing, der allgemeinen
Instandhaltung und Instandsetzung von Dach
und Fach belastet, sofern Bauteile,
Anlagen und Emrichtungen von Dach und Fach

auch

vorstchend erfasst worden sein sollien. Im
Sinne dieses Mietvertrages gehdren folgende
Bauteile, Anlagen und Einrichtungen zu . Dach
und Fach™ Die gesamte Dachkonstruktion
ncbst inkl.  der
Dacheindeckung Schomsteine,

Klempnerarbeiten  und
unl

cinschlicblich etwaiger Vor- und Nebendiicher
sowie Glasdicher und Zu- und Abginge des
Daches; die gesamte, tragende Konstruktion

des  Gebiiudes inkl.  der  Griindung
(Fundament); die Geschossdecken; die
Fassadenkonstruktion inkl. etwaiger

Fassadenverkleidung (also insbesondere Stahl-
und Glaskonstruktionen  inkl.
Konstruktion eingesetzter Elemente), sowie
alle in den Winden, Bdden und Decken
Ver-

Entsorgungsleitungen bis zu deren Austritt aus

aller in dic

verlaufenden  Installationen, und

6.4

6.5

+ the costs of a communal sanitary room
{cleaning, general maintenance and repair,
purchase of bandaging material, inspection

cosls):

+ the servicing, general maintenance and re-
pair of signage and labelling, of infor-
mation booths and display of flags and the
personnel costs (for information booths).

The burden on the Tenant in the form of gen-
eral maintenance and repair costs (including
overhaul, replacement) of Common Areas,
communal facilities and technical and other in-
stallations shall be limited annually to seven
(7) percent of the actual annual Base Rent
(plus VAT) to be paid by the Tenant.

The Tenant shall not be burdened with costs of
servicing, inspection, general maintenance and
repair of Roof and Shed (Dach und Fach), even
if components, facilities and installations of
Roof and Shed (Dach und Fach) should have
been covered above. For the purpose of this
Rental Contract, "Roof and Shed (Dach und
Faeh)" shall include the fellowing compo-
nents, facilities and installations: the entire
roof construction including roof cladding and
chimneys, including any porches and side
roofs as well as glass roofs and conncctions
and outflows fiom the roof, the entire load-
bearing construction of the building including
substructure (foundation); the floor ceilings;
the fagade construction including any fagade
cladding (that is, in particular, steel and glass
constructions including all elements inserted in
the construction). as well as all installations,
supply and disposal lings mnning in the walls,
floors and comers up to their exit from the

wall, floor or ceiling into the Leass Object and
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6.6

der Wand, dem Boden oder der Decke in den
Mictgegenstand die
gebiudeabschlicbenden  Teile, Aubenlenster
und Auflenfensterrahmen sowie sonstige in die
Fassade eingelassene Glastlichen (die auch als
Bestandteil der Fassade gelten); nicht zu  Dach

und

und Fach® gehéren die in der Fassade
elngesetzten
Einrichtungen, dic beweglich sind und dem

Bauteile, Anlagen  und
Betreten oder der Anlieferung dienen, also
Fenster, Tiren, Tore, auch Rolltore, jeweils
inkl. unbeweglicher Bauteile zur Verbindung
Gebinde (= B.

Junbeweglichen™

mit dem den

Rahmen wvon  Fenstemn,
Tiiren. Toren und Rolltoren sowie dem

Jrehiuse™ von Dirchtiiren).
Der Vermieter st berechtipt,
Bewirtschaftungslsistungen, deren Kosten auf
den Mieter umgelegl werden, zur Forderung
der MNachhaltigen

Bewirtschaftung

Nutzung und

der Liegenschaft baw.

Mietgegenstandes  in eimer  anderen,
dkologischeren Aut erbringen zu lassen als
Skonomisch
erforderlich, wobel dic Kosten fiir dic jeweilige
dkologischere Auslithrungsart lediglich liinl
(5) Prozent iber dem glinstigsten nicht-
dkologischen  Angebot licgen  diirfen; das
Wirtschaftlichkeitsgebot  findet

technisch  und zwingend

allgemeine
daher nur insoweit Anwendung, als dass aus
mehreren, gleich geeigneten und unter dem
Gesichtspunkt der Machhaltigen Nutzung und
Bewirtschaftung gleichwertigen

AusfUhrungsarten, der  wirtschafilicheren
Ausfithrungsarl der Vorzug zu geben ist. wobei
die Belastung des Mieters mit etwaigen durch
die Nachhaltige Nutzung und Bewirlschaflung
veranlassten Mehrkosten jihrlich auf drei (3)
Prozent der vom Micter jeweils zu zahlenden

tatsichlichen Jahresgrundmiete (zzgl. USt)
beschrinkt ist.

6.6

the parts enclosing the building, exterior win-
dows and exterior window frames as well as
other glass surfaces embedded in the [agade
{(which are also considered part of the fagade);
"Roof and Shed ( Dech wnd Fackh)" shall not m-
clude the components, facilities and installa-
tions inserted into the facade that are movable
or serve access or delivery, that is. windows,
doors, gates, also rolling gates, in cach case in-
cluding immovable components for connec-
tion to the building {(e.z. the "immovable"
frames of windows, doors, gates and rolling

gates and the "casing" of revolving doors).

The Landlord is entitled to have management
services, the costs of which are passed on to the
Tenant, to promote the Sustainable Use and

Management of the Property or the Lease Ob-

ject in a different, more ecological way than

technically and economically absolutely nec-
essary, with the costs for the respective more
ecological type of execution may only be five
{5) percent above the cheapest non-ccological
offer; the general principle of cost-elfective-
ness therefore only applies to the extent that
preference is Lo be given Lo the more economi-
cal type of design from among several types of
design that are equally suitable and of equal
value from the peint of view of Sustainable
Use and Management, whereby the Tenant’s
burden of any additional costs caused by Sus-
tainable Use and Management is limited to
three {3) percent of the aclual annual Base

Rent (plus VAT) to be paid by the Tenant.

Seite 23 von 110




6.7

Fir die gesamte Licgenschaft gibt s eine 6.7

zentrale Heizungsanlage (Fernwirme). Durch
auch  die
Mietgegenstand  versorgt. Die Kosten des
Betrichs  der
Warmwasserversorgungsanlage  werden  zu

diese  werden Riume 1im

zentralen  Hetzungs-  und
0% nach dem erfassten Verbrauch und zu
30% im Verhilinis der Gesamtmietfliiche zu
den Mietflichen der Liegenschaft umgelegt.
Diz weilleren Betriebs- und Nebenkosten, die
von einem erfassten Verbrauch oder einer
erfassten  Verumsachung  durch die  Mieter
abhiingen, sind ausschlieblich nach einem
Malstab
unterschiedlichen

umzulegen, der dem
Vetbrauch  oder  der
unterschicdlichen Verursachung  Rechnung
triigt. Die weiteren Betricbs- und Nebenkosten
werden dabei im Zweifel im Verhdltnis der
Gesamtmictfliche wu den Mietlichen der
Liegenschaft auf den Mieter umgelegt, sofern
dicser die Kosten nicht direkt begleicht oder

elgene Zihlereinrichtungen Zur
Verbrauchsmessung vorhanden sind. Bei der
Umlage  der  DBetriehskosten  werden
nutzungsbedingte Zuschlige stets

nutzergerechl  innerhalb der Gesamtanlage
verrechnet/umgelegt. Tm Ubrigen entscheidet
der Vermieter nach billigem Ermessen (vgl. §
315 BGB) unter Wahrung des Grundsatzes der
(Gleichbehandlung  der Mieter und unter
Beachtung

Varschriften,

zwingender pesetzlicher
inshesondere unter
Beriicksichtigung  des  Verhiltnisses  der
Gesamtmietfliche wu den Mietflichen der
Licgenschafl, nach welchem Malstab die
Betricbskosten auf die Mister der Liegenschatt
zu verleilen sind. Der Vermieter kann durch
Erklirung in Textform bestimmen, dass die
Betrichskosten zukiinftiz abweichend von der
getroffenen Vereinbarung ganz oder teilweise
nach cinem Malstab umgelegt werden diirfen,
der dem erfassten unterschiedlichen Verbrauch

There is a central heating system {district heat-
ing) tor the entire property. This also supplies
the rooms in the Lease Object. The costs of the
operation of the central heating and hot water
supply system shall be allocated 70% accord-
ing to the recorded consumption and 30% in
proportion of the Total Rental Space to the
rental areas of the Property. The other operat-
ing and ancillary costs, which depend on a rec-
orded consumption or a recorded cause by the
tenants, are to be allocated exclusively accord-
ing o a scale that takes into account the differ-
ent consumption or the different cause. In case
of doubt, the other operating and ancillary
costs shall be apportioned to the Tenant in pro-
portion to the total rental arca of the Property,
unless the Tenant pays the costs directly or has
its own metering equipment for measuring
consumplion. When allocating the operating
costs, usage-related surcharges shall always be
charged’allocated on a user-related basis
within the overall facility. In all other respects,
the Landlord shall decide at his reasonable dis-
eretion (cf. § 315 BGB), in compliance with
the principle of equal freatment of tenants and
in compliance with mandatory statutory provi-
sions, in particular taking into account the ratio
of the Total Rental Space to the rental arcas of
the Property, according to which scale the op-
erating costs are to be allocated to the tenants
of the Property. The Landlord may determine
by declaration in text form that the operating
costs may be allocated in the future, in devia-
tion from the agreement made, in whole or in
parl according (o a scale that takes into account
the recorded different consumption or the rec-
orded different causation (§ 556a (2) BGB).
The declaration must be made before the start
of a billing period.
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6.8

oder  der  etfassten  unterschiedlichen
Verursachung Rechnung triigh (§ 356a Abs. 2
BGB). Die Erklirung muss vor Beginn eines

Abrechnungszeitraumes abgegeben werden,

Die Parteien werden sich bemiihen, cinander 6.8

folgende Informationen, Unferlagen und
Dokumente (,Daten”) zur Verfiigung zu
stellen, die im Zusammenhang mit der
Nachhaltigen Nutzung und Bewirtschaftung
des Mictgegenstandes sichen

{,Nachhaltigkeitsinformationen®):

+ Daten des Energie- und Wasserverbrauchs;

«  Daten des Abfallavfkommens;

+  Daten, die fir die Ermittlung der CO2-
Bilanz des Mictgegenstandes erforderlich
sind (beispielsweise alle Informationen,
die durch die jeweiligen Energiclicferanten

zur Verfligung pestellt werden).

Hierzu werden sich beide Parteien bemiihen,
cinander regelmibig die
Nachhaltigkeitsinformationen, die mit
vorhandenen Messeinrichtungen erhoben oder
ohne weitere Messeinrichtungen ermittelt
werden kdnnen, in geeigneter Form (soweit
vorhanden elekironisch) und in angemessener
Frist nach Aufforderung der jeweils anderen
Partei zu iibermitteln. Der Vermieter wird diese
Daten in der Regel einmal jihrlich beim Mieter
abfragen, sofern er sie nicht selbst im Rahmen
Bewirtschaftung des
Gebiudekomplexes crmittelt.

der {iblichen

Dig Parteien werden sich im Zusammenhang
mit diesem Datenaustausch bestméglich um die
Wahrung der Interessen der jeweils anderen
Partei bemithen und sind verpflichtet, die
Erfiillung  der  jewells
gesetzlichen Anforderungen an Datenschutz,

Datensicherheit und  lauteren  Wettbewerb

anwendbaren

sicherzustellen. Sollte rukiinflig seitens einer
Partei der
Machhaltigkeitsinformationen

Austausch weiterer

sewiinschl

The Partics shall endeavor to provide each
other with the following information, records
and documents ("Idata") related to the Sustain-
able Use and Management of the Lease Object
("Sustainability Information"):

e Data of energy and water consumption;

+  Data of waste generation:

+  Data necessary for determining the carbon
footprint of the Lease Object (for example,
all information provided by the respective

energy supplicrs),

Forthis purpose, both Parties shall endeavor to
regularly provide cach other with the Sustain-
ability Information that can be collected with
cxisting measuring devices or determined
without further measuring devices in a suitable
forin (electronically, if available) and within a
reasonable period of time upon request of the
respective other Party. As a rule, the Landlord
shall request this Data from the Tenant once a
vear, unless it determines it itself as part of the

normal management of the building complex.

In connection with this data exchange, the Par-
ties shall use their best efforts to protect the in-
terests of the other Party and shall ensure com-
pliance with the applicable legal requirements
for data protection, data sccurity and fair com-
petition. Should the exchange of further Sus-
tainability Information be desired by one of the
Parties in the future, the Parties shall coordi-
nate their efforts in this regard.
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6.9

6.9.1

5.9.2

6.9.3

werden, werden sich die Parteien hierliber

abstimmen.

Fir die Nebenkostenabrechnung gellen die
folgenden Bestimmungen:

Fir die wvorstchenden Betriebs- und
MNebenkosten  zahlt  der  Micter  cine
angemessene monatliche Vorauszahlung,
Als angemessene Vorauszahlung zahll der
Mieter monatlich 3,80 EUR/m? (zzgl. USt.)

ausgehend von der Gesamtmietfliche.

Der Vermieter ist berechtigt, nach billigem
Ermmessen  gemdB § 315 BGBE  cine
Anpassung der monatlichen
Vorauszahlungen auf die Betriebs- und
Nebenkosten  vorsunchmen  sowie  die
Abrechnungsart und den Umlageschliissel
fur alle oder ¢inzelne Betriebs- und
MNebenkosten neu festzusetzen, soweit dies
dem erfassten unterschiedlichen Gebrauch
oder  der erfassten  unter-schiedlichen
Verursachung  Rechnung  trigt.  Die
gelinderte Vorauszahlung ist in diesem Fall
ab dem auf den Zugang der Anpassungs-
bzw.  Anderungsmitleilung  folgenden

Monat zu leisten,

Die  Abrechnung der vom Vermieler
verauslagten DBetriebs- und Nebenkosten
erfolgt jihrlich bis 30.09. cines Jahres fiir
den Joweils VOIAUS gegangenen
Abrechnungszeitraum.

Abrechnungszeitraum ist der 1.10. eines
Jahres bis 3009 des Folggjahres. Mit
Ablauf von drei (3) Monaten nach Zugang
der Abrechnung sind Einwendungen gegen
deren Richtigheit ausgeschlossen, o8 sel
denn den Mieter trifft kein Verschulden,
Der Vermicter wird den Mieter mit der
Abrechnung auf die Ausschlussirist und die
Folgen seines Schweigens hinweisen, Etwa
sich aus der jihrlichen Abrechnung

6.9

6.9.1

5.9.2

693

The following provisions apply to the invoic-

ing of ancillary costs:

Tenant shall render an appropriate monthly
advance payment for the aforementioned
operating and ancillary costs. As an appro-
priate advance payment, the Tenant shall
pay the amount of 3.80 EUR/m*® (plus
VAT) per month, based on the Total Rental
Space.

The Landlord shall be entitled to adjust the
monthly advance payments for the operat-
ing and ancillary costs at its reasonable dis-
cretion in accordance with § 315 BGB and
lo re-determine the type of settlement and
the allocation key for all or individual oper-
ating and ancillary costs, insofar as this
takes into account the recorded different
use or the recorded different causation. In
this case, the amended advance payment
shall be made as of the month following re-
ceipt of the notice of adjustment or amend-
ment,

The operating and ancillary costs incurred
by the Landlord are billed annually by Sep-
tember 30 of cach year for the previous bill-
ing period. The billing period is October 1
of a vear to September 30 of the following
year. Objections to the accuracy of the
statement are excluded three (3) months af-
ter receipt of the statement, unless the Ten-
ant is not at fault. The Landlord will inform
the Tenant of the cut-off period and the con-
sequences of his silence with the settle-
ment. Claims / reimbursement amounts re-
sulting from the annual statement are due
thirty (30 days after receipt of the state-

ment.
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6.9.4

6.9.5

6.9.6

5.9.7

i

ergebende
Erstattungsbetrige

Forderungen
werden dreiliig (30)
Tage nach Zugang der Abrechnung fillig.

Der Vermieter ist berechtigt, fehlerhafie
Abrechnungen  im  Nachhinein  zu
korrigieren. Berechtigten Belangen des
Micters ist hierbei, wo dies nach Treu und
Glauben geboten erscheint, durch die
Einrdumung angemessener Zahlungsfristen

Rechnung zu tragen.

Der  Vermieter ist  berechtigt, den
Abrechnungszeitraum, auch flir einzelne

durch
gegenliber  dem

Kostenpositionen, einseitige
Erklirung Mieter
umzustellen und im Falle der VeriuPerung
des Grundstiicks auch Teilabrechnungen

vorzunchmen.

Werden Offentliche  Abgaben  und/oder

sonstige  Kosten  im Sinne  der
Betrichskostenverordnung  neu  eingefithrt
oder erhéhen sich diese, kénnen diese
Kosten cbenfalls vom Vermicter vom
Zeitpunkt ihrer Entstehung an entsprechend
den in  diesem Vertrag getroffenen
Regelungen zu den Nebenkosten umgelegt
werden, wenn diese Kosten nach Gesetz
ihrer
Zuordnung zur Risikosphire des Mieters
auf diesen im Rahmen der Nebenkosten
Sach-  und

Arbeitsleistungen des Vermicters, durch

oder  aufgrund zweilelsfreien

umgelegt werden kinnen.

welche Nebenkosten erspart werden, dilrfen
mit dem marktiiblichen Betrag angesetzt
werden, der fir eine gleichwerlige Leistung
Diritten,
Unternchmers, angesetzt werden kinnte.

eines inshesondere eines

Endet das Mietverhiiltnis wihrend  des
Abrechnungszeitraums, hat  der Micter
keinen Anspruch aul Abrechnung vor dem
in vorstehender Ziffer 6.9.3 genannten
Zeitpunkt. Wird bel Mieterwechsel eine

65.9.4

6.9.5

6.9.6

5.9.7

Landlord shall be entitled to subsequently
correct erroneous inveices. In this connec-
tion, Tenant's legitimate interests shall be
accommodated where required in good
faith by granting reasonable payment peri-
ads.

Landlord shall be entitled to change the ac-
counting period, alse for individual cost
items, by unilateral declaration towards the
Tenant and also to issue partial invoices in

the cvent of a sale of the Property.

If public charges and/or other costs within
the meaning of the German Ordinance on
the Statement of Operating Costs are newly
introduced or increase, these costs may also
be allocated by Landlord (to the tenants) as
of the date they are incurred, in accordance
with the provisions regarding operating and
ancillary costs agreed under this Rental
Contract, if these costs can be passed on to
the Tenant as ancillary costs by law or due
to their unambiguous allocation to the Ten-
ant's sphere of risk. Performance in kind or
work done by Landlord causing ancillary
costs to be saved may be charged in the
market-standard amount that could have
been charged for an equivalent service by a
third party, particularly by a service pro-

vider.

If the tenancy ends during an accounting
period, the Tenant shall not be entitled to be
issued an invoice before the date specified
above in Clause 6.9.3. If an interim reading
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5.9.8

699

6.10

Zwischenablesung vorgenonumen, trigt der
auszichende Micter dic Kosten. Findet
keine Zwischenablesung statl, sind die
gesamten Kosten zeitanteilig autzuteilen,

Bringt der Biwobetrieb des Misters es mit

sich, dass Verpackungsmaterial oder
anderes  die  Milllgefibe
anflillendes Material in gréBerem Umfang
anfilll so verpllichtel der Mieter sich, die
Kosten fir zusitzliche Millgefiife zu

tragen, die der Vermieter anfordern wird.

besonders

Werden fiir die Abfallbeseitigung getrennte
Behilter zur Verfiigung gestellt, ist der
Micter verpflichtet, diese entsprechend zu
benutzen,
Der Mieter ist verpflichtet, soweit méglich und
aulissig, mit Versorgungstrigem/Lieferanten
Versorgungsvertrige im eigenen MNamen und
auf ecigene Rechnung abzuschlicBen. Dic
Parteien sind sich insofern einig und stellen
klar, dass der Micter dic Versorgung des
Mietgegenstandes mit Strom unmittelbar mit
einem Versorgungstriger abstimmt und bei der
Berechnung der vom Mieter an den Vermieter
zu zahlenden Vorauszahlungen (Ziffer 6.9.1)
keine entsprechenden Kosten beriicksichtigt
wurden.
Dic Betrichs- und Nebenkosten sind  im
Ubrigen ohne Riicksicht darauf zu zahlen, ob
Umfang der Mieter
Anlagen/Dienstleistungen latsichlich benutzt
oder diese tatsichlich zur Verfiigung stehen.

und in  welchem

WERTSICHERUNG
Die Miete wird wie folgt wertgesichert:

Hat sich der vom Statistischen Bundesamt
fiir
Deutschland (VPI) im Dezember eines Tahres

verdffentlichte  Verbraucherpreisindex

gegeniiber dem Stand zum Mietbeginn bazw.

6.9.8

6.9.9

6.10

is carried out in the event of a change of ten-
ants, the tenant moving oul shall bear the
cosls. IT no interim reading is carried out,
the total costs are to be divided pro rafa
temperis.

If Tenant's office operations lead to large
amounts of packing material or other bulky
material that fills up the rubbish containers,
Tenant undertakes to bear the costs for ad-
ditional rubbish containers o be ordered by
Landlord,

If separate containers are provided for rub-
bish remaval, the Tenant shall be obligated

to use them appropriately.

The Tenant shall be obliged, as far as possible
and permissible, o conclude supply contracts
with supply carriers/suppliers in its own name
and for its own account. The Parties agree in
this respect and clarify that the Tenant shall co-
ordinate the supply of clectricity to the Lease
Object directly with a supply carrier and that
no corresponding costs have been taken into
account in the caleulation of the advance pay-
ments to be paid by the Tenant to the Landlord
(Clause 6.9.1).

The operating and ancillary costs arc to be paid
regardless of whether and to what extent the
Tenant actually uses the facilities/services or if

they are actually available.

VALUE PROTECTION
The rent shall be value-indexed as follows:

If the consumer price index for Germany pub-
lished by the Federal Statistical Office (CTI)
has changed in December of a year by more
than five (5) Percent compared to the lovel at
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7.2

der jeweils letzten Mietanpassung nach dieser
Ziffer um mehr als fiinf (5) Prozent veriindert,
30 dndert sich automatisch mit Wirkung zum 1.
Januar des folgenden Jahres die Miete in dem
gleichen prozentualen Verhilinis. Andert sich
in der Folgezeit der Index im Dezember eines
Jahres erncut um mchr als fiinf (5) Prozent
gegenliber dem Stand zum Zeitpunkt der
zuletzt vorgenommenen Anpassung der Micte
nach dieser Ziffer, so dndert sich die Miete
erneut automatisch mit Wirkung zum 1. Januar
des  folgenden Jahres in  dem  gleichen
prozentualen  Verhiltnis. Basis  fiir  die
Beurteilung der Indexverinderung und die
Anpassung  der  Miete  zu
Anpassungsstichtag ist jeweils der Indexstand
letzten

VOrANgegangenen

Jeddem

des  dem  Mietbeginn  baw.
Anpassungsstichtag
Kalendermonats,

Im Falle einer Erhdhung hat der Vermieter, im
Falle ciner FrmiBigung der Mieter die
Anderong unter Vorlage einer Berechnung
mitzuteilen. Eine nicht oder nicht rechizeitige
Mitteilung bedeutet keinen Verzicht auf die
Anpassung. Ein crhdhter Mictbetrag  ist
riickwirkend zu  zahlen: im Falle <iner
Differenzbetrag

rilckwirkend zuriickzuerstatten. Die Parleien

Ermifigung st der

geraten jedoch erst nach Zugang der jeweiligen
Abrechnung sowie erfolgter Mahnung in
Verzug,

Sollte rechtskriiftig festgestellt sein, dass die 7.2

Wertsicherungsklausel gesen das Gesetz fiber
das Verbot der Verwendung von Preisklauseln
bei der Bestimmung von  Geldschulden
(Preisklauselgesetz — PrRIG) verstBt und
damit nach § 8 PrKIG unwirksam ist, so ist die
unwirksame Wertsicherungsklavsel in eine
wirksame Leistungsvorbehaltsklausel
umzudeuten. Auch dann soll

Anderungsmalstab die in Ziffer 7.1 genannte

the beginning of the lease or the respective last
renl adjustment according to this Clause, the
renl shall avlomatically change in the same
percentage ratio with effect as of the 1 January
of the following year. [fthe index subsequently
changes again in December of a year by more
than five (5) Percent compared to the level at
the time of the last adjustment to the rent ac-
cording to this Clause, the rent shall automati-
cally change again in the same percentage ratic
with effect as of the 1 January of the following
year. The basis for the assessment of the
change in the index and the adjustment of the
rent on the adjustment date shall in sach case
be the index level of the calendar month pre-
ceding the commencement of the lease or ad-

Justment date.

In the event of an increase, the Landlord, and
in the event of a reduction, the Tenant shall no-
tify the change by submitting a caleulation.
Failure to notify or failure to notify in due time
shall not constitute a waiver of the adjustment,
An increased amount of rent shall be paid ret-
roactively; in the case of a reduction, the dif-
ference shall be refunded retroactively. How-
ever, the Parties shall enly be in defaull afier
receipt of the respective statement of account

and a reminder has been issued.

Should it be legally established that the value
adjustment clause violates the Act on the Pro-
hibition of the Use of Price Clauses in the De-
termination of Money Debts {Preisklauselge-
seiz — PrillG) and is thus invalid pursuant to §
8 PrKIG, the invalid value adjustment clause
shall be reinterpreted as a valid performance
reservation clause. In this case, too, the change
shall be based on the index change referred to
in Clause 7.1, taking into account considera-

tions of equity.
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1.3

14

82

Indexverinderung — unter Einbezichung von
Billigkeitserwiigungen — sein.

Sollte der hier vereinbarle Verbraucherindex
nicht mehr fortgefihrt werden, so gilt ein dann
giiltiger
verginbart, der mit dem hier verembarten Index

Lebenshaltungskostenindex  als

vergleichbar ist.

Die Partelen gehen gemeinsam davon aus, dass
die vorstehende Vereinbarung wirksam ist.
Sollte sie wider Erwarten unwirksam sein,
verptlichten sich die Parteien, ¢ine Regelung zu
treften, die der Klausel
wirtschaftlich am niichsten kommt.

vorstehenden

UMSATZSTEUER

Die Miete und die Betriebs-/Nebenkosten sind
MNettobetriige. Der Vermieter tibermittelt dem
Micter
Rechnung  im

ecine  formell  ordnungsgemibe

des  § 14

Umsatzsicuergesetz (Ust3), in welchem er die

Sinne

jewsils  peltende Umsatzsteuer  gesonderl

ausweist,

Der Vermicter optiert zur Umsatzsteuer (§ 9

Abs. 2 UStG), Der Mieter versichert, dass er

Unternchmer im Sinne des
Umsatzsteuergesetres ist unsl den
Mietgegenstand vollstindig seinem

Unternchmen  zuordnen wird. Der Micter
den  Mietgegenstand

ausschlieflich wur Ausfithrung von Umsiitzen

verpflichtet  sich,
zu verwenden, die den Vorsteuerabzug nicht
ausschlicBen. solange  die
Finanzbehéirden im Rahmen des § 9 Abs, 2
UStG  beziiglich Begrifts  der

.ausschlicBlichen™ Verwendung fir Umsiitze,

Soweit  und

des

die den Vorsteuerabzug nicht ausschliefen,

eine unschiidliche Bagatellprenze anwenden

(vgl.  Abschnitt 92 Absatz 3 des
Umsatzsteueranwendungserlasses), st durch
diese Bagatellgrenze zugleich der

13

74

82

In the event that the consumer index agreed
herein is no longer continued, a cost of living
index then in effect shall be deemed to have
been agreed which is comparable to the index
agreed herein.

The Parties jointly assume that the above
agreement is effective, If, contrary to expecta-
tions, it should be neffective, the parties un-
dertake to agres on a provision that comes as
close as possible to the above clause in eco-

nomic terms.

VAT

The rent and the operating/ancillary costs are
net amounts, Landlord shall send the Tenant a
formally correct inveice within the meaning of
§ 14 of the German Value Added Tax Act
(Umsalzsteuergeseizi — Ust3), in which the ap-

plicable value added tax is shown separately.

The Landlord opts for VAT (§ 9 (2) USEG).
The Tenant assures that he is an entrepreneur
within the meaning of the German Value
Added Tax Act and that he will completely as-
sign the Lease Object to his company. The
Tenant underlakes to use the Lease Object ex-
clusively for the pumpose of executing sales
andfor services which do notl exclude the de-
duction of input tax. Insofar as and as long as
the tax authorities apply a harmless de minimis
threshold in the context of § 9(2) UStG regard-
ing the concept of "exclusive” use for sales or
services that do not preclude the deduction of
input tax (see § 9.2 paragraph 3 of the VAT
Application
dungseriasses), this de minimis limit shall ap-

Decree, Umsatzsteneranwen-

ply. Atthe same time, the concept of exclusiv-
ity is limited in the preceding provisions,
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8.3

8.4

8.3

AusschlieBlichkeitsbegriff in den vorstehenden

Bestimmungen begrenzt.

Wenn und soweil der Mieter gegen die
vorstehende Verpflichtung verstéift, hat der
Mieter dem Vermieter similiche Schiden und
Machteile zu ersetzen, Darllber hinaus dndert
sich in dicsem Fall der Mictvertrag dergestalt,
dass die vereinbarte Nettomicte um die dann
jeweils giiltige Umsatzsteuer zu erhdhen ist,
mithin die so emechnele Brullomiete als
Der

Vermieter st m diesem Fall mcht mehr zur

pauschaler Mietzins zu zahlen ist.
pesonderten  Ausweisung  der Umsatzsteuer
Sollte Fehlen  der
Optionsvoraussetzungen nachtriiglich
bekannt

berechtigt,

verpilichtet. das
erst
werden, so st der
bisher  ausgestellien
Rechnungen derart zu berichtigen, dass der
bisher vertragliche Brullomielzins  dem
pauschalen monatlichen Mietzins entspricht.

Vermicter

dic:

Erstattungsanspriiche gegeniiber dem

mehr

Umsatzstcuer

Finanzamt  wegen  nicht offen

ausgewicsener stchen
ausschlieflich dem Vermieter zu. Der Mieter

hat insoweit keinen Erstattungsanspruch.

Sofern der Mielgegenstand  durch  Dritte 3.4

genutzt  wird, hafiet der Mieter fiir die
Einhaltung  des
Verwendungszwecks durch den Dritten. Im

steuerlich unbedenklichen

Falle einer vom Vermicter genchmigten

Untervermictung oder sonstigen
Gebrauchsiiberlassung  an Dritte  sind  die
Verpflichtungen aus vorstehender Ziffer 8.2

dem Dritten vom Mieter in Form eines echten

Vertrages  zugunsten  des  Vermielers
aufzuerlegen.

Der Micter wird dem Vermieter auf
jederzeitipes Verlangen unverziiglich

simitliche Unterlagen zur Verfligung stellen,
dic der Vermicter bendtigl,
Nachweispflicht nach § 9@ Abs. 2 UStG

um  seiner

8.3

8.5

If and 1o the extent that the Tenant vielates the
above obligation, the Tenant shall reimburse
the Landlord for all damages and disad-
vantages. In addition, in this case, the lsase
changes in such a way that the agreed net rent
is to be increased by the then applicable value
added tax, and thus the calculated gross rent is
to be paid as a lump-sum rent. The Landlord is
in this case no longer required to separate the
VAT. Should the absence of the option re-
quirements only become known later, the
Landlord is entitled to correct the invoices is-
sued so far in such a way that the previously
agreed gross rent corresponds to the flat rate
monthly rent. Reimbursement claims against
the tax office due to no longer disclosed VAT
are the sole responsibility of the Landlord. The

Tenant has no claim for reimbursement.

If the Lease Object is used by third parties, the
Tenant is liable for compliance with the in-
tended use by the third party, which is to be
fully subject to VAT, comresponding above
Clause 8.2 of this Rental Contract. In the case
of sublease or other transfer of use to third par-
ties approved by the Landlord, the obligations
of Clause 8.2 above shall be imposed on the
third party by the Tenant in the form of a real

contract in favour of the Landlord.

Tenant shall provide Landlord with such doc-
uments at Landlord's request at any time and
without delay that permit Landlord to satisfy
its duty to provide imformation to the tax au-

thorities under § 9 (2) USHG.
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9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

gegenliber den Finanzbehrden

nachzukommen.

ZAHLUNG DER MIETE,
VORAUSZAHLUNG BETRIEBS- UND
NEBENKOSTEN

Die Miete und die Vorauszahlungen auf die
Betriebs- und Nebenkosten sind monatlich im

Voraus zu entrichten und spitestens am

3. Werktag cines Monats tillig;
Nachzahlungen (Forderngen f
Erstattungsbetriige) aus

Mebenkostenabrechnungen jedoch erst dreibig
{30) Tage nach Zugang der Abrechnung, Fiir
dic Rechtzeitigkeit der Zahlung kommt es nicht
auf die Absendung, sondern auf die Guischrift
des geschuldeten Betrages an.

Der Mister hat die Gesamtmietzahlungen auf 9.2

ein vom Vermicter angegebenes Konto zu
zahlen, und zwar so rechtzeitig, dass sic dem
Konte des Vermieters bis zur Filligkeit
gulgeschrichen werden.

Bei
berechtigt. die gesetzlichen Verzugszinsen und
fiir jede schriftliche Mahnung eine Gebithr von
5,00 EUR zu erheben, Dem Mieter steht es fred,

den Nachweis zu erbringen, dass im konkreten

Zahlungsverzug 15t der  Vermieter

Falle mit etwaigen Mahnungen kein oder ein
geringerer  Aufwand als  die  berechnete
Pauschale entstanden ist. Die Gellendmachung
eines weiteren Schadens durch den Vermicter
bleibt vorbehalten.

Befindet sich der Mieter mit der Zahlung der 9.4

Micte in Verzug, ist der Vermicter berechtigt,
Zahlungen nach seiner Wahl zunichst aul die
Kasten und Zinsen des laufenden Jahres und
dann aul die dlleren Rickstinde anzurechnen,
es sel denn der Mieter hat eme anderweitige
Bestimmung getrolfen.

9.1

9.3

PAYMENT OF RENT, ADVANCE PAY-
MENT OPERATING AND ANCILLARY
COSTS

The rent and the advance payments for the op-
eraling and ancillary costs are o be paid
monthly in advance and shall be due no later

than on the 3

working day of a month; subse-
quent payments from ancillary-costs state-
ments, however, only thirty (30) days after re-
celpt of the statement. The punctuality of the
payment does not depend on the dispatch, but

on the crediting of the amount owed.

Tenant shall pay the total rent payments into an
account specified by Landlord and, specifi-
cally, in such a timely manner as to have them
credited to Landlord's account by the maturity
date.

In the case of default in payment, Landlord
shall be entitled to charge the statutory default
interest and a fee of 5.00 EUR for each written
reminder. The Tenant shall be free to provide
verification that in the concrete case with any
reminders no expenditure acerued, or lower ex-
penditure accrued than the calculated lump
sum. Landlord reserves the right o asserl

claims for any additional loss.

If the Tenant is in defanlt in pavment of the
rent, Landlord at his choice shall be entitled
first to sct-ofl’ against the costs and interest of
the current year and then against the older ar-
rears, unless the Tenant has concluded a differ-

ent provision,
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10.1

10.2

10.3

MIETSICHERHEIT

Der Mieter leistet dem Vermicter binnen vier
4y Wochen Abschluss

Mietvertrages Bankbitrgschaft
Absicherung aller Anspriiche des Vermicters

nach dieses

gine Zur
gegen den Mieter aus diesem Mietvertrag in
Héhe wvon sechs (6) Gesamtmonalsmislen
(brutta), mithin 210.273,02 EUR (in Worten:
neunhundertzehntausendeweihundertdreiu
Cent). Dhe

Bankbiirgschaft muss von ciner durch die

ndsiebzig Euro und zwei

Bundesanstalt fiir
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht  (BaFin)  in
Deutschland  zugelassenen  Bank  bew.

Kreditinstitut ausgestellt sein. Der Biirge muss
sich in den Biirgschalisurkunde verpllichlen,
auferstes Anfordemn zu zahlen; der Biirge muss
auf das Recht der Hinterlegung sowie auf die

Emnreden der Anfechtbarkeit und
Aufrechenbarkeit —  auler rechiskriftig
festgestellte oder unbestrittene Forderungen —
verzichten. Die  Bankbiirgschaft  muss

mindestens fir die Daver des Mictverhilinisses
zuziiglich zwdlf (12) Monate ausgestellt sein

und darf fiir diese Zeil nicht kindbar sein.

Dem Mieter ist es auch gestattet, nach seinem
freien Ermessen statt einer Bankbilrgschaft
gemilll Ziffer 10.1 cine Barkaution auf cin vom
Vermieter zu benennendes insolvenzfestes
Kautionskonto in entsprechender Héhe zu
zahlen oder sine Bankbirgschafll mil einer
Barkaution zu verbinden, sofern beide in
der Hohe gemih Ziffer 10.1

entsprechen. Der Vermieter wird die Kaution

Summe

getrennt  von  seinem  sonstigen Vermdgen
halten. Der Mieter kann die gewihrte Form der
Mictsicherheit jederzeit Zug-um-Zug pepen
eine andere nach diesem Vertrag zulissige
Form der Mietsicherheil ersetzen.

Vorsorglich fiir den Fall, dass die Verginbarung
und/oder die Birgschaft gemib Ziffer 10.1

10.

101

10,2

10.3

RENTAL SECURITY DEPOSIT

Within four (4) weeks after the conclusion of
this Rental contract, Tenant shall provide
Landlord with a bank guarantee to secure all
claims of Landlord against Tenant arising from
this Rental Contract in the amount of six (6)
Total Monthly Rents (Gross), e, 910,273.02
EUR (in words: nine hundred ten thousand
two hundred and seventy-three euros and
two cent). The bank guarantes must be issued
by a bank or credit institution approved by the
Authority
{BaFin) in Germany. The guarantor must un-
derlake in the surety deed to pay on first de-
mand; the guarantor must waive the right of

Federal Financial — Supervisory

deposit as well as the defenses of contestability
and set-off — except for legally established or
undisputed claims. The bank guarantee must
be issued for at least the duration of the tenancy
plus twelve (12) months and may not be termi-

nable for this period.

Instead of a bank guarantee in accordance with
Clause 10.1, the Tenant may — at its own free
discretion — make a cash deposit in the same
amount to a deposit account that is safe in case
of an insolvency to be announced by the Land-
lord or to combine a bank guaraniee with a
cash deposit, provided that both total the
amount in accordance with Section 10.1 are
equivalent to. The Landlord shall keep the de-
posit payment separate from his other assets,
The Tenant can replace the provided kind of
rent security at any time against another kind
of rent security that is permitted under this
Rental Contract.

As a precautionary measure in the event that

the agreement and/or the guarantee pursuant to
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10.4

10.5

10.6

Migter

cine andere

unwirksam  sein  sollte, ist  der

veorpllichtet, dem Vermieler
wirksame Biirgschall oder eine vergleichbare
Sicherheit zu  stellen. Ziffer 10.2 bleibt

unberiihit,

Andert sich die monatliche Grundmiete um
mindestens zehn {10) Prozent nach oben oder
nach unten, so ist die Mietsicherheit auf
Verlangen einer Partei im  entsprechenden

Verhiilinis anzupassen.

Die Hoéhe der Mietsicherheit verringert sich
nach Ablauf des ersten Mietjahres auf fiinf (5)
Gesamtmonatsmieten (brutto), nach Ablanf des
Mietjahres auf (4
Gesamtmonatsmicten (brutto) und nach Ablauf
dritten  Mietjahres  auf’  drei  (3)

Gesamimonatsmicten  (brutto), der

zweiten vier
des
sofern
Mieter seinen Zahlungsverpllichtungen nach
diesem Vertrag im jeweils vorangegangenen
Mietjahr schrifilicher

Aufforderung und angemessener Fristsetzung

spitestens  nach
nachgekommen ist. MaBgeblich ist die jeweils
zuim Ablauf des ersten, zweiten, bzw, dritten
Mictjahres
(brutto). Der Vermicter wird insofern auf
schrifiliche  Anforderung  des  Mieters
gegeniiber der kontofithrenden Bank baw.
Sparkasse entsprechende Freigabeerklirungen
abgeben bzw. im Falle der Ziffer 10.2
entsprechende Mehrbetrige zur Auskehrung an
den Micter bringen.

geltende  Gesamimonatsmicle

Nach Beendigung der Mietzeit wird der
Vermieter die Mietsicherheit innerhalb von
{3) Monaten nach Riumung des
Mietgegenstands an den Mieter herausgeben,

drei

sofern und soweit gegen den Mister keinerlel
Ansprilche aus dem Mietverhilinis bestehen,
noch
Nachzahlungsverpflichtungen des Misters aus
der MNebenkostenabrechnung
erscheinen, erfolgt die Rilckgabe der Sicherheit

Sollten zu  diesem Zeitpunkt nur

maglich

10.4

10.5

10.6

Clanse 10.1 should be ineffective, Tenant shall
be obligated to provide Landlord with another
effective guarantee or comparable securily.

Clause 10,2 remains unaffected.

If the monthly Base Rent changes by at least
ten (10) percent upwards or downwards, the
rental security deposit shall be adjusted in the
corresponding proportion at the request of a
Party.

The amount of the rental security is reduced 1o
five (5) Total Monthly Rents ({Gross) after the
end of the first rental year, to four (4) Total
Monthly Rents (Gross) after the end of the sec-
ond rental year and to three (3) Total Monthly
Rents (Gross) after the end of the third rental
year (3), provided that the Tenant fulfills his
payment obligations according o this Rental
Contract in the previous rental year at the latest
after a written request and setting of a reason-
able deadline. The decisive factor is the total
monthly rent {gross) applicable at the end of
the first, second or third rental year. In this re-
speet, at the Tenant's written request, the Land-
lord will issue corresponding release declara-
tions to the bank or savings bank holding the
account or, n the case of Clause 102, will dis-
tribute the corresponding additional amounts

to the Tenant.

After termination of the lease term, Landlord
will surrender the rental security deposit to the
Tenant within three (3) months afler vacating
the Lease Object if and to the extent no claims
against the Tenant exist under the tenancy.
Should only additional payment obligations of
the Tenant under ancillary costs accounting ap-
pear to be possible at such point in time, sur-
render of the sccurity deposit shall take place
concurrently against provision of another ap-
propriate security instrument.
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11.

11.2

Zug um Zug gegen Stellung einer anderen

angemessenen Sicherheit.

ZENTRALHEIZUNG, ELEKTRIZITAT,
WASSER, ABFALL

Die Betrichszeiten fir die Wirmeversorgung
richten sich nach den von der zustindigen
Havsverwallung hierzu setroffenen
Festlegungen, diber die der vom Vermieter
beauftragte  Verwalter den Mieter

entsprechende  Anforderung  des  Mieters

auf

informiert.

Jede  Partei hat, fir die
Winmeversorgung des Gebdudekomplexes /
Mietgegenstandes ist,
bemithen, dass mindestens llinfundzwanzig
{25) Prozent des jihrlichen Wirmebedarfs

soweit nicht technisch unmdglich (§ 275 Abs.
1 BGB  analog) wirtschaftlich

unverniinftis — durch crneuerbare Energien

sowell s

zustindig sich zu

oder

gedeckt werden. Die Parteien sind sich einig,
dass Mabnahmen "wirtschafilich unverniinftig"
sind, wenn die Kosten fiir die jeweilige
dkologischere Ausfihrungsart mehr als fiinf
(3) Prozent ilber dem ginstigsten nicht-
dkologischen Angebot liegen. Als erneuerbare
Energien im Sinne dieser Vorschrift gelten die
Energien im Sinne des § 2 Abs. 1, Abs. 2 Nr. 1
dos Emncuerbarc-Encrgien-Winmegesclzes in
der  bei Mietvertrages

gillligen

Abschluss  dieses

Fassung  sowie sonstige, in
einschligigen Bundesgesetzen etwa kimflig als
ernenerbare Energiequellen  anerkannte
Energiequellen. Etwaige withrend der Laufzeit
dicses Mietvertrages  cingeffihrtc  strengere
Declkung

ernenerhare

gesetzliche  Vorgaben zur des
Wiirmeenergiebedarfs

Energien gelten vorrangig.

durch

Die — unter Beriicksichtigung der zwischen den
Parteien abgestimmten
AushaumaBnahmen vor Ubergabe (val. Ziffer
1.7} fiir

Umn- und

vorhandenen  Leitungsnetze

11.

11.2

CENTRAL HEATING, ELECTRICITY,
WATER, WASTE

The operating hours for the heat supply shall
be governed by the specifications made in this
regard by the responsible properly manage-
ment, of which the manager appointed by the
Landlord shall inform the Tenant upon corre-

sponding request by the Tenant.

Each Party shall, insofar as it is responsible for
the heat supply of the building complex / Lsase
Ohbject, endeavor that at least twenty-five (25)
percent of the annual heat requirement — Inso-
far as not technically impossible (§ 275 (1}
BGB analogously) or economically unreason-
able — is covered by renewable energies. The
Partics agree that measurcs arc "cconomically
unreasonable” if the costs for the respective
more ceological type of execulion are more
than five (5) percent above the cheapest non-
ecological offer. Renewable energies within
the meaning of this provision shall be deemed
to be energies within the meaning of § 2 (1),
{2) No. 1 of the German Renewable Energies
Heat  Act

gesetz - KEWdrmeG) in the version applicable

{Ernenerbare-Erergien-Wirme-

at the time of conclusion of this Rental Contact
as well as other energy sources which may be
recognized as renewable energy sources in the
future in relevant federal laws. Any stricter
statutory requirements introduced during the
term of this Rental Contract to cover the heat
energy demand by renewable energy sources
shall have priority.

The existing supply networks for electricity,
gas and water — taking into account the conver-
sion and expansion measures apreed between

the Parties before handover (see Clause 1.7)
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114

Elektrizitit, Gas und Wasser diifen vom
Micter nur soweit in Anspruch genommen
werden, dass keine Uberlastung eintritl. Einen
Mehrbedarf kann der Mister durch Erweiterung
der Zuleitungen auf ecigene Kosten nach

vorheriger  Einwilligung  des  Vermieters
decken.
Jede Partei  hat, soweit sie  fir  den

Gebiudekomplex / Mietgegenstand elektrische
Energie bezicht, sich zu bemiihen, diese —
soweit nicht technisch unmdéglich (§ 273 Abs.
1 BGB wirlschafilich
unverniinfiig — zu mindestens Minfundzwanzig

analog)  oder
{25) Prozent aus erncuerbaren Encrgicquellen
z bezichen. Die Parteien sind sich einig, dass
Malnahmen "wirtschaftlich

sind, wenn die Kosten fir die jeweilige

unverniinftig"

dkologischere Ausfiihungsart melw als fiinf
(3) Prozent iiber dem glnstigsten nicht-
dkologischen Angebot liegen. Als erneuerbare
Energiequellen im Sinne dieser Vorschrift

gelten die Energien im Sinne des § 3 Nr. 21 des

Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetzes  in der  bei
Abschluss  ieses Mietvertrages pilltigen

Fassung, sowic sonstige, in cinschligipen
Bundesgesetzen elwa kiinflig als erncuerbare
Energiequellen  anerkannte Energiequellen.
withrend  der  Laufeeil
eingefiihrte

Etwaige dieses

Mietvertrages strengere
gesetzliche Vorgaben zur Deckung des Bedarfs
an elektrischer Energie durch erncuerbare

Energien gelten vorrangig.

Wasser darf nur itber den diblichen Bedarfl
den

Wasserleilungen  entnommen  werden.  Bei

(Trinkwasser, sanitire Zwecke) aus

Wasserverbrauch filr gewerbliche Zwecke hat
der  Mieter
Zwischenwasserziibler anzubringen und die

auf ecigene Kosten cinen

Be- und Entwiisserungskosten nach Angaben
des Vermicters zu tragen, wenn nicht seitens

des Mieters  das  Wasser  direkt  vom

11.4

11.5

may only be used by the Tenant to the extent
that no overload oceurs. The Tenant may cover
any additional demand by extending the supply
lines at its own expense with the prior consent
of the Landlord.

Each Party shall, insofar as it obtains electrical
energy for the building complex / Lease Ob-
jeel, endeavor to oblain at least twenly-five
{25) percent of such energy from renewable
energy sources — unless this is technically im-
possible (§ 275 (1) BGB analogously) or sco-
nomically unreasonable. The Parties agree that
measures are "economically unreasonable” if
the costs for the respective more ccological
type of execution are more than five {(5) per-
cent above the cheapest non-ecological of-
fer.Renewable energy sources within  the
meaning of this provision shall be the energies
within the meaning of § 3 No. 21 of the Re-
newable Energy Sources Act (FErneuerbare-
Energien-Gesatz — EEG) in the version appli-
cable at the time of the conclusion of this
Rental Contract, as well as other cnergy
sources which may be recognized as renewable
energy sources in the future in relevant federal
laws. Any stricler stalutory requirements inlro-
duced during the tenm of this lease to cover the
demand for electrical energy by renewable en-

ergies shall have priority.

Water may only be taken from the water pipes
for normal needs {drinking water, sanitary pur-
poses). In the event of waler consumption for
commercial purposes, the Tenant shall install
an intermediate water meter at its own expense
and shall bear the supply and drainage costs as
specified by the Landlord, unless the Tenant
obtains the water dircetly from the water sup-

ply company,
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11.6

1.7

Wasserversorgungsunternehmen bezogen
wird.
Bei der Nutzung des  Mietgegenstandes

anfallender Abfall im Sinne des § 3 Kr'WG 1st
nach Papier, Metall, Glas, und Kunststoft (§ 14
ErWaG, § 3 GewAbfV) sowie nach Holz und
Textilicn (% 3 GewAbfV),
Energiesparlenchtmittel (ElektroG), Batterien
(§ 11 Battz)., Drmcker-"Tonerkartuschen,
Verpackungsmalerialien
Punkt” (oder sonstigen, ggf. kiinftig allgemein
eingefithrien  Trennsystemen  zugeordnelen
Materialien), Bioabfall (§ 11 KeWG, § 3
GewAbfV) und sonstigem Abfall zu trennen
und  zu  entsorgen. wobel  eine  etwa
weitergchende heute bestchende oder kiinflig
cingefithrie gesetzlichs Pflicht zur Behandlung
von Abfall vorrangig zu beachten ist. Der

mil AFriimem

Vermieter ist berechligl, die Lagerung nichi
nach dieser Maligabe getrennten Abfalls zu

untersagen.

Der Vermieter hat fiir die Liegenschall
insgesamt und der Mister fiir das Innere des

Mietgegenstandes Miillsammelsysteme
vorzuhalten, die die getrennte Sammlung und
Entsorgung  des  Abfalls nach Satz 1

ermiglichen. Die Parteien werden clwaigen
Dokumentationspflichten (z., B. nach Mallgabe
des § 3 Abs. 3 GewAb{V) nachkommen und
sich diesbeziiglich vorher abstimmen,

Diz Parteien werden sich  bemithen, im
wechselseitigen Einvernehmen die in Anlage
1.7 MaBnahmen
Einsparung von Energie und Wasser sowie

ﬂLIfgCTIDI‘I'lI'l'IC‘I'lCn ur

Reduzicrung von Abfiillen umzuselzen sowic

diese entsprechend zu dokumentieren.

1.6

11.7

Waste generated during the use of the Lease
Object within the meaning of § 3 of the Ger-
man Circular Economy Act (Kreinwirtschafl
mngsgesetz — KrlWGh shall be separated and
disposed according to paper, metal, glass and
plastic (§ 14 KrWG), § 3 of the German Com-
mercial Waste Ordinance (Gewerbeabinllge-
seiz — GewA b)) as well as wood and lextiles
(§ 3 GewADV), energy-saving lamps (Electri-
cal and Electronic Equipment Act (Elakiro-
witd Elektrontfgerdtegestz — ElektroG)), bat-
teries (§ 11 of the German battery law (Bai-
teriegesetz — BaniGl), printer/toner cartridges,
packaging materials with "Green Dot {Grilner
FPunkt)" (or other materials that may be as-
signed to generally introduced separation sys-
tems in the future), biowaste (§ 11 KrWG, § 3
GewAbfV) and other waste, whereby any fur-
ther-reaching legal obligation to treat waste
that may exist today or be introduced in the fu-
ture shall be given priority. The Landlord shall
be entitled to prohibit the storage of waste not

separated in accordance with this provision.

The Landlord shall provide waste collection
systems for the Property as a whole and the
Tenant shall provide waste collection systems
for the interior of the Lease Object which ena-
ble the separate collection and disposal of the
wasle pursuant to sentence 1. The Partics shall
comply with any documentation obligations
{e.g. in accordance with § 3 (3) Gew AbfV) and
shall coordinate their actions in this respect in

advance.

The Parties shall endeavor to implement the
measures for saving energy and water and re-
ducing waste included in Annex 11.7 by mu-
tual agreement and to document them accord-

ingly.
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12.

12.1

12.2

BAULICHE VERANDERUNGEN NACH
UBERGABE

Will der Mieter bauliche Verinderungen am
Mietgegenstand

Einrichtungen

vormehmen, dieses  mit

verschen  oder  vorhandene
Anlagen und Einrichtungen verindem, bedart
er der vorherigen schrifilichen Zustimmung des
Vermieters. Der Mieter wird dem Vermieter
die
Verinderungen vorlegen, Der Mieter st
verpilichtet, bei der Auslithrung baulicher

MabBnahmen alle gesctzlichen Bestimmungen

gecignete  Pline  iiber geplanten

und nach den anerkannten Regeln der Technik

cinschligigen, techmischen  Vorschriflen,
insbesondere die den anerkannten Regeln der
Technik entsprechenden DIN-Normen sowie
VDE- und VDI-Normen,
behérdliche (auch gewerbebehérdliche und
Auflagen

erfiillen und etwa bendtigte Genehmigungen,

sowie elwaige

berfsgenossenschaftliche) Zn
Bescheinigungen und Priifreugnisse (2.8, von
Sachverstindigen) auf seine Kosten selbst
beizubringen.

Der  Vermieter darf  die  Zustimmung
verweigern, wenn er herechtigte Interessen
gegen «ie bauliche Verinderung geltend
machen kann, Derartige berechtigte Interessen
sind beispiclsweise cin drohender Eingrifl in
die Statik des Gebdndes, ein drohender nicht
nur unwesentlicher Wertverlust, Gefahren fir
die Sicherheit sowie ¢ine lehlends (zusiitzhiche)

Absicherung der méglichen Ritckbaukosten,

Auf  dic  erginzenden
MNachhaltige Nutzung und Bewirtschaftung in

Fiffer 29.4 wird verwicsen.

Eegelungen  zur

Die Repelung der Ziffer 12,1 gilt auch fir

Hinweisschilder und  andere, besondere
Einrichtungen sowie Anlagen entsprechend,
die der Mieter auBerhalb des Mietgegenstandes

aufstellen michte, mit folgender Maligabe:

12

121

12.2

STRUCTURAL ALTERNATIONS AF-
TER HANDOVER

If the Tenant wishes to make structural
changes to the Lease Object, add fixtures and
fittings to it or change existing systems and fa-
cilities, it shall require Landlord's prior written
approval. The Tenant will submit suitable
plans on the planned alterations to Landlord,
The Tenant is obligated when carrying out con-
struction work to comply with all statutory pro-
visions and, in accordance with the acknowl-
edged rules of technology, to comply with the
relevant technical rules, in particular the DIN
standards and VDE and VDI regulations in ac-
cordance with the recognised rules of technol-
ogy and 1o meet all official requirements m-
posed (also of the business licensing authori-
ties and of the German Emplover's Liability In-
surance Association) and to provide, at its own
costs, any required permits, certificates and
manufacturer's certificates (for example from

experts).

Landlord may refuse its consent if he is able to
assert legitimate interests against the structural
alteration. Examples of legitimate interests of
this kind are impending interference in the stat-
ics of the building, impending — and more than
- insignificant loss in value, safety risks and the
absence of (additional) hedging of possible

dismantling costs.

Reference is made to the supplementary regu-
lations on Sustainable Use and Management in
Clause 29.4.

The provision under Clause 12.1 shall also ap-
Ply accordingly to signs and other special fix-
tures and fittings and equipment which the
Tenant wishes to put up outside the Lease Ob-

ject subject to the following proviso:
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12.3

12.4

12.5

Der Micter kann im Gebiudekomplex und im
Eingangsbereich des Mietgegenstandes, an den
hierliir vom Vermieter bestimmten Flichen, fir
seinen Betrieb Schilder anbringen: Art, Grofe
und Gestaltung der Schilder werden vom
Vermieter einheitlich festgelest.
Detailwiinsche des Micters hinsichtlich der
Gestaltung der Beschilderung im
Hauseingangsbereich und im Bereich des
Eingangs zur angemictelen Biiroeinheil kiinnen
in dem vom Vermieter vorgegebenen Rahmen
betreffend Grife und Art der Beschilderung

beriicksichtigt werden.

Der Vermicter weist darauf hin, dass im Falle
der Teppich-
Kunststoffbeligen auf dem Estrich nur
Kleber
diirfen. Andere Kleber sind vermielerseilig
gestattet.  Die  Beschichtung
Fullbéden ist nur nach vorheriger Erlaubnis des
Vermieters gestattet.

Verlegung  von oder

wasserlasliche verwendet  werden

nicht Vi

Allen Auflagen, dic sich aus den vom Micker
vorgesehenen oder vorgenommenen baulichen
Mabnahmen oder aus der Benutzung des
Mielgegensiands  ergeben, hat  der Mieter
geforderte
Verlinderungen aul seine Kosten ausfihren zu

nachzukommen und eventuell

lassen. Der Vermieter ist in dieser Hinsicht von

allen Auflagen und berechtigien
Kaostenforderungen Dritter, gleich welcher Art,
vom Micter freizustellen.  Erforderliche

Konzessionen und Sondergenehmigungen sind
vom Mieter umgehend zu beschaffen. Daraus
resultierende Kosten und Risiken gehen zu
Lasten des Mieters,

Der Vermicter darf Ausbesserungen und
bauliche Verinderungen, die zur Erhaltung des
(Gebiudes eder der Mickiiiume, zur Abwendung
drohender Gefahren oder zur Beseitigung von
Schiiden notwendig werden, nach vorheriger
schrifilicher Ankimdigung mil angemessener

12.3

12.4

125

In the building complex and in the enlrance
area of the Lease Object, the Tenant may setup
signs lor 1ls business operation al the spaces
specified for this purpose by Landlord: The
type, size and position of the sign shall be uni-
formly determined by Landlord. Wishes of the
Tenant regarding details of the design of the
signs in the entrance area of the building and in
the area of the entrance to the leased office unit
can be taken into account within the limits re-
garding size and type of the signs which are set
by Landlord.

Landlord points out that if carpet or plastic
coverings are laid on the serced, only water-
soluble adhesives may be used. Other adhe-
sives are not permitted by the Landlord. The
coating of floors is only permitled with the

prior permission of the Landlord.

The Tenant shall comply with all the obliga-
tions arising from the Tenant's intended or im-
plemented structural measures or from use of
the Lease Objeet and shall have possibly re-
quested changes carried out at his expense. In
this repard, the Tenant shall indemnify Land-
lord from all requirements and justified costs
irrespective of their nature — claimed by third
parties. Necessary licences and special permits
must be procured by the Tenant immediately.
Any additional costs and risks resulting there-
from shall be borne by the Tenant,

The Landlord may carry out improvements and
structural alterations that are required to main-
tain the building or the leased premises, avert
any impending dangers or repair damage, even
without the approval of the Tenant after prior

wrillen notification with a reasonable deadline.
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12.6

Frist auch olne Zustimmung des Mieters
vornchmen. Dies gilt auch fiir Arbeiten und
Malbnahmen, nicht
aber doch zweckmilig
erscheinen, insbesondere der Modemnisierung

bauliche die  wwar

notwendig  sind.

des Gebdudes oder der Einsparung von
Heizenergie dienen, wenn sic den Micter nur
unwesentlich beeintriichtigen, Bel Gefahr im
Verzug steht dem Vermicter dicses Recht zu
jeder Zeit — auch ohne vorherige Ankiindigung
— zu; er wird den Micter jedoch unverziiglich
hieriiber informieren. Bei Werlverbesserungs-
oder Energiesparmabnahmen benachrichtigt
der Vermister den Mieter zwei (2) Monate vor
Beginn der Malfnahme iiber deren Beginn und
voraussichtliche Dauer. Soweit erforderlich,
muss der Mister bei Durchfithnung dieser
Arbeiten in angemessenem Umbang mitwirken,
zB. durch voritbergehende Umriumung der
Mdabel, Entfernang wvon Einbauten usw,
Verletzt der Mieter seine Mitwirkungspflicht
schuldhatt, so haftet er dem Vermieter fiir etwa
entstehende Mehrkosten. Der Vermieter ist
verptlichtet, die Arbeiten zilgig durchfithren zu
lassen und haftet dem Mieter fiir angemessene
und nachgewiesene Kosten, Aufwendungen
und Schiiden, die dicsem im Zusammenhang
mit  derartigen  Malnahimen
Minderungsrechte
Zusammenhang mit derartigen Mafnahmen

entstehen,

des Micters im

hleiben unberiihrt,

Im Fall ctwaiger kiinftizer Modemisicrungen
des Gebiudekomplexes oder des
Mietgegenstandes wird sich der Vermieter
nach besten Krifien darum bemithen, eine dem
bestehenden  Stand  der  Technik
entsprechendes und eine Nachhaltige Nutzung
Bewirtschafiung
Ausstattung

dann
und ermiiglichende
des  Gebdudekomplexes

Im  Fall

Baumalnahmen

Mietgegenstandes  herzustellen.

ctwaiger  kiinftiger auf’

Aubenflichen der Liegenschaft wird sich der

12.6

This shall also apply with regard to work and
construction measures that, although not nee-
essary, are, however, expedient, in particular,
measures serving to modernize the building or
to save heating energy. provided they only
marginally impair the Tenant. In the event of
imminent danger, Landlord shall be entitled to
this right at any time - even without prior no-
tice; however, he will inform the Tenant of this
immediately. In case of measures serving to
improve value or save encrgy, Landlord shall
notify the Tenant two (2) months before com-
mencement of the measure of the proposed
start date and hikely duration. If necessary, the
Tenant must cooperate in the execution of this
work to an appropriate extent, c.g. by tempo-
rarily moving away furniture, removing built-
ins cte. I the Tenant is responsible for a breach
of his duty to cooperate, Tenant shall be Hable
towards Landlord for any additionally incurred
costs. Landlord is obligated to have the work
carried out speedily and shall be liable to the
Tenant for reasonable and evidenced costs, ex-
penses and damages incurred by the Tenant in
connection with such measures. Tenant's
rights to abate the rent in connection with such

measures remain unatfected.

In the event of any future modernization of the
building complex or the Lease Object, the
Landlord will do his best to ensure that the
building complex / Lease Object is equipped in
accordance with the then existing state of the
art and enables Sustainable Use and Manage-
ment. In the event of any future construction
waork on the outside of the property, the Land-
lord will do his best to achieve the least possi-
ble surface sealing (c.g. by installing gratings).
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13.2

4.

14.1

Kriften  damum

miglichst

Vermmieter nach  besten

bemiihen, cine geringe
Oberllichenversiegelung zu erreichen (z.B.

durch Einbau von Gittersteinen),
Ein Kindigungsrecht des Micters gemil §
555¢ BGB wegen der Ankiindigung oder der
Durchfihrung

ModernisierungsmabBnahmen

vion

ist
ausgeschlossen, es sel denn die Malinahmen
davern linger als wvier (4) Monale und
beeintrichtigen den Mieter wesentlich. Weitere
des  Micters
Schadenersatz- und  Minderungsrechte  des
Mlieters bleiben unberithrt.

s0WiE

Kindigungsrechte

WERBEANLAGEN

Auberhalb des Mictgegenstandes ist es dem
Mieter untersagt, Einrichtungen, Anlagen oder
andere  Gegenstinde  zu  montieren,
aufrustellen, #u lagem oder vorzuhalten.
Ausnahmen  bediirfen
Zustimmung des Vermiclers. Im Falle einer
Zustimmung  des  Vermieters gelten  die
Regelungen in Zifter 12 entsprechend. Der

Vermieter 15t aus nachvollzichbarem Interesse

der  schriftlichen

dazu befugt, cine von ihm erteilte Zustimmung
zu widerrufen,

Im Ubrigen ist der Mieter nmicht berechtigt,
ohne schriftliche Erlaubnis des Vermieters an
der Aullenfront des Hauses oder auf dessen
Dach  oder auf Mietgrundstiick
Einrichtungen irgendwelcher Art anzubringen.

dem

Die Aubenfassade des Gebdiundes ist nicht

mitvermicket.

INSTANDHALTUNG,
INSTANDSETZUNG, ERNEUERUNCG,
WIEDERHERSTELLUNG

Bei der Festsctrung der Mictzinshéhe sind dic
nachstehenden  Regelungen  berlicksichtigt
worden. s ist insbesondere berlicksichtigt

127

13.

13.2

14.

14.1

A right of termination of the Tenant according
to § 555¢ BGB because of the announcement
or the implementation of modemization
measures is excluded, unless the measures take
longer than four (4) months and impede the
Further

rights of the Tenant as well as rights to abate

Tenant  significantly. lermination
the rent and to claim damage compensation re-

main unaffected.

ADVERTISING INSTALLATIONS

Outside the Lease Object, the Tenant must not
install, put up. store or hold available any fix-
tures and fittings, equipment or other objects.
Any exceptions hereto shall require Landlord's
prior written consent. If Landlord gives his
consenl, the provisions in Clause 12 shall ap-
ply accordingly. Landlord shall be entitled to

revoke its consent for cause,

With regard to the rest, the Tenant shall not be
entitled to erect fixtures and fittings of any
kind whatsoever on the external frontage of the
building or on its reof or on the Property with-
out Landlord's written consent. The exterior fa-
cade of the building complex is not included in

the lease.

MAINTENANCE, REPAIR, RENEWAL,
RESTORATION

The following provisions have been taken into
account in determining the amount of the rent.
In particular, it has been taken into account that
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14.2

14.2.1

14.2.2

waorden, dass (1) wihrend der Mietzeit keine der

Parteien Schénheitsreparaturen im
Miclgegenstand vormnehmen muss, (11) zum
Ende der Mietzeit Mieter

Schonheitsreparaturen  im  Mietgegenstand

der

vornehmen wird, und (i) die Instandhaltung

und Instandsctzung  technischer Anlagen
innerhalb des Mietgegenstandes, die dem

Mictgegenstand dienen, vom Mieter auf cigene

Kosten tibernommen wird,
Schénheitsreparaturen, Instandhaltung  und
Instandsetzung werden fir dieses

Mietverhiiltnis wie folgt definiert:

wSchinheitsreparaturen™ umfassen alle
Miabnahmen
ansprechenden dulleren Erscheinungsbildes

zur  Frhaltung  cines

des  betreflenden  Gegenstands — durch
Beseiligung der Spuren des
bestimmungsgemdBen Gebrauchs. Daru

gehiiren das Tapezieren, Anstreichen oder
Kalken der Winde und Decken, das
Streichen der Heizkérper einschlieflich
Heizrohre, der Innentiiren einschlieBlich
Rahmen sowie der Fenster und Aulentiiren
von innen sowie die grindliche und
fachgerechle Reinigung des Bodenbelags
und gol. eine erforderliche Emeuerung des
Badenbelags.

.Instandhaltung* umfasst alle
Malnahmen, die erforderlich sind, um den
Zustand

bestimmungs gemilen

crhalten, der  den
Gebrauch  der
Mietgegenstands
ermdglichl, Schiiden vorzubeugen sowie die
durch Abnutzung, Alterung,

Witterungseinwirkung und/oder Verschleilh

il

Licgenschaft/des

entstehenden  baulichen oder sonstigen
bescitigen.
Instandhaltung schlieft nsbesondere die

Mingel ordnungsgemdhb  zu

ordentliche Warlung, Inspektion und Pllege
des betreffenden Gegenstands sin sowis den
im Zuge solcher MalPnahmen normalen

14.2

14.2.1

1422

(i) during the Fixed Term neither of the Parties
shall have to carry out Cosmetic Repairs in the
Lease Object, (i1) at the end of the Fixed Term
the Tenant shall carry out Cosmetic Repairs in
the Lease Object, and {iii) the Maintenance and
Repair of technical installations within the
Lease Object that serve the Lease Object shall
be undertaken by the Tenant at its own ex-

pense.

Cosmetic repairs, Maintenance and Repair are

defined as follows for this lease:

"Cosmetic repairs" shall include all
measurcs to maintain an attractive external
appearance of the object concerned by re-
moving the races of intended use. This in-
cludes wallpapering, painting or while-
washing of walls and ceilings, painting of
radiators including heating pipes. interior
doors including frames as well as windows
and exterior doors from the inside as well
as thorough and professional cleaning of
the floor covering and any necessary re-

placement of the floor covering.

"Maintenance” shall include all measures
required to maintain the condition that ena-
bles the intended use of the Property/Lease
(Object, to prevent damage and to properly
remedy structural or other defects caused
by wear and tear, aging, exposure o the
weather and/or wear and tear, Maintenance
ineludes, in particular, the proper servicing,
inspection and care of the relevant item as
well as the replacement of wearing parts /
individual components of a specific system
{c.g. regular replacement of fire detectors)
as part of such measures in the normal

course of business or in accordance with
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14.2.3

14.3

14.4

bzw. nach Ilerstellerangaben oder DIN-
Bestimmungen  turnusmiiffigen  Austausch

von Verschleibteilen / Einzelkomponenten

einer  bestimmten  Anlage (z. B
turnusmiibiger Austausch von
Brandmeldern).

.Instandsetzung umfasst alle
Malnahmen, die erforderlich sind, um den
Zustand  wiederherzustellen,  der  den
bestimmungsgemilen  Gebrauch  des

betreffenden Gegenstands ermdglicht. Dazu
gehdiren die Beseitizung von Schiiden sowie
die Wiederbeschaffung defekter Teile baw,
bestimmiten
Gegenstands / einer bestimmten Anlage (z.
B. Ersatzbeschaffung schadhatier
Sanitirobjekte,  Waschbeckenarmaturen,
Beschlige oder Leuchtmittel), soweit es

Komponenten eines

sich nicht nur um Instandhaltungen handelt.
Zur  Instandsetzung  gehirt die
Ersatzbeschaffung  eines Gegenstands

auch

einer Anlage, sofern aus  Sicht  eines
sorgfiltic  handelnden Kaufmanns eine
Reparatur nicht mehr mdéglich oder eine
wirtschaftlicher cine

Emeucrung als

Reparatur ist.

Der Venmieter verpflichiet sich wilhrend der
Mietzeit Instandhaltung
Instandsetzung  der Allgemeinflichen (vel
Ziffer 6.3) sowic von Dach und Fach (vgl.
Ziffer 6.3} und der zentralen Haustechnik
{einschl, zentraler technischer Anlagen, welche
nicht ausschlicBlich den exklusiv dem Micter
mginglichen Flichen des Mietgegenstands
dienen), sowell letztere nichl nach dissem

Vertrag dem Mieter obliegen (vel. Ziffer 14.4).

zur und

Der Mieter hat
Instandhaltung und Instandscbrung auf den
Mhetflichen bzw. innerhalb der Mistriume des
Mictgegenstandes vorzunchmen. Dies gilt auch
filr die

{insbesondere

auf seme Kosten die

technischen
elektrische

Einrichtungen

und  sanitire

14.2.3

14.3

14.4

manufacturer’s instructions or DIN regula-

tions.

"Repair" shall include all measurcs re-
quired to restore the condition that enables
the intended use of the item in question,
This includes the repair of damage as well
as the replacement of defective paris or
components of a specific item / system (e.g.
replacement of defective sanitary objects,
washbasin taps, fittings or lamps), provided
that this is not merely a matter of mainte-
nance. Repairs also include the replacement
of an item / system if, from the point of
view of a prudent businessman, repait is ne
longer possible or replacement is more seo-

nemical than repair.

The Landlord undertakes during the lease term
to maintain and repair the Common Areas (cf.
Clause 6.3) as well as the Roof and shed (ef,
Clause 6.5) and the central building services
{including central technical installations to
which only the Tenant has exclusive access).
insofar as the latter are not the responsibility of
the Tenant under this Contract (cf. Clause
14.4).

The Tenant shall carry out Maintenance and
Repairs on the leased spaces or within the
leased spaces of the Lease Object at its own ex-
pense. This shall also apply to the technical in-
stallations (in particular electrical and sanitary
installations, etc.), insofar as these are located
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14.5

Installationen usw.), soweit sich diese im oder

Mictgegenstand belinden und
ausschlieBlich den  exklusiv dem  Mictler
muginglichen Flichen des Mietgegenstands

dienen, sowie die beweglichen Teile der

am

Fenster und die Instandsetzung der Fenster bei
Glasbruch, soweit dicser nicht auf Material-
oder Planungsfehler zulickzufithren ist. Die
den Mictgegenstand  abschliclenden  Tiiren
sind zudem von aulien zu reinigen, Die
Verpflichtung zur Reinigung erstreckt sich
auch aul Hinweisschilder und auf sonstige,
vom Mieter aulerhalb des Mietgegenstandes
angebrachte’ vorgehaltene Einrichtungen und
Beleuchtungskarper

Leuchtmittel innerhalb des Mictaegenstandes

Anlagen, und
hat der Mieter auf eigene Kosten zu ersetzen
(siche Ziffer 14.10). Zu
Klarstellung: Die Instandhaltungs-  und
Instandsetzungspflicht des Mieters gilt nicht,
wenn die erforderlichen Mabnahmen nicht
durch den Nietgebrauch wveranlasst wurden
oder nicht zumindest weitliufig mit dem
tblichen  Mietgebrauch
(bspw. bei Beschidigungen
Vermieter, Wasserschiiden
Micteinheiten, hihere Gewalt) oder sonst dem
Risikobereich des Mieters zuzuordnen sind; in
solchen Fillen fiilhit der Vermieter die
erforderlichen MaBnahmen durch.

hierzu  auch

zusammenhiingen
durch  den

aus  anderen

Der  Mieter  hat erforderlichen
Schénheitsreparaturen der
der Nutzung des Mieters
dienenden Riumen des Mietgegenstandes zum
Ende der Mictvertragslaufzeit fachgerecht aul
seine Kosten durchzufiihren. Wihrend der
Laulzeit des Mietvertrages sind weder der
Mieter

die
mnerhalb

ausschlieBlich

noch der Vermieter Zu

Schénheitsreparaturen innerhalb der
ausschlieflich  der Nutzung des  Misters
dicnenden  Riumen des  Mictgegenstandes

verptlichtet, der Mieter ist jedoch berechtigt,

14.5

in or on the Lease Object and to which only the
Tenant has exclusive access, as well as the
maovable parts of the windows and the repair of
the windows in the event of broken glass, to the
extent such broken glass does not result from a
product or planning default. The doors closing
off the Lease Object must also be cleaned from
the outside. The obligation to clean shall also
cxtend to signs and other equipment and instal-
lations installediprovided by the Tenant out-
side the Lease Object. Lighting fixtures and 1l-
luminants inside the Lease Object shall be re-
placed by the Tenant at its own expense (see
also Clause 14100, For clanfication: The Ten-
ant's Maintenance and Repair obligation shall
not apply if the necessary measures were not
caused by the use of the Leass Object or are
not at least largely related to the usual use of
the Lease Object (e.g. in the event of damage
by the Landlord, water damage from other
rental units, force majeurs) or are otherwise at-
tributable to the Tenant's sphere of risk: in such
cases, the Landlord shall carry out the neces-
SATY MEASUNSs,

The Tenant shall carry out the necessary Cos-
metic Repairs within the rooms of the Lease
Object exclusively used by the Tenant at the
end of the term of the tenancy in a professional
manner al ils own expense. During the term of
the Rental Contract, neither the Tenant nor the
Landlord shall be obligated to make Cosmetic
Repairs within the rooms of the Lease Object
exclusively used by the Tenant; however, the
Tenant shall be entitled to professionally per-

form such work at its own expense.
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14.6

14.7

14.8

derartige  Adbeiten  auf Kosten

fachgerecht durchzufiihren.

cigene

Der Bedarf fir laufende Schinheilsreparaturen
st malvoll, und zwar unter besonderer
Beriicksichtipung des Bestrebens der Parteien
Machhaltige
der
Mietgepenstandes,
Durchfiibrung
Schénheitsreparaturen hat die
der  Schanheitsreparaturen
Parlei ausschlieflich
{soweit  nicht  mdglich:

Grundlage  einer

um  die Nutzung  und

Bewirtschaftung Licgenschaft

einschliefilich

ermitteln,

des
Bei

zu
der
Zur
Durchfithrung
verpllichtete
emissionsfreie
emissionsarme),  auf
Lebenszyklusbetrachtung  als  wmwelt-  und
ressourcenschonend anzuschende Materialien
cinzusetzen. Als rulissize Materialien gelien
inshesondere solche Materialien, die mit einem
der Zertifikate ,Der blawe Engel®, EU
Ecolabel™,“FSC*,
Umweltsiegeln des Typs T im Sinne der ISO

LEFC*  oder  sonstigen

14024 ausgezeichnet sind. Entsprechendes gilt,

sofem  der Mieter zur Endrenovierung

verpflichtet ist,

Kommt eine Partei ihren Verpflichtungen zur

Instandhaltung  und  Instandsetzung  der
Liegenschall bzw. des Mielgegenstandes trolz
schriftlicher Abmahnung der anderen Partei
innerhalb einer gesetzten, angemessenen Frist
nicht nach, ist dic mahnende Partei berechtigt,

dic Arbeiten auf Kosten der anderen Partei

vorzunehmen,
Der Mieter ist zudem zur Reinigung,
Instandhaltung  und  Instandsetzung  aller

Anlagen, Einrichtungen, Armaturen, sonstigen
Installationen wnd Leitungen verpflichtet, die
er selbst eingebaut hat, Dies gilt auch fiir
simtliche, vom Micter im Rahmen cigener,
baulicher Malnahmen

Bausubstanz (sei die bauliche MalBnahme mit

selbst  geschaffene

oder ohne Zustimmung des  Vermieters

ausgefiihrt worden), auch derjenigen, die im

14.6

147

14.3

The need lor ongoing Cosmetic Repairs is lo
be determined in moderation. with particular
consideration of the Parties’ efforts to ensure
the Sustainable Use and Management of the
Property, including the Lease Object. When
carrying out the Cosmetic Repairs, the Party
obliged to carry out the Cosmetic Repairs must
only use emission-free (if not possible: low-
emission) materials that can be regarded as en-
vironmentally friendly and resource-saving on
the basis of a life cycle assessment. Permitted
materials are in particular those materials that
have been awarded one of the certificates
"Blue Angel (Blauer Engel)", "EU Ecolabel”,
"FSC", "PEFC" or other type [ environmental
seals within the meaning of 150 14024, The
same applies il the Tenant is obliged to carry

out the final renovation.

If a Party fails to comply with its obligations to
Maintain and Repair the Property or the Lease
Object within a reasonable period set by the
other Party despite written waming by the
other Party, the warning Party shall be entitled
to carry out the waork at the other Party's ex-

pense.

The Tenant shall alse be obliged to clean,
Maintain and Repair all systems, equipment,
fittings, other installations and lines which it
has installed itself. This shall also apply to all
building substance created by the Tenant itself
within the scope of its own structural measures
{(whether the structural measure was carried
out with or without the consent of the Land-
lord), including those created in the course of

the realization of a Tenant's fit-out description,
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14.9

Zuge der Realisierung einer
Micterausbaubeschreibung geschaflen wird.

Im Rahmen der  Reinigung des

Mietgegenstandes

Gebiudekomplexes werden sich die Parteien

SOWIE des

bemithen, aus mehreren gleich wirksamen
Reinigungsverfalren joweils das
umweltschonendere Verfahren anzuwenden —
soweit nicht technisch unmdglich (§ 275 Abs.
1 BGE wirlschalilich
unverniinftig. Die Parteien sind sich einig, dass
Mafnahmen "wirtschafthch  unvenimfiig"
sind, wenn die Kosten fir die jeweilige

analog)  oder

dkologischere Ausfithrungsart mehr als fiinf
(3) Prozent ilber dem glinstigsten nicht-
dkologischen Angebot licgen. Soweit fir die
regelmibige Unterhaltsreinigung
Reinigungsmittel verwendet werden, werden
sich die Parteien bemithen — soweil nicht
technisch unméglich (§ 275 Abs. 1 BGR
analog) oder wirtschaftlich unverniinftig

dkologisch unbedenkliche Reinigungsmittel zu
verwenden, dh. solche, dic mit dem
Umweltzeichen , Blaver Engel” oder sonstigen
Umweltsicgeln des Typs 1 im Sinne der [SO
14024 ausgezeichnet sind. Die Parteien sind
sich einig, dass MaBnahmen "wirtschafilich
unverniinflig” sind, wenn die Kosten fir die
jeweilige dkologischere Austiihrungsart mehr
als fiinf (5) Prozent iiber dem giinstigsten

nicht-skologischen Angebot liegen.

Diese Vorgaben sollen den beaufiragten
Erbringern von Reinigungs- und/oder Facility
Management-Leistungen entsprechend

aulerlegt werden.

14.10 Soweit die Parteien die Liegenschafl / den

Leuchtmitteln
auszustatten haben, haben sic — soweit nicht
technisch unmdglich (§ 275 Abs. 1 BGB
analog) oder wirtschafilich unverniinftig —

Mietgegenstand mit

ausschlieflich energiesparende Leuchtmittel

{insbesondere  Kompaktleuchtstoffleuchten

14.9 When cleaning the Lease Object and the build-

ing complex, the Parties will endeavor 1o use
the more environmentally friendly method
from among several cleaning methods that are
equally cffective — unless technically impossi-
ble (§ 275 (1) BGB analegously) or economi-
cally unreasonable. The Parties agree that
measures are “economically unreasonable™ if
the costs for the respective more ecological
type of execution are more than five (5) per-
cent above the cheapest non-ecological offer,
Insofar as cleaning agents arc used for regular
maintenance cleaning, the Parties will en-
deavor 1o use — unless technically impossible
(§ 275 (1) BGB analogously) or cconomically
unreasonable —ecologically harmless cleaning
agenls, Le. those that have been awarded the
“Blue Angel (Blauer Engel)” eco-label or
other type I eco-labels as defined by ISO
14024, The Parties agree that measures are
"economically unreasonable” if the costs for
the respective more ecological type of execu-
tion are more than five (5) percent above the

cheapest non-ceological offer.

These requirements should be imposed on the
commissioned providers of cleaning and/or fa-

cility management services,

14.10 Insofar as the Parties have to equip the Prop-

erty / Lease Object with lamps, they have —un-
less technically impossible (§ 275 (1) BGB
analogously) or economically unreasonable —
exclusively to use encrgy-saving light sources
(in particular compact fluorescent lights or
LED lights or other light sources that consume
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14.11

oder LED-Leuchten oder zukiinftig andere,
besonders elektrische
verbrauchende Leuchtmittel zu verwenden. Die

wenig Encrgic
Parteien sind sich einig, dass Malinahmen
"wirlschafilich unverniinfiig” sind, wenn die
Kosten fir  die
Ausfithrungsart mehr als fiinf (5) Prozent fiber
dem glinstigsten nicht-dkologischen Angebot

licgen.

Jeweilige dkologischere

Ist der Mielgegenstand insgesamt oder zu
einem itberwiegenden Teil durch ein vom
Vermieter nicht zu vertrelendes FEreignis
zerstint, so ist der Vermieter — vorbehaltlich
Ziffer 14.12 — verpflichtet, den Mictgegenstand
unverziiglich  nach Zerstérung
wiederherzustellen. Der Mieter ist in diesem
Fall — vorbehaltlich Ziffer 14.12 — verpflichtet,
das Mistverhiltnis nach der Wiederherstellung
des  Mielgegenstands  fortzuselzen.  Vom
Zeitpunkt  der (ganz  oder
Ferstbrung  des Nietgepenstandes bis zum
Abschluss  des  Wiederaufbaus  wnd  der
anschlicbenden  (erncuten) Ubergabe  des
Mietgegenstandes ruhen die Rechte und
Pflichten der Parteien (im Hinblick auf den

SeIner

teilweisen)

Miclgegenstands).
Mieters  bleiben

zerstirten  Tell  des
Minderungsrechte  des
unberiihrt.

14.12 Ist der Mietgepenstand insgesamt oder zu

cinem iberwicgenden Teil durch ein vom
Vermicter nicht verschuldetes  Ercignis
zerstirt, so ist der Vermieter nur dann zur
Wiederherstellung des Mictzegenstands gemil
Zifter 14.11 und der Mieter zur Fortsetzung des
Mietverhiilinisses Ziffer 1411
verpflichtet, wenn  die  nach  der

voraussichtlichen

gemilh

Wicderherstellung
verbleibende Festlaufzeit noch mehr als zwe
{2) Jahre betrigt. Der Vermicter wird dem
Micter dic

Wiederherstellungszeit

voraussichtliche
unverziiglich,

spiitestens jedoch innerhalb von zwel (2)

particularly little electrical energy in the future,
The Partics agree that measures are "economi-
cally unreasonable” i’ the costs for the respec-
tive more ecological type of exscution are
more than five (5) percent above the cheapest

non-ecological offer.

14.11 If the Lease Object is destroyed in whole or in

large part due to an event for which the Land-
lord is not responsible, the Landlord is — sub-
jeet to Clavse 14.12 — obliged to restore the
Lease Object immediately after its destruction.
In this case, the Tenant is — subject to Clause
14.12 —obliged to continue the Rental Contract
after the Lease Object has been restored. The
rights and obligations of the Partiss {with re-
gard 1o the destroyed part of the Lease Object)
remain suspended from the time of the (full or
partial) destruction of the Lease Object until
the completion of the reconstruction and the
subsequent (re-Jhandover of the Lease Object.
Tenant's rights to reduce the rent remain unaf-
fected.

14.12 If the Lease Object is destroyed in whole or in

large part duc to an event for which the Land-
lord is not responsible, the Landlord is only
obliged to restore the Lease Object in accord-
ance with Clavse 14.11 and the Tenant to con-
tinue the rental agreement in accordance with
Clause 14.11 if’ afier the expected restoration
remaining Fixed Term is more than two (2)
years. The Landlord will inform the Tenant of
the expected restoration time immediately, but
at the latest within two (2) months after the de-
struction. If the Fixed Term remaining after the

expected restoration is shorter than two (2)
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Monaten nach der Zerstérung, mitteilen. Ist die
nach der voraussichilichen Wiederherstellung
verbletbende Festlaufeeit kinzer als zwel (2)
Jahre, kénnen der Vermieter und der Mister das
Mietverhiiltnis innerhalb von dret (3) Monaten
ab Eintritt des Ereignisses mit Wirkung fiir den
Zeitpunkt der Zerstérung des Mietgegenstands
unabhiingig der
Mictgegenstand zu einem spiiteren Zeitpunkt
wieder hergestellt wird oder nicht. Der Mieter
ist zudem zur Kindigung des Mictverhilinisses
berechtigl, die

iederherstellungszeit mehr als zwdalf' (12)

davon  kindigen. ob

wenn voraussichtliche

Kalendermonate betrigt.

Bei der DBerechnung der verbleibenden
Festlaufzcit bleiben dic dem Micter noch
zustehenden Optionen (vel. Ziffer 4.2), sofern
diese zum Zeitpunkt der Zerstérung noch nicht
witksam  vom  Mieter  erklin
unberiicksichtigt.

wurden,

14.13 Ist neben dem MMictgegenstand (insgesamt oder

15,

zu einem iberwiegenden Teil) auch das
Bilrogebiiude auf der Liegenschaft insgesamt
oder zu cinem iiberwicgenden Teil durch cin
vom Vermieter nicht verschukletes Ereignis
zerstirt, so gelten Ziffern 14.11 bis 14.12 mit
der Mabgabe, dass der Vermieter statt der
Wiederherstellung des Mietgegenstands auch
berechtigt ist, sich fiir eine andere Bebauung zu
entscheiden, sofern dem Micter dabei cine dem
Mictfliche
(inshesondere hinsichtlich Gesamtmietfliche,
Mictzweck,  Qualitit,  Ausstattung  elc.)
geschatfen wird. Der Vermieter wird im
Rahmen
Vorschliige des Mieters in angemessenem

Mictgegenstand  gleichwertige

der Plammg Vorstellungen und

Umfang beriicksichtigen.

VERSICHERUNGEN

Der Mieter hat spitestens eine (1) Woche vor
dem Ubergabetag eine Haftpflichtversicherung

S0WiE eine Glasbruch- und

14.13

years, the Landlord and the Tenant can termi-
nate the Rental Contract within three (3)
months from the occurrence of the evenl with
effect from the time the Lease Object is de-
stroyed, regardless of whether the Lease Ob-

ject will be restored at a later date or not. The

Tenant is also entitled to terminate the Rental
Contract if the expected recovery time is more

than twelve (12) calendar months.

When calculating the remaining Fixed Term,
the Options still available to the Tenant (cf.
Clause 4.2). if these have not vet been effec-
tively declared by the Tenant at the time of de-

struction, are not taken into account.

It in addition to the Lease Object (in its en-
tirety or in large part), the office building on
the Property is also destroyed in its entirety or
in part due to an cvent for which the landlord
is not responsible, then Clauses 14,11 to 14,12
apply with the proviso that instead of restoring
the Lease Object. the Landlord is also entitled
to decide on a different development, provided
that the Tenant is provided with a rental area
that is equivalent to the Lease Object {in par-
ticular with regard to Total Rental Space, pur-
pose of lease, quality, furnishings, ete.), The
Landlord will take the Tenant's ideas and sug-
gestions info account to an appropriats extent
as part of the planning.

INSURANCES

The Tenant shall take out a sufficient level of
liability insurance as well as glass breakage
and inventory insurance no later than one (1)
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15.2

15.4

Inventarversicherung in avsreichender Héhe
abzuschliclen aufl’

Verlangen nachzuweisen. Fir die von thm

und dem Vermicter

eingebrachten Einrichtungen und sonstigen
Gegenstiinde st der Mieter verpllichtet, diese
gegen durch

Leitungswasser Abwisser

Beschidigungen Feuer,

und und
bestimmungswidrigen  Sprinkleraustritt  zu
versichern. Er hat dicse Versicherungen in
brancheniiblicher Tohe fir die Dauer des

Mhetverhiilinisses aufrechtzuerhalten.

Weisl der Micter das Besichen einer solchen
Versicherung  trotz Nachfristsetzung  nicht
nach, so ist der Vermicter berechtigt, auf
Kosten und im Namen des Mieters solche

Versicherungen abzuschlicBen.

Der Mieter ist verpflichtel, dem Vermicter
werlerhShende Einbauten und Verfinderungen
im oder am Gebdude, insbesondere wenn diese
eine Anderung der Gefahreneinschitzung im
der
Hafipflichtversicherungsbedingungen

Sinne Feuer- und
bewitken, unverzilglich schriftlich anzuzeigen.
der  Gebiiudeversicherer
derartiger Umstinde Zuschlige zur Primie

Soweil aufgrund
verlangl, sind diese Zuschlipe vom Micter
gesondert zu vergliten. Unterlisst der Mister
die erforderliche Mitteilung, ist er dem
Vermieter zum Ersatz der Schiiden verpflichtet,
dic dem Vermicter durch cine eventuelle

Unterversicherung des Gebiudes entstehen.

Falls  der Mieter auf der
gewisserschidliche Stoffe lagert bzw. im
Rahmen pewerblichen  Tiitigkeit
verwendet, hat er, unabhingig von einer
bestehenden  Betriebshaftpflichtversicherung,

eine

Liegenschaft

seiner

spezielle Iaftpflichtversicherung  im
Hinblick auf dic Lagerung und Verwendung
gewisserschiidlicher Stoffe abzuschlieben und
dem Vermicter aul’ Verlangen nachzuweisen.
Das gleiche gilt sinngemdlb auch fiir andere

Immissionen. Ersatzanspriiche wegen vom

15.4

week before the Handover Day and provide ev-
idence thercof to Landlord upon request. The
Tenant shall be obliged 1o take oul insurance
for the fixtures and fittings and other objects
they installed against damage by fire, tap water
sewage and sprinkler water leaks. He must
maintain these insurance policies at the level
customary in the industry for the duration of

the tenancy.

If the Tenant fails to provide evidence of the
existence of such insurance despite a grace pe-
riod being sct, Landlord shall be entitled to
conclude such insurance contracts at Tenant's

cxpense and in Tenant's name.

The Tenant is obligated to notify Landlord
without delay and in writing of any value-in-
creasing built-ins and modifications in or to the
building, in particular if such measures create
a change of the risk assessment as defined in
the fire and liability insurance conditions. If
the building insurer requests surcharges on the
premium because of these kinds of circum-
stances, such surcharges are to be separately
remunerated by the Tenant. IF the Tenant fails
to effect such notification, they shall be obli-
gated to pay compensation to Landlord for
losses aceruing to Landlord as a result of pos-

sible underinsurance of the building.

It the Tenant stores water-polluting substances
on the Property or uses them as part of his com-
mercial activity, he must take out special lia-
bility insurance with regard to the storage and
use of water-polluting substances, regardless
of any existing business liability insurance, and
provide evidence to the Landlord upon request.
The same applies analogously to other immis-
sions. Compensation claims due to soil con-

tamination for which the Tenant is responsible

Seite 48 von 110




15.5

15.6

16.
16.1

16.2

Mieter zu vertretender Bodenverunreinigungen
fillig, sobald diese durch

Bodenuntersuchung  festgestellt sind.  Dem

werden eine
Mieter st Gelegenheit zu geben, bei der
Bodenuntersuchung zugegen zu sein.

Der  Vermieter ist  verpflichtet.  ecine
(Gebiudeversicherung,

Gebiudehafipflichtversicherung  sowie eine
Feverversicherung in  ausreichendsr Hohe
abzuschlieben und den Mielgegenstand gegen
Sturm, Hagel,
Leitungswasserschiiden zu versichern und [ir

die Dauver des Mietverhiltnisses aufrecht zu

Terror und

erhalten. Die Kosten filr dicse Versicherungen
sind im Rahmen der Nebenkostenabrechnung
{anteilig) vom Micter zu tragen. Der Vermicter
kann Einzelversicherungen
ebenfalls zu Lasten der Nebenkosten gemidl
Ziffer & auch eine Allgefahren-Versicherung

anstelle  von

abschliefen, die auch eine Mictverlust- sowie

eine Terrorversicherung beinhaltet.

Weist der Vermieter das Bestehen einer
solchen Versicherung trotz Machfristsetzung
nicht nach, so ist der Micter bercchtigh, auf
Kosten und im Namen des Vermieters solche

Versicherungen abzuschlicfben.

UNTERVERMIETUNG

Die ader
Uberlassung des Mielgegenstands — ganz oder

Untervermistung sonstige
teilweise — ist nur nach vorheriger Zustimmung
des Vermieters zulissig, die dieser nur aus
wichtigem Grund verzdgern oder verweigern
darf. Eine Untervermietung an mit dem MMicter
verbundene Unternehmen im Sinne der 3§ 15
T, AktG ist hicrmit bereits gestattet; die Ziffer
16.2 findet insoweit keine Anwendung.

Der  Mieter tritt fir den Fall der
Untervermietung oder sonstigen — panz oder
teilweisen — Uberlassung des Mistgegenstands
an Dritte bereits jetzt alle Anspriiche gegen den

15.5

15.6

16.
16.1

16.2

become due as soon as this has been deter-
mined by a soil analysis. The Tenant is to be
given the opportunily to be present at the soil
analysis,

The Landlord is obligated to take out building
insurance, building Liability insurance and fire
insurance for a sufficient amount and to insure
the Lease Ohject against storm, hail, terror and
pipe water damage and to maintain this for the
duration of the tenancy. The costs for this in-
surance are to be borne (prorata) by the Tenant
as part of the ancillary cost settlement. Instead
of individual insurance, Landlord can also take
out all-visks insurance, which also includes
loss of rent and terror insurance, at the expense
of the ancillary costs in accordance with

Clause 6,

If the Landlord fails to provide evidence of the
existence of such insurance despite a grace pe-
riod being set. Tenant shall be entitled to con-
clude such insurance contracts at Landlord's

expense and in Landlord's name.

SUBLETTING
Subletting or other transfer of the Lease Object

—in whole or in part — shall only be permissible
subsequent to prior approval by Landlord, such
approval may only be delayed or withheld for
good cause (wichtizam Grund). Subletting to
affiliated companies in the meaning of Sec-
tions 135 et. seq. of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act is hereby approved; Clause 16.2 does
not apply in this respect,

In the case of subletting or other transfer — in
whole or in part — of the Lease Object to third
parties, the Tenant shall hereby assign to Land-

lord all claims against the sublessec or other
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16.4

16.5

Untermieter oder sonstige Dritte  nebst
Plandrecht an den Vermicter sicherungshalber
ab. Der Vermieler nimml diese Ablretung an.
Der Mieter ist dafilr verantwaortlich, dass der
Untermieter siimiliche Bestimmungen dieses
Vertrages einhalt. TTbersteigt die Miete, die der
Micter auf Grund der Untervermictung gegen
den  Untermieter  beanspruchen kann  (im
Folgenden: ,Untermiete™), digjenige Micte,
die der Mieter dem Vermieter nach Ziffer 3
dieses Vertrags schuldet, 1st der Micter
verpilichtet, 50 % des die Miete ibersteigenden
Teils
wUntermietzuschlag™) an den Vermieter zu
zahlen. Ziffer 9 findet mit der Mafigabe
entsprechende der
Untermietzuschlag vierzehn (14) Werkiage
nach dem Tag zur Zahlung fillig ist. an dem der
Mieter die Untermiete beanspruchen kann.
Sofern bei Unterzeichnung des
Untermietvertrages mil Dritten Leerstand im
(Gebdude  besteht,
alternativ. vom  Vermieter hiitte anmicten
kdnnen, betrligt der Untermietzuschlag 100%
des dic Micte nberstcigenden Teils  der
Untermiete.

der TUntermiete (im Folgenden:

dass

Anwendung,

den der Untermieter

Eine eventuelle Untervermictung berithrt die
Pllichten des  Mieters

Vermieter nicht.

pegeniiber  dem

Bei unberechtigter Untervermietung und/oder
Nutzungsiiberlassung  oder bei schuldhafier
vertragswidriger Nutzung des Mietgegenstands
durch den Untermicter kann der Vermicter
verlangen, dass der Mister unverziiglich das

Untermietverhiilinis kiindigt.

Der Mieter wird dem Vermieter unanfgefordert

und  unverziiglich  jede Untervermictung
und/oder Nutzungsiiberlassung anzeigen und
eine vollstindige Kopie des entsprechenden

Vertrags vorlegen.

16.4

16.5

third parties together with the right of lien to
the lessor as security. Landlord accepls such
assignment. The Tenant shall be responsible
for the sublessee’s compliance with all and any
provisions of this Rental Contract. If the rent
that the Tenant can claim on the basis of such
subletting (hereinafter: "Rent for Subletting™)
exceeds the rent that the Tenant owes Landlord
under Clausc 5 of this Rental Contract, the
Tenant shall be obligated to pay Landlord fifty
{50) per cent of the excess part of the rent for
"Subletting  Sur-
charge'). Clause 9 shall be applicable subject

subletting  (hereinafier:

to the proviso that the Subletting Surcharge is
due fourteen (14) working days after the day
on which the Tenant can claim Rent for Sub-
letting. If, when the sublease agreement is
signed with a third party, there is a vacancy in
the building that the subtenant could have al-
ternatively rented from the Landlord, the Sub-
letting Surcharge is 100% of the excess part of

the rent for subletting.

Any possible subletting shall not affect Ten-

anl's duties towards Landlord.

In the event of unauthorised subletting and/or
surrender of use or culpable use by the subles-
see of the Lease Object in breach of this Rental
Contract, Landlord can request the Tenant to
immediately terminate the subletting relation-
ship.

Without being requested to do so and without
delay, the Tenant will notify Landlord of any
subletting and/or surrender of use and will sub-

mit a complete copy of the relevant agreement.
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17.

18.

18.2

18.4

18.5

KONKURRENZSCHUTZ

Konkurrenzschutz wird vom Vermicter nicht

gewihrt.

HAFTUNG DES MIETERS,
VERKEHRSSICHERUNGSPFLICHT
DES MIETERS

Der Micter hat Vorsatz und Fahrlissigkeit zu
vertreten,

Der Mieter haftet dem Vermicter fiir alle
Schiiden, die durch die Verletzung der dem
Mister
schuldhaft verursacht werden. Dies gilt nicht

obliegenden Sorgtaltspflichten
filr die Abnutzung des Mietgegenstands, die
der Micter durch cinen vertragsgemilen
Gebrauch des Mietgegenstands herbeifiihel (§
338 BGR).

Der Mieter haftet auch fiir Schiden, die durch
seine Bevollmichtigten, Betriebsangehirigen
oder schuldhaft
werden, Ferner haftet er filr Schiiden, die durch
Besucher, Lieferanten, Handwerker oder
schuldhaft
werden, soweit diese auf Veranlassung des
Migters zum Gebiude in Bezichung treten.

Untermieter verursacht

sonstipe  Personen verursacht

Dem Mieter obliegt die
Verkehrssicherungspilicht fiir die
ausschlicBlich dem Micter zuginglichen

Flichen des Mietgegenstandes. Aullerdem
verpllichtet sich der Micter, den Vermicter von
jeglichen Anspriichen privater Dritter oder
Behirden freizustellen, die diesen aufgrund der
Verletzung der vom Mieter iibernommenen
Verkehrssicherungspilicht zustehen, soweit er
diese Verletzung zu vertreten hat.

Der Mieter ist verpflichtet, dem Vermieter
Schiden

Kenntniserlangung  unverziiglich zu melden.

am  Mictzepenstand nach

Fir einen Schaden, der durch wverspitete

COMPETITION PROTECTION

Competition protection is not granted by Land-
lord.

TENANT'S LIABILITY, TENANT'S LE-
GAL DUTY TO MAINTAIN SAFETY

18.1 The Tenant is responsible for intent and negli-

gence.

182

18.3

18.4

18.5

Tenant shall be liable for all losses culpably
caused by breach of the duty of care incumbent
upon Tenant. This shall not apply to wear and
tear of the Lease Object, which Tenant causes
through a contractually allowed use of the
Lease Object (§ 338 BGB).

Tenant shall also be liable for damage culpably
caused by their authorised representatives,
staff members or sublessess. In addition, he
shall be liable for losses culpably caused by
visitors, Suppliers. workmen or other individ-
uals to the extent that their activity in the build-
ing relates to the Tenant.

The Tenant shall be responsible for ensuring
the duty of safety of the areas of the Lease Ob-
jeot that are exclusively accessible to the Ten-
ant. In addition. the Tenant undertakes to in-
demnify the Landlord against any claims by
private third parties or authorities based on an
breach of'the legal duties to maintain safety as-
sumed by the Tenant, insofar as the Tenant is

responsible for this breach.

The Tenant is obligated to notify Landlord af-
ter obtaining knowledge without delay of any

damage 1o the Lease Object. With regard 1o
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18.6

18.7

19,

19.1

Anzeige nach Kenntniserlangung verursacht
oder verticfl wird, oder der dadurch gegeniiber
einem Auflragnehmer des Vermielers nicht
mehr geltend gemacht werden kann, ist der
Mieter ersatzpflichtig, wenn er die verspiitete
Anzeige vorsitzlich oder grob fahrlissig 7zu

vertreten hat.

Beim Aufstellen von Maschinen, schweren
Apparaturen,  Geldschrinken
Mietgegensiand darf der Micter die zuliissigen

wi,  im

Belastungsgrenzen der  Stockwerksdecken
nicht itberschreiten. Das Aufstellen istin jedem
Fall dem Vermieter vierzehn (14) Tage vorher
schriftlich anzuzeigen und dessen Zustimmung
einzuholen. Der Vermister verpflichtet sich,
Micter die
WVerlangen
Schiden, die

digser Bestimmungen

den iiber zuliissigen

Belastungsgrenzen  auf
informisren.  Fir
Nichtbeachtung

eintreten, haftet der Mieter. Ergeben sich durch

il

durch

dic Maschinen nachteilige Auswirkungen fiir
das Geblinde, Erschittterungen, Risse usw.,
kann der Vermicter dic erteilic Erlaubnis

widerrufen,

Der Mieter haftet dem Vermieter fir jeglichen
Schaden am Gebiude und Mietgrundstiick, der
durch seine Faluzeuge oder durch die bei ihm
auf seine Veranlassung hin wverkehrenden
Fahrzeuge verursacht wird, soweit er diese zu
vertreten hat.

GEWAHRLEISTUNG UND HAFTUNG
DES VERMIETERS,
VERKEHRSSICHREUNGSPFLICHT
DES VERMIETERS

Die verschuldensunabhiingipe Garantichaftung
antinglicher
ist

des Vermieters
Sachmingel  des

ausgeschlossen; der Herstellungsanspruch des

wegen
Mietgegenstandes

Mieters gegeniiber dem Vermieter bleibt

hiervon jedoch unberithrt.

18.6

187

19,

19.1

losses caused or aggravated by a delaved noti-
fication after oblaining knowledge or, that as a
result, can no longer be asserled against one of
Landlord's contractors, the Tenant shall be lia-
ble for compensation if he is responsible for
such delayed notification intentionally or

through gross negligence.

When positioning machines, heavy apparatus,
safes ete. in the Lease Object, Tenant may not
exceed the admissible load restrictions of the
storey floors. Such positioning must at all
evenls be notified to Landlord fourteen (14)
days in advance and the latter's consent must
be obtained. The Landlord undertakes to in-
form the Tenant of all admissible load re-
strictions upon request. The Tenant shall be li-
able for any damage caused by disregarding
these provisions. Should detrimental impacts
on the building result from such machines, vi-
brations, fissures, ete., Landlord may revoke

the consent granted.

The Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for all
damage to the building and Lease Propertly
caused by its vehicles or the vehicles using
Landlord's premises in order to access Tenant's
operations upon Tenant's initiation, insofar as

he is responsible for this.

LANDLORD'S WARRANTY AND L1A-
BILITY, LANDLORD'S LEGAL DUTY
TO MAINTAIN SAFETY

The Landlord's warranty liability regardless of
fault due to initial material defects of the Lease
Object is excluded; the right of the Tenant to
claim repair of the Lease Object remains unal-
fected.
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19.2

19.4

19.3

19.5.1

19.5.2

19.5.3

19.5.4

Der Vermicter hat Vorsatz und Fahrlissighkeit
Zu vertreten,

Der Vermicter haftet dem Miecter fiir alle
Schiden, die durch die Verletzung der dem
Vermicter obliegenden  Sorglalispflichten

schuldhaft verursacht werden.

Der Vermicter haftet auch fir Schiden, die
durch  seine  Bevollméchtigten  oder
Betrichsangehdrigen  schuldhafi  verursacht
werden. Ferner haftet er fiir Schiden, die durch
Besucher, Lieferanten, Handwerker oder
sonstige  Personen  schuldhaft  verursacht
werden, soweit dicse auf Veranlassung des

Vermieters zum Gebiiude in Beziehung treten.

Der Vermieter und seine Erfiillungsgehilfen
{einschliellich Bevollmichtigte oder
Betricbsangehdrige) haften nicht

fir die Eignung des Mietpegenstands zu
dem  vom  Micter  beabsichtizten
wirtschaftlichen Zweck:

fitr die Erteilung oder Aufrechterhaltung der
fir die Gewerbeausiibung des Mieters
notwendigen Konzessionen,
Genehmigungen oder Erlaubnisse, dic an

die Person des Mieters ankniipfen:

fitr die Lieferung von Energie, wie Heizung,
Strom  und  Wasser,  durch  die
entsprechenden Versorgungstriiger, es sei
denn, dass er den Ausfall der vorgenannien
Lieferung zu vertreten hat: aut Verlangen
des Mieters wird der Vermieter dem Micter
seine Anspriiche gegen die
Versorgungstriger aus bereits
abgeschlossenen oder noch
abzuschlielienden  Versorgungsvertriigen
ablreten;

fiir voriibergehende, vom Vermieter nicht
zu  vertretenden,  Einschrinkungen  der
Zufahrt, der Andienung und der somstigen
Verkehrswege zum Gebidude, soweit sin

19.2

19.3

19.4

19.5

19.5.1

1952

19.5.3

19.5.4

The Landlord is responsible for intent and neg-

ligence.

Landlord shall be liable for all losses culpably
caused by breach of the duty of care incumbent

upon Landlord.

Landlord shall also be liable for damage culpa-
bly caused by its authorised representatives or
stall members. In addition. he shall be lable
for losses culpably caused by visitors. Suppli-
ers, workmen or other individuals to the extent
that their activity in the building relates to the
Landlord.

Landlord and his vicarious agents (including
authorised representatives or stall’ members)

shall not be liable

for the suitability of the Lease Object for
the ceconomic purpose intended by the Ten-

ant;

for the granting or maintenance of the li-
cences, approvals or permils required for
Tenant's pursuit of its trade, which are

linked to the person of the Tenant;

for the supply of energy, like heating, elec-
tricity and water by the relevant utility pro-
viders, unless they are responsible for the
lailure of the aforementioned supply: upon
Tenant's request to do so, the Landlord will
assign its claims against the utility provider
under supply contracts already concluded
or still to be concluded:

for temporary restrictions of the access
road, delivery and other traffic routes to the

building for which the Landlord is not re-
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19.5.5

19.6

20.
2001

Zugang oder eine Zufalut zum Gebiude

{cinschlicBlich  des  Miclgegenstands)
pewihrleistet bleibt;
fir die Beeintriichtigung der
Gebrauchstauglichkeit des Mietgegenstands
durch MaBnahmen auf den
Machbargrundstiicken und dem
StraBenland, wie etwa Baumabnahmen, die
vom Vermieter nicht zu vertreten sind und
nicht auwl’ dessen  Veranlassung  hin
vorgenommen werden;
Soweit durch diese Ziffer 19.5
Schadensersatzansprilche ansgeschlossen
werden, gilt der Ausschluss micht fiir
Verlebungen  wvon  Kérper, Leben  und

Gesundheit des Mieters oder fir Fille des
vorsiilzlichen oder fahrlissigen Verhaltens des
Vermieters, Minderungsrechte des  Mieters
bleiben ebentalls unberiihrt.

die
nicht
ausschlicBlich zuginglichen
Flichen Aulerdem
verptlichtet sich der Vermister, den Mieter von
jeglichen Anspriichen privater Dritler oder

Behdrden freizustellen, die diesen aufgrund der

Dem Vermicter abliegt
Verkehrssicherungspilicht  filr

Mieter

die
dem

der  Liegenschaft.

Verletzung der vom Vermieter libernommenen
Verkehrssicherungspilicht zustehen, soweit er

diese Verletzung #u vertreten hat.

BETRETEN DES MIETGEGENSTANDS

Dem Vermicter oder einem thm

beauftragten Dritten st das DBetreten des

Mictgegenstands, insbesondere zur Pritfung

Vion

des  baulichen  Zustandes  sowie  der
Funktionsfilhigkeit und  Sicherheit  wvon
technischen  Anlagen im  Gebdude, zur

Weitervermietung  oder  Veriulerung  des
Mietgegenstands sowie in anderen ihnlichen
Fiillen Beteiligten,

Sachverstindigen Feugen

ZUSAMmmen mit
in

oder und

19.5.5

19.6

20
20.1

sponsible — to the extent an access or an ac-
cess road teo the building (including the

Lease Object still exist;

for the impairment of the Lease Object's fit-
ness for purpose through measures on the
neighbouring real properties and the thor-
oughfare, like for example construction
measures, for which the Landlord is not re-
sponsible, and which are not undertaken at

the Landlord's instigation;

To the extent compensation claims are ruled
out by this Clause 19.5, such exclusion shall
not apply to injury to life, limb or health of the
Tenant or to cases of deliberate or negligent
conduct on the part of Landlord, Tenant's right

to abate the rent shall remain unaffected.

The Landlord shall be responsible for ensuring
the duty of safety of the areas of the Lease Ob-
jeet that are not exclusively accessible to the
Tenant, In addition, the Landlord undertakes to
indemnify the Tenant against any claims by
privale third parties or authorities based on an
breach of the legal duties to maintain safety as-
sumed by the Landlord, insofar as he is respon-

sible for this infringement.

ENTER THE LEASE ORIECT

The Landlord or a third party commissioned by
it shall be permitted to enter the Lease Object,
in particular for the purposc of inspecting the
structural condition and the functionality and
safety of technical installations in the building,
for the purpose of subletting or selling the
Lease Ohject and in other similar cases to-
gether with parties involved, experts or wil-
nesses and in presence of the Tenant during
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0.2

21,
211

2111

21.1.2

21.1.3

Begleitung des Mieters wihrend der tiblichen
(Geschiiliszeiten
Vorankiindigung gestattet.

und nach angemessener

In Fillen dringender Gefahr kann der
Vermicter den Mietgegenstand jederzeit, auch
ohne Vorankiindigung, sowie bei Abwesenheit
des Micters betreten. Er hat den Mieter jedoch
unverziiglich hieritber zu informieren,

Der Mieter erhilt fir den Mietgegenstand die
im Ubergabeprotokoll aufgelisteten Schliissel
und/oder Codekarten. Dem Mieter st s nicht
gestattet, Tiiren oder Fenster mit zusitzlichen
Schlissern oder Riegeln, gleich welcher Art, zu
versehen, ebense wenig darf er vorhandene
Schldsser
verdndern, sofern nicht der Vermieter vorher
schriftlich zustimml.

oder  deren  Funktionsweisc

KIUNDIGUNG

Das Recht zur ordentlichen Kindigung ist
withrend der — gl pemidb Ziller 4.2
Festlaufzeit  (Ziffer 4.1)
ausgeschlossen. Beiden Parteien steht das

verlingerten

Recht #zur fristlosen Kindigung nur aus
wichtigem Grund zu. Ein wichtizger Grund liegt
nshesonders vor, wenn der Mieter:

filr zwei (2) aufeinanderfolgende Termine
trotz Abmahnung durch den Vermieter mit
der Entrichtung des Mietzinses in Verzug
ist, oder in einem Zeilraum, der sich fiber
mehr als zwel (2) Termme erstreckt, mit der
Entrichtung der Micte in Hihe eines
Betrages, der die Miete flir 2wei (2) Monate

errcicht, in Vermug ist;

den Miclgegenstand  trotz Abmahnung
durch  den  Vermieter

untervermietet oder Dritten Giberldsst;

unberechtigt

den Mictgegenstand nicht dem Mietzweck

entsprechend nutzt und den

20.2

20,3

21.
211

21.1.1

21.1.2

21.1.3

normal business hours and after prior reasona-

ble notice.

In cases of urgent danger, Landlord may also
set foot on the Lease Object without prior an-
nouncement as well as in the absence of the
Tenant, but the Landlord has to immediately
inform the Tenant about it.

The Tenant shall receive the keys and'or code
cards for the Lease Object listed in the Hando-
ver Protocol. The Tenant shall not be permitted
to affix any additional locks or locking bolts of
any kind to doors or windows, or to change ex-
isting locks or the way they work unless Land-

lord has consented to this in advance.

TERMINATION

The right to ordinary termination with prior no-
tice during the — if applicable, extended in ac-
cordance to Clause 4.2 — Fixed Term (Clause
4.1) shall be excluded. Both Parties shall have
the right to terminate this Rental Contract with-
out notice only for cause. Cause shall be on

hand in particular if the Tenant:

is after receipt of a warning notice by Land-
lord in arrears with payment of the rent for
two (2) consecutive payment dates, or in a
period covering over more than wo (2)
payment dates, in an amount which reaches
the rent for two {2) months;

sublets or surrenders use of the Lease Ob-
ject without authorisation to third parties
even after receipt of a warning notice by

Landlord;

fails to use the Lease Object in accordance

with the purpose of lease and continues
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21.1.4

2LL35

212

21

vertragswidrigen  Gebrauch  auch  nach
Abmahnung

Fristsetzung durch den Vermieter fortsetzt;

und AN SUIMEEEENeT

die geschuldete Mietsicherheit (Ziffer 10)

trotz Abmahnung  und  angemessener

Nachfiistsetzung nicht leistet;
trotz
Fristsetzung durch den Vermieter gegen die

Abmahnung und  angemessener

Umsatzsteuerregelung  gemill  Ziffer 8
dieses Vertrags verstilt;

Die laufenden Betriebs- und Nebenkosten sind
Teil der Miete im vorstehenden Sinne,

Die Kiindigung bedarf der Schriftform, Fiir die
Rechtzeitigkeit kommt e nicht auf die
Absendung, sondern auf den Zugang des
Kimdigungsschreibens an.

ENDE DES MIETVERHALTNISSES
Unabhiingig vom Zeitpunktl der Beendigung
des Mietverhiilinizsses hat der Mieter bis zur

an  den
Nutzungsentschidigung

Herausgabe  des  Mistgegenstands
Vermicter  eine
mindestens in Hhe der zuletzt vercinbarten
Miste
Schadensersatzanspriiche  bleiben  unberiihrt.
Zahlungen  des

oder

Fall zahlen. Weitergehende

Etwaige Mieters  nach

Kiindigung Beendigung des

Mietverhiilinisses  aus  sonstigen  Griinden

Nutrungsentschiidigung
auch
Uberweisungsaufirag oder in Korrespondenz
als Mictzahlung bezeichnet sind.

werden als

angenommen, wenn  sie im

Bei Beendigung des Mietverhiilinisses ist der
Mietgegenstand in vertragsgerechtem Zustand
unter Beriicksichtigung der vertragsgemiifen
Abnutzung an den Vermieter wuriickeugeben.

Vertragsgemiil ist der Zustand dann, wenn:

21.1.4

2115

21.2

21.3

22,
224

222

such use in breach of the contract even after
receipt of a warning notice and a reasonable

grace period by Landlord;

fails to render the owed Rent Security De-
posit (Clause 10) despite receipt of a warn-
ing notice and a reasonable grace period:

breaches the VAT rule pursuant to Clause §
even allter receipt of a warning notice and a

reasonmable grace period by Landlord;

The current operating and ancillary costs are
part of the rent in the aforesaid sense,

Termination must be in writing (on paper and
signed). Whether notice of termination has
been given in due time shall not depend on the
date on which such notice of lermination was

sent, but the date on which it is recerved.

END OF TENANCY

Irrespective of the date of time at which the
tenancy ends, the Tenant must pay the Land-
lord compensation for use at least in the
amount of the last agreed rent until the Lease
Object is handed over to the Landlord. Further
claims for damages remain unaffected. Any
payments made by the Tenant afier termination
or termination of the tenancy for other reasons
will be accepted as compensation for use, even
if they are referred to as rent payments in the

transfer order or in correspondence.

When the tenancy ends, the Lease Object must
be surrendered to Landlord in a condition as
provided for in this Rental Contract, taking
into account contractual wear and tear. The
condition shall be deemed in line with the con-

tract ifs
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2221

2222

2223

2224

2225

22.2.6

22.3

224

simtliche Riume gereinigl uwnd geriuml
sind;

alle Schinheitsreparaturen (Ziffer 14.5)
durchgetiihat sind,;

Schiden am Mietgegenstand, die fiber die
Abnutzung durch gewdhnlichen Gebrauch

hinausgehen, beseiligt sind;

simtliche Schliissel und/oder Codekarten
{auch selbst beschaftte) an den Vermieter

zurlickgegeben worden sind;

der Mister seine Wartungspflicht (Ziffer
14.4) erfiillt hat; und

der Mieter seine Rilckbaupflicht pem. ZilTer
227 erfinllt hat,

Bei Auvszug des Mieters ist ein gemeinsames
Riickgabeprotokell zu fertigen, in welchem
etwa vorhandene oder nicht beseitigte Mingel,
Schénheitsreparaturen ete. aufgefiihrt werden,
Der Mieter wird bei der Erstellung  des
Protokolls persénlich mitwirken oder sich
durch schrifflich  bevollmichtigten
Dritten vertreten lassen, Ohne eine solche

einen

Mitwirkung des Micters ist der Vermieter zur
Riicknahme
verpilichtet.

des  Mietgegenstands  nicht
Kommt der Mieter seinen Verpflichtungen
gemiill vorstehenden Ziffern 22.2.1 bis 22.2.6
trotz angemessener Nachiristsetzung durch den
Vermieter nicht nach, so kann der Vermieter

die entsprechenden Malnahmen auf Kosten

des Micters durchfithren lassen.

Werden vom Mieter nach Beendigung des
Mhietverhiltnisses Mietgegenstand
Gegenstiinde zuriickgelassen, st der Vermieter
herechtigt,

it

diese  mnach  Mahnung mit

Fristsetzung auf Kosten des Mieters aus dem
Mietgegenstand entfernen, Eing

Autbewahrungspflicht des Vermicters bestcht

Zu

2221

2222

2223

22.2.4

2223

2226

223

224

225

all rooms have been cleaned and vacated;

all Cosmetic Repairs (Clause 14.3) have

been carried ont;

damage to the Lease Object that goes be-
yond wear and tear as a resull of customary

use has been eliminated,

all keys and'or code cards (also self-ro-
cured) have been returned to Landlord;

Tenant has fulfilled his contractual obliga-

tion to maintenance (Clause 14.4); and

Tenant has fulfilled its duly te restore the
Lease Object to its original state pursuant to
Clause 22.7.

When Tenant vacates the premises, a joint rec-
ord of return shall be drawn up listing, for ex-
ample, existing or not remedied defects, Cos-
metic Repairs, etc. The Tenant shall personally
assisl in preparing the record or be represented
by an attorney-in-fact with written authorisa-
tion. Landlord shall not be under any obliga-
tion to take back the Lease Object it Tenant has

not cooperated in this way.

It the Tenant fails to comply with its obliga-
tions pursuant to the aforementioned Clavses
22.2.1 to 22.2.6 despite Landlord's setting of a
reasonable grace period, Landlord may have
the relevant work carried out at Tenant's costs,

If, after termination of the tenaney, the Tenant
has left objects behind in the Lease Object,
Landlord shall be authorised to remove such
objects at Tenant's costs after issuing a warn-
ing and sctting a deadline. No duty for Land-
lord to store exists, Any claims of Landlord's
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22.6

232

nicht. Etwaige Anspriiche des Vermieters aus
dor verspitelen Riickgabe der Mictsache
bleiben unberiihrt,

Der mieterseitige Ausban und alle spiiter vom
Mieter durchgefithrten
Verinderungen. Einbauten, Einrichtungen und
Installationen  sind bei Beendigung  des
Mietverhiiltnisses vom Mieter zu beseitigen
der Zustand

wiederherzustellen, Kommt der Micter dieser

baulichen

und urspriingliche
Verpflichtung nicht vor Beendigung des
Mietverhiilinisses nach, so kann der Vermieter
dic Beseitigung auf Kosten des Mieters selbst

vornchmen.

PERSONENMEHRHEIT,
GESELLSCHAFTSRECHTLICHE
ANDERUNGEN IN DER PERSON DES
MIETERS

Mehrere Personen als Vermicter/Micter haften
fiir die Verpflichtungen ans dem Mietvertrag

als Gesamischuldner.

Mehrere  Personen Mieter

bhevollmichtigen sich gegenseitig zur Abgabe

als  Vermieter/
und zum Emptang von Erklirungen, soweit sic
das Mietverhilinis berlihren, bei Kiindigung
und Erklrungen diber dic Anderung von
Hauptleistungspflichten jedoch nur zu deren
Entgegennahme. Diese Vollmacht gilt nicht fiir
den Abschluss von Mietaufhebungsvertrigen.

Wenn es sich bel dem Mieter um eing
handelt,
Vermieter unverzilglich schriftlich anzuzeigen,
sofem sich dic Gescllschafter dndern (Einfritt /
Ausscheiden Gusellschafien
Ubertragung  einer  Gesellschafterstellung).
Dem Vermicter sind Anderungsvorginge im

Personengesellschatt ist  dem

von sowle

Sinne des Umwandlungsgesetzes nach der

Eintragung der oder

Umwandlung

Verschmelzung  in das  Handelsregister

226

23

232

1

ensuing from such belated return of the Lease
Object shall remain unaffected.

Enlargement/interior finishing work by the
Tenant and all structural changes, built-ins,
fixtures and installations subsequently carried
out by the Tenant must be removed by the Ten-
ant at the end of the tenancy, and the original
state restored. If the Tenant fails to comply
with this obligation or [ails to comply with this
obligation prior to the end of the tenancy,
Landlord may carry out such removal itsell at

Tenant's costs.

PERSONAL MAJORITY, CORPORATE
CHANGES IN THE PERSON OF THE
TENANT

Several persons as Landlords / Tenants are
jointly and severally liable for the obligations

arising {rom the Rental Conltract.

Several persons acting as Landlords [/ Tenants
authorize each other to issue and receive dec-
larations insofar as they affect the tenancy, but
only to accept notice of termination and decla-
rations about the change in main performance
obligations, This power of attorney does not
apply to the conclusion of rental termination

agregments,

If the Tenant is a partnership, the Landlord
must be informed immediately in writing if the
partners change (joining / leaving partners and
transfer of a position as a partner). Changes
within the meaning of the Transformation Act
(Umwandhungsgesetz — Umw() are to be re-
ported to the Landlord afier the conversion or
merger has been entered in the commercial
register, and this must be accompanied by sub-
mission of the relevant excerpts from the com-

mercial register.
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24.1

25

25.3

anzuzeigen, und zwar uwnter Vorlage der
entsprechenden Handelsregisterauszige.

VERMIETERPFANDRECIIT
Die
richtet sich nach den gesctzlichen Regelungen.

Ausitbung  des  Vermieterpfandrechts

VERAUSSERUNG DER
LIEGENSCHAFT / DES
MIETGEGENSTANDS

Im Falle einer Verduberung der Licgenschall /
des Mielgegenstands  geht  dieser Vertrag
gemidl §§ 566 Abs. 1, 578 BGB auf den neuen
Eigentimer idber, In dicsem Fall ist eine
Haftung des Vermicters als Biirge gegeniiber
dem Micter (§§ 3566 Abs. 2, 578 BGB)
Darliber der
Vermicter berechtigt, dicsen Vertrag mit allen
Rechten und Pflichten mit befreiender Wirkung
im Wege der Vertragsiibernahme auf einen
Dritten, der Grundstiick, Erbbaurecht oder
Gebidudesigentum erwirbt, mit
Wirkung wirtschafilichen
Ubergangsstichtag nach dem Erwerbsvertrag
Der  Micter
entsprechenden  Vertragslibernahme  bereits
jetzt  unwiderruflich Die
verpflichten sich, auf Verlangen einer Partei

ausgeschlossen, hinaus  ist

mukiinttig
Zum
stimmt der

7u  {bertragen.

Zu. Parleien
einen solchen Wechsel des Vermieters durch
einen formgerechten Nachirag (§§ 350, 578,
126 BGB) #zu dokumentieren.

Hat der Mieter dem Vermicter fiir die Erfillung
seiner Pflichten eine Sicherheit geleistet, so tritt
der Erwerber in dic dadurch begriindeten

Rechte und Pilichten ¢in.

Im Falle einer Verduberung der Lisgenschafi /
des  Mietgegenstands der
berechtigt, den Mieter unter Beifiigung einer
Aufstellung der Mictvertragsunterlagen um

ist Vermicter

eine Vollstindigkeitserklimng zu ersuchen.
Der Mieter ist verpflichtet, innerhalb von

24,
241

25

251

252

253

LANDLORD'S LIEN

The Landlord’s lien is exercised according to

the statutory provisions.

SALE OF THE PROPERTY / LEASE OB-
JECT

In the event of a sale of the Property / Lease
Object, this Contract is transferred to the new
owner in accordance with §§ 366 (1), 578
BGB. In this case, lability of the Landlord as
guarantor towards the Tenant (§§ 366 (2), 578
BGB) is cxcluded. In addition, the Landlord is
entitled to transfer this Rental Contract with all
rights and obligations with discharging effeet
by way of contract transfer with effect as of the
economic transfer date according to the trans-
fer apreement to a third party who will acquire
Tand, building leases or Property in the future.
The Tenant already imevocably agrees to the
corresponding transfer of contract. The Parties
undertake to document such a change of land-
lord by means of a formal addendum (§§ 550,
578. 126 BGB) al the request of a Party.

If the Tenant has provided the Landlord with
security for fulfilment of his obligations, the
acquirer shall assume the rights and obliga-

tions arising from this.

In the event of a sale of the Property / Lease
Object, the Landlord is entitled to request a
declaration of completeness from the Tenant,

enclosing a list of the Rental Contract docu-
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26.

26.2

26.2.1

27,

vierzehn (14) Tagen scheiftlich mitzuteilen, ob

dic Aulstellung des Vermicters vollstindig ist.

AUFRECHNUNG,
ZURUCKBEHALTUNGSRECHT,
MINDERUNG, EINREDE IDES

NICHTERFULLTEN VERTRAGS
Leistungsverweigerungs- und
Zuriickbehaltungsrechte des Mieters sowie die
des

Gegenforderung  gegeniiber  Mietzins-  und

Aufrechnung Migters mit  einer
Nebenkostenforderungen sind ausgeschlossen,
es sel denn, die Gegenforderung des Mieters ist
unbestritten oder rechiskriftig festgestellt.

Der Mieter kann die Miete nur unmittelbar
mindern, dh. die Mietzahlungen unmittelbar
kilrzen, wenn:

ilber diese Absicht
mindestens cinen (1) Monat vor Filligkeit
der Miete schriftlich benachrichtigt hat;
oder

er den Vermieter

der zugrundelicgende Mangel entweder
rechiskriftie festgestellt, entscheidungsreif
oder vom Vermicter unbestritten oder

anerkannt sind.

Es wird klargestellt, dass durch die vorstehende
Regelung Recht Mieters,
Ritckforderungsanspritche wegen Minderung
geltend zu machen, weder ausgeschlossen noch

beschrinkt wird.

das des

DATENSCHUTZ

Der Mister willigt ein, dass der Vermicter
und/oder

Vertrags-, Abrechnungs- und Leistungsdaten

dessen Verwalter  allgemeine

in gemeinsamen Datensammlungen fithrt und

an  Versicherungen  undioder  Behdrden

und/oder weitere zur Unternehmensgruppe der

Verwaltungsgesellschaft gehirende

26.

26.1

26.2

26.2.1

26.2.2

27.

ments. The Tenant is obliged to report in writ-
ing within fourteen (14) days whether the list
provided by the Landlord is complete.

SET-OFF, RIGHT OF RETENTION, RE-
DUCTION, RESERVATION OF THE
RIGHT TO PLEAD LACK OF PERFOR-
MANCE OF CONTRACT

Rights of'the Tenant to refuse performance and
rights of retention as well as the offsetting of
the Tenant with a counterclaim against claims
for rent and ancillary costs are excluded unless
the Tenant'’s counterclaim is undisputed or has

been legally established,

The Tenant can only directly abate the rent, ..
directly reduce the rent payments, if:

he has informed the Landlord of this inten-
tion in writing at least one (1) month belore

the rent is due: or

the underlying defect has cither been le-
gally established, is ready for decision or is
undisputed or acknowledged by the Land-
lord.

It is made clear that the above provision neither
excludes nor restricts the Tenant’s right to as-
sert clamms for repayment because of abate-

ment of rent.

DATA PRIVACY PROTECTION

The Tenant agrees that the Landlord and/or its
property / asset manager may keep general
contractual, accounting and payment data in
joint data pools and pass them on to insurance
companics and/or authoritics and/or other
companies belonging to the management com-

pany’s group, provided that this is necessary
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281

282

283

Gesellschaften weitergeben darf, sofern dies
aur  ordnungsgemilen  Durchfithrung  von
Mietverlragsangelegenheiten  erforderlich ist
der anwendbaren

Der

Vermieter verpflichtet sich, die anwendbaren

und unter Beachtung
Datenschutzbestimmungen  erfolgt.

Datenschutzbestimmungen einzuhalten.

VERTRAULICHKEIT

Jede Partei ist verpflichtet, die in diesem

Vertrag getroffenen Veremnbarungen
vertraulich zu behandeln und geheim zu halten
und weder ganz noch teilweise Dritten zur
Verfiipung zu stellen oder zuglinglich zu

machen.

Die Verpllichtung gemil Ziffer 28.1 gilt nicht,
wenn  und  sowelt eine  gesetrliche  oder
behdrdliche
besteht, solche Informationen  dffentlich
bekannt oder der Offentlichkeit verfiigbar sind,
ohne dass dies auf einer Verletzung dieser

Offenlegungsverpflichtung

Vertraulichkeitsregelung  beruht, oder  die
andere Partei der Offenlegung zugestimmt hat
oder die Offenlegung zur Durchfiihrung dieses
Mietvertrags und Erfiilllung der Pflichten

daraus erforderlich ist.

Als Dritte im Sinne von Ziffer 28.1 gelten nicht
fa) <ie jeweiligen Steuer- undl Rechtsberater
sowie Wirtschaftspriifer der Partsien, die einer
beruflichen WVertraulichkeitsverpllichlung
unterliegen, (A verbundene Unternehmen (im
Sinne der §§ 15 T AKIG) sowie Investoren
einer Partei (vorausgesetzt, dic offenlegende
Partei hat die genannien Personen ihrerseits zur
Einhaltung
Vertraulichkeitsverpflichtung verpflichtet), o
Personen, die die Liegenschaft oder Teile

cieser

hiervon oder ein dingliches Recht daran oder
(unmittelbar oder mittelbar) Geschiiflsanteile
an einer Partei erwerben wollen (vorausgesetzt,
dic offenlegende Partei hat die genannten

Personen  ihrerseits zur Einhaltung  dieser

28.

281

8.2

283

for the proper execution of lease agreement
matters and in compliance with the applicable
regulations on data protection. The Landlord
undertakes to comply with the applicable data
protection regulations.

CONFIDENTTALITY

Each Party is obliged to treat the agreements
made in this Rental Contract confidentially and
to keep them seccret and not to make them
available or accessible to third parties in whole

or in part.

The obligation pursuant to Clause 28.1 does
not apply if and to the extent that there is a le-
gal or official disclosure obligation, such infor-
mation is publicly known or available to the
public without this being based on a violation
of this confidentiality regulation, or the other
Parly has consented to the disclosure, or the
disclosure for the purpose of execution of this
Rental Contract and fulfillment of the obliga-
tions arising from it.

Third partics within the meaning of Clause
28.1 do not include (/) the respective tax and
legal advisors and auditors of the Parties whe
are subject 1o a professional obligation of con-
fidentiality, () affiliated companies (within
the meaning of Sections 15 fT. AKIG) and in-
vestors of a Party (provided that the disclosing
Party has in turn obliged the named persons to
comply with this confidentiality obligation),
fc) persons who wish to acquire the Property
or parts thereof or a real right thereto or {di-
rectly or indirectly) shares in a Party (provided
that the disclosing Party has in turn obliged the
named persons to comply with this confidenti-
ality obligation), as well as () the Parties' re-
spective financing banks.
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29,

29.2

Vertraulichkeitsverpflichiung
sowle  fd)
Banken der Parteien.

verpilichtet),

den  jeweiligen finanzierenden

WEITERE VEREINBARUNGEN ZUR
UMSETZUNG DER
NACHHALTIGKEITSZIELE

iz Parleien werden  sich  bemithen, im

wechselseitigen  Einvernehmen  folgende
Mabnahmen zu ciner an einer Nachhaltigen
Nutzung und Bewirtschattung  orientierten
infrastrukturellen Einbindung des
Mictgegenstandes und Gebiudekomplexes zu

ergreifen:

+  Schaffung
Fahrradnutzung (z. B. durch Einrichtung
von  Umkleiden, Duschen, kostenlosen
Uberdachten diebstahlsicheren
Stellpliitzen)

won Anreizen zur

und

* Schaffung von Anreizen zur Nutzung von
Verkehrsmilteln
(beispiclsweise Zurverfligungstellung von
Jobtickets”, Bereitstellung von aktuellen
OPNV-/SPNV-Planen)

dffentlichen

Der Micter wird insbesondere priifen, ob es fiir
wirtschaftich  darstellbar  ist,  jedem
Mitarbeiter, dessen Mittelpunkt betrieblicher
Betitigung fiir den Micter im Mielgegenstand
liegt, fur die

Betricbszugehdrigkeit -
angemessenen Kostenbeitrag — Monats- oder

ihn

Dauer seiner

gepen  einen
Jahreskarten fiir die Benutzung &ffentlicher
Verkehrsmittel zur Verfiigung zu stellen.

Zur Forderung einer Nachhaltigen Nutzung
und Bewirtschaftung kann der Vermicter

Empfehlungen  fir  die  Liegenschaft
(einschlieBlich Gebiudekomplex und
Mietgegenstand) erstellen

{.Nachhaltigkeitshand buch™) .

29,

291

292

FURTHER AGREEMENTS ON THE IM-
PLEMENTATION OF THE SUSTAINA-
BILITY GOALS

The Parties will endeavor to lake the following
measures in mutual agreement to integrate the
Lease Object and building complex into the in-
frastructure based on Sustainable Use and

Management:

+  Creation of incentives for bicycle use (e.g.
by selting up changing reoms, showers,
free covered and theft-proof parking
spaces)

o Creation of incenlives to use public
transperl (e.g. provision of “job tickels™,
provision of current public transport/local
rail transport plans)

In particular, the Tenant will check whether it
is economically viable for him to provide every
employee whose focus of business activity for
the Tenant is on the Lease Object for the dura-
tion of his employment with monthly or annual
tickets for the use of public transport - for a

reasonable fee.

In order to promote Sustainable Use and Man-
agement, the Landlord can create recommen-
dations for the Property (including building
complex and Lease Object) (“Sustainability

Manual™).
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Der  Vermieler kann  ein erstelltes
Nachhaltigkeitshandbuch  in  regelmiligen
Abstiinden {iberpriifen uwnd bet Bedarl nach
billigem Ermessen (§ 315 BGB) iiberarbeiten,
Uber die Erstellung wird der Vermieter den
Mieter unverzilglich informisren, dieses in
gecigneter Form zur Verfiigung stellen und
Vorschliige des Mieters zu Art, Inhalt und
Umnfang der Erstellung des
Nachhaltigkeitshandbuchs entgegennchmen.

Die im Nachhaltigkeitshandbuch enthaltenen
Regelungen sind, soweit sie sich an Nutzer des
Gebiudekomplexes richten, nicht Bestandteil
dieses Mietvertrages, Der Mieter wird sich
jedoch bemiihen, zur praktischen Umsetzung
der Machhaltigkeitsziels die im
Nachhaltigkeitshandbuch
Regelungen im Rahmen seiner

enthaltenen

vertragsgemiilien
Mistgegenstandes zu  berlicksichtigen, Der
Mieter wird seine Mitarbeiter mit dem Inhalt
des Machhaltighkeitshandbuchs und etwaigen
Anderongen  vertraut machen und zur

Mutzung des

Beriicksichtigung  der  darin enthaltenen
Vorgaben anhalten.

Soweit ein Nachhaltigheitshandbuch erstellt
wurde uwnd mit den Regelungen dieses
Mietvertrags im Widerspruch steht, schen die
Regelungen des Mictvertrags — vorbehaltlich
einer anderweitigen ausdriicklichen Regelung
der Parteien — vor. Es wird insofern klargestellt,
dass  der Inhalt eines efwa erstellten
Nachhaltigkeitshandbuchs keine Erweiterung
der Rechte und Pflichten der Parleien aus
diesem Mietvertrag darstellt; vielmehr soll das
Nachhaltigheitshandbuch den Parteien als rein
unverbindliche Empfehlung die Wahmehmung
ihrer mictvertraglichen Rechte und Pflichten
mit Blick auf die MNachhaltige Nutzung und
Bewirtschallung erleichtemn.

The Landlord can check a Sustainability Man-
ual that has been created at regular intervals
and, il necessary, revise il al reasonable discre-
tion (§ 315 BGB). Landlord will inform the
Tenant immediately about the creation, make
this available in a suitable form and accept sug-
gestions from the Tenant regarding the type,
content and scope of the creation of the Sus-
tainability MManual,

The regulations contained in the Sustainability
Manual, insofar as they are aimed at users of
the building complex, are not part of this
Rental Contract, However, the Tenant will en-
deavor to take into account these regulations
contained in the Sustainability Manual within
the scope of his contractual use of the Lease
Object. The Tenant will familiarize his em-
ployees with the content of the Sustainability
Manual and any changes and, if possible, en-
courage them to take into account the specifi-

cations contained therein,

Insofar as a Sustainability Manual has been
drawn up and conflicts with the provisions of
this Rental Contract, the provisions of the
Rental Contract take precedence — unless the
Parties explicitly agree otherwise, In this re-
speet, it is made clear that the content of any
Sustainability Manual that may be created
shall not represent an extension of the rights
and obligations of the Parties under this Rental
Contract, rather, the Sustainability Manual is
intended to make it easier for the Parties to ex-
ercise their rights and obligations under the
lease with regard to Sustainable Use and Man-
agement as a purely legally non-binding rec-

ommendation.
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dber die  Nachhaltige Nutzung und
Bewirtschallung  des  Gebiiudekomplexes
einschlieBblich des Mietgegenstandes und deren
Farderung im Rahmen dieses
Mietverhiltnisses auszutauschen
{,,Nachhaltigkeitsdialog®). Zum Zwecke des
Machhaltigheitsdialogs werden die Parleien
einander Ansprechpartner benennen und —
soweil moglich — auch das Properly / Facility
Management in den Nachhaltigheitsdialog

ginbezichen:
+«  Ansprechpartner des Vermieters:

Hetr Lukas Wilanowski
Head of Commercial Asset Management

Iwilanowskif@araxpropertics.com
+  Ansprechpartner des Mieters:

Terr Tim Luigs
Head of Finance

tim. lnigsi@microvision, eu

{Der Ansprechpartner des Vermieters und der
Ansprechpartner  des  Mieters  werden
nachfolgend  einzeln  oder  gemeinsam
.-Nachhaltigkeitsansprechpariner™ genannt.)
Beide MNachhaltigheitsansprechpartner  sind
sustindig  bei  Fragen der  Nachhaltigen
MNutzung und Bewirtschaftung. Dariiber hinaus
werden die Parteien die
Nachhaltigheitsansprechpartner  veranlassen,
sich um eine maglichst Nachhaltige Nutzung
und Bewirtschaftung zu bemithen und die
Erreichung der in der Priambel genannten
Zicle zu {ordem. So lange gewihrleistet ist,
dass stets ein Nachhaltigkeitsansprechpartner
zur Verfiigung stcht, sind beide Parteien
berechtigt, die Jeweiligen
Nachhaltigkeitsansprechpariner durch andere
Machhaltigkeilsansprechpariner  zu erselzen.
Hieritber werden sie einander unverziiglich

unter Nennung des Namens, der Funktion und

293 Fsistder Wunsch der Parteien, sich regelmibig 293 It is the wish of the Partics to regularly ex-

change information about the Sustainable Use
and Management of the building complex n-
cluding the Lease Object and its promotion
within the framework of this lease {"Sustaina-
bility Dialogue™). For the purpose of the Sus-
tainability Dialogue, the Partics will name each
other's contact persons and — as far as possible
— also include property / facility management

in the sustainability dialogue:

+ Contact person of Landlord:

Mr. Lukas Wilanowsk
Head of Commercial Asset Management
Iwilanowskil@araxpropertics.com

+ Contact person of Tenant:
Herr Tim Luigs
Head of Finance

tim. luigsi@ microvision.eu

{The contact person of Landlord and the con-
tact person of Tenant are hereinaller referred 1o
individually or jointly as "Sustainability Con-
tacts".) Both Sustainability Contacts arc re-
sponsible for questions of Sustainable Use and
Management. In addition, the Parties will in-
duce the Sustainability Contacts to endeavor to
use and manage it as sustainably as possible
and to promote the achievement of the goals
stated in the preamble. As long as it is guaran-
teed that a Sustaimability Contact is always
available, both Parties are entitled to replace
the respective Sustainability Contact with an-
other Sustainability Contact. They will inform
cach other about this immediately, stating the
name, position and contact dstails of the new
Sustainability Contact.

Seite 63 von 110




2041

2042

der Kontaktdaten des neuet
Nachhaltigkeitsansprechpartners informicren.

Sowell der Misler nach diesem Mielverlrag
berechtigt oder verpflichtet ist, bauliche
Verfinderungen des Micteegenstandes
vorzumehmen wnd/oder den Mietgegenstand
mit Einbauten und/eder fest installicrien
Einrichtungen und  Anlagen zu  versehen
(nachfolgend musammengetasst
WMieterausstatiung®),  gill  unbeschadet
weiterer  in diesem  Vertrag  fiir
Mieterausstattung enthalienen Regelungen zur
Forderung der Machhaltigen Nutzung und
Bewirtschaftung Folgendes:

Der Micter wird den Vermicter im
Vorhinein iber die Mieterausstatung
immformicren und insbesondere mitteilen,
inwiefern die  Mieterausstallung  eine
Machhaltige Nutzung und Bewirtschaftung
firdert sowie zur Erreichung der in der

Priambel genannten Ziele beitrigt.

Auf Wunsch des Vermicters wird der
Mieter die Mieterausstattung einschlieflich
der Art und Weise threr Durchfiihrung mit
dem  Vermieter besprechen und dessen
Vorstellungen  zur  Firderung  einer
Nachhaltigen Mutzung und Bewirtschaflung
nach billigem Ermessen {§ 315 BGB)
soweit nicht technisch unméglich (§ 275
Abs, 1 BGB analog) oder wirtschaftlich
unverniinftip - beriicksichtigen.  Dic
Parteien sind sich einig, dass Mallnahmen
"wirtschaftlich unverninftig” sind, wenn
die Kosten fir die jeweilige dkologischere
Austithrungsart mehr als fiinf (5) Prozent
fiber dem gimstigsten nicht-6kologischen
Angebot liegen,

Der Mieter hat sich darum zu bemiihen, dic
Micterausstatiung umwelt- und
ressourcenschonend  durchzufithren  und

dabei méglichst emissionsfrele  (soweil

294

29.4.1

29.4.2

2943

Insofar as the Tenant is entitled or obliged un-
der this Fental Contract to make structural
changes to the Lease Object and/or to provide
the Lease Object with fixtures and/or perma-
nently installed facilitics and systems (herein-
after referred to as “Tenant’s Equipment"),
the following applies without prejudice to
other provisions contained in this Contract for
Tenant’s Equipment to promote Sustainable

Use and Management:

The Tenant shall inform the Landlord in ad-
vanoce about the Tenant’s Equipment and in
particular 1o what extent the Tenant's
Equipment promotes Sustainable Use and
Management and confributes to  the
achievement of the goals stated in the pre-

amble.

At the request of the Landlord, the Tenant
will discuss the Tenant™s Equipment with
the Landlord, mcluding the manner in
which it is implemented, and — unless tech-
nically impossible (§ 273 (1) BGE analo-
gously) or economically unreasonable (§
275 (2) Sentence 1 BGB analogously)

take into account his ideas for promoting
Sustainable Use and Management at his
reasonable discretion {§ 315 BGB). The
Parties agree that measures are "economi=
cally unreasonable” if the costs for the re-
spective more ecological type of execution
are more than five (5) percent above the

cheapest non-ecological offer.

The Tenant must make effort to implement
the Tenant’s Equipment in an environmen-
tally friendly and resource-saving manner

and to use i possible emission-free (il not
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29.4.5

nicht mdéglich:  emissionsarme), auf
Grundlage ciner Lebenszyklusbetrachiung
als  umwell-  und  ressourcenschonend
anzusehende Materialien einrusetzen und
durch die Mielerausstaltung verursachte,
den
Encrgicverbrauch und die Klimatisicrung
Gebiudekomplexes  uvnd/oder
Mictgegenstandes — soweit nicht technisch
unméglich (§ 273 Abs, 1 BGB analog) oder
wirtschaftlich unverniinftiz — zu vermeiden.
Als Materialien  gelien

inshesondere solche Materialien, die mit

negative Aunswirkungen auf

des des

zuliissige

ginem der Zertifikate ,Blaver Engel”, dem
europiiischen Umweltzeichen, dem “FSC™
LJFEFCT
Umweltsiegeln des Typs I im Sinne der ISO
14024 ausgezeichnet sind. Die Parteien sind
sich einig, dass Malinahmen "wirtschaftlich
unverniinftig"” sind, wenn die Kosten fiir die
Ausfihrungsart

mehr als finf (5) Prozent dber dem

oder Sicgel oder sonstigen

Jeweilige  dkologischere
piinstigsten  nicht-dkologischen  Angebot
lisgen.

Der Micter wird dem Vermicter auf

Anforderung  Unterlagen  tber  die
Einhaltung der Regelungen in Ziffer 29.4.3

iibermitteln.

Der Vermieter erteilt bereits jetzt seine
Zustimmung zum Einbau einer solchen
Micterausstattung, dic der Einsparung von
End- oder Primirenergic oder Wasser
und/oder der effizienteren Nulzung von
undoder  der

Produktion der verwendeten Energie zu

Energie nachhaltigen
dienen bestimmt oder sonst peeignet ist, die
WNachhaltige Nutzung und Bewirtschattung
des Mietgegenstandes zu firdem, soweit
ihm der Micter geeignete Nachweise
fibermittelt hat, dass dic Vorgaben in Ziffer

29.4.3 eingehalten werden.

2944

20.4.5

possible: low-emission) materials that are
to be regarded as environmentally {riendly
and resource-friendly on the basis of a life
cycle analysis and caused by the Tenant’s
Equipment. and to avoid negative effects on
the energy consumption and the air condi-
tioning of the building complex and’or the
Lease Object — unless technically impossi-
ble (§ 275 (1) BGB analogously) or cco-
nomically unreasonable (§ 273 (2) Sen-
tence 1 BGB analogously). Permitted mate-
rals are in particular those materials that
have been awarded one of the certificates
"Blue Angel (Blauer Engel)”, the European
eco-label, the "FSC" or "PEFC" seal or
other type I environmental scals within the
meaning of ISC 14024, The Parties agres
that measures are "economically unrcason-
able" if the costs for the respective more
ecological type of execution are more than
five (5) percent above the cheapest non-

ecological offer.

Tenant will provide Landlord with docu-
ments of compliance with the provisions of

Clause 29.4.3 upon request.

The Landlord already gives its consent to
the installation of such Tenant's Equipment
that is intended or otherwise suitable for
saving final or primary energy or water
and/or the more efficient use of encrgy
and/or the sustainable production of the en-
ergy used, o promole the Sustainable Use
and Management of the Lease Object, inso-
far as the Tenant has sent him suitable evi-
dence that the specifications in Clavse
29.4.3 are being complied with.
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30.2

303

NACHTRAGLICHE
ANDERUNGSWUNSCHE DES MIETERS
ZUM MIETERAUSBALU

Wenn der Mieter nach
Verlrags Anderungen, Modifikationen oder
Erweiterungen der als Anlage 1.7a beigefiigten
Baubeschreibung und der als Anlage 1.7b
beigefigten Bauplinen und des jeweils dort

Abschluss dieses

festgelegten  Leistungsumfangs  wiinscht
(. Anderungswunsch™), hat er dies dem

Vermicter schriftlich mitzuteilen.

Der Vermicter wird dem Mieter innerhalb von
zwei (2) Wochen schriftlich mitteilen, welche
zeitlichen und finanziellen Auswirkungen mit
dem  Anderungswunsch nach veminftiger
Einschitzung des Vermieters verbunden sind.
Der Vermieter wird den Mieter auf der Basis
einer Kostenschiitzung auch auf Minderkosten
Der
Einschitzung auf der Grundlage seiner
Erfahrung unter Beachlung des Gebols der
Wirtschaftlichkeit und in Riicksprache mit dem
Ausbauunternehmen treffen. Es werden weder
eine Ausschreibung gemacht noch konkrete

hinwecisen. Vermicter  wird  scine

Angebote eingeholt. Vielmehr geniigt die
Vorlage emer Kostenschiitzung durch den
Vermieter. Der Mieter hat dem Vermieter in
jedem Fall, d.h. unabhingig von ciner spiiteren
Durchfithrung des  Anderungswunsches, die
Kosten  der

vom Vermicler vorgelegten

Kostenschitzung unverziiglich zu erstatien.

Der Anderungswunsch wird fir den Vermicter
verbindlich, der Micter
Vermieter innethalb einer (1) Woche nach

nur wenn dem

Eingang der Mitteilung  des  Vermicters
schriftlich erklirt, dass er den
Anderungswunsch  aufrechterhdlt, Fr st
verpllichtet, die mit  der gelinderten

Austithmung  verbundenen Mehrkosten  (ggf.
einschlieblich
Projektmanagementkosten) auf Nachweis zu

Planungs- und

30.

30.2

303

SUBSEQUENT CHANGE REQUESTS BY
THE TENANT TO THE TENANT FIT-
ouT

If, after the conclusion of this Contract, Tenant
wishes to make changes, modifications or ex-
tensions to the construction description at-
tached as Annex 1.7a and the construction
plans attached as Annex 1.7b and the scope of
services specificd there {"Change Request"),
he must notify the Landlord of this in writing.

The Landlord will inform the Tenant in writing
within two (2) weeks of the temporal and fi-
nancial consequences associated with the
Change Request based on the Landlord’s rea-
sonable assessment. The Landlord will also in-
form the Tenant of reduced costs on the basis
of a cost estimate, Landlord will make his as-
sessment based on his experience, taking into
account the principle of economic efficiency
and in consultation with the fit-out company.
There will be no call for tenders and no specific
ofters will be obtained. Rather, the submission
of a cost estimate by the Landlord is sufficient.
In any case, the Tenant must immediately re-
imburse the Landlord for the costs of the cost
estimate submitted by the Landlord, ie. re-
gardless of whether the Change Request is car-
ried out later,

The Change Request will only become binding
on Landlord if Tenant notifies the Landlord in
writing within one (1) week of receipt of Land-
lord s notification that Tenant will uphold the
Change Request. He is obliged to reimburse
the additional

changed design (if necessary including plan-

costs  associated with the

ning and project management costs) and can

assert any rights against the Landlord due 1o
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30.5

30.6

30.8

erstatten.  wund  kann  wegen  zeitlicher
die durch

Anderungswunsch verursacht werden. Rechie

Verzbgerungen, den
gegen den Vermieter nur in dem Umfang
geltend machen, wie der Vermister die
Verzigerung zu vertreten hat. Der Vermieter
hat die
verbundenen Minderkosten dem Mister zu

mit der geinderten Ausfihrung

crstatten.

Ohne  die  schriftliche Bestiligung  des
Anderungswunsches ist der Vermieter nicht
verpllichtet, noch berechtipt, den
Anderungswunsch auszufithren,

Spater als acht (8) Wochen wvor dem
Uberzabetag  beim  Vermicter  cingchende
Anderungswiinsche  wird  der  Vermieter
lediglich nach seinem  billigen Ermessen,
inshbesondere in Abhingigkeil wvon  dem
Bauablauf, beriicksichtigen. Eine

diesbeziigliche Verpflichtung des Vermieters
besteht nicht; aus der Nichtberficksichtigung
der Anderungswilnsche kann der Mister gegen
den Vermieter keinerlei Rechite herleiten.

Sofern der Vermieter den Anderungswunsch
umzusetzen bereit st, wird er dies dem Micster
mitteilen; die vorgenannten Regelungen finden

entsprechende Anwendung,

Innerhalb  wvon  drei (3) Monaten nach
vollstindiger Uberpabe des Mictgegenstands,
jedoch nicht vor der vollstindigen Abrechnung

durch  die
Ausbauleistungen beaufiragen Unternehmen,

mit der FErbringung  wvon
wird der Vermieter dem Mister eine Rechnung
dber die die  Anderungswiinsche
verursachten  Mehr-  und  Minderkosten
iibergeben. Der Micter ist verpflichtet, die

Rechnung innerhalb von dreibig (30) Tagen

durch

nach Erhalt der Rechnung auszugleichen.

0.4

time delays that are caused by the Change Re-
quest, only lo the extent that the Landlord is
responsible for the delay. Landlord is obliged
to reimburse the cost savings associated with
the changed design to the Tenant.

Without writlen conlirmation of the Change
Request, Landlord is not obliged, nor entitled
to carry out the Change Request.

Change Requests received by the Landlord
later than cight (8) weeks before the Handover
Date will only be considered by the Landlord
at his reasonable discretion, in particular de-
pending on the construction process. There is
no obligation on the part of the Landlord in this
regard; the Tenant cannot derive any rights
against the Landlord if the Change Requests
are not taken into account.

It the Landlord s willing to implement the
Change Request, he will inform the Tenant of
this; the aforementioned regulations apply ac-

cordingly.

Within three (3) months after the Lease Object
has been handed over in full, but not before the
complele settlement by the companies com-
missioned with the provision of extension ser-
viees, Landlord will issue Tenanl with an in-
voice for the additional costs and savings
caused by the Change Requests. Tenant is
obliged to settle the inveice within thirty (30)

days after receipt of the invoice.

Der Vermieter ist berechtigl, sowohlvor dem 308 The Landlord is entitled to demand advance pay-

der

Anderungswunsches als auch wihrend der

Beginn Umsetzung eines

ments of a reasonable amount both before the m-

plementation of a Change Request and during the
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L

Bauzeit, Vorauszahlungen in angemessener
Hohe zu fordem. § 632a BGB gilt

entsprechend.

SCHLUSSBESTIMMUNGEN

Alle  Zahlungsverpflichtungen  in  dicsem
Vertrag verstehen sich zuziiglich Umsatzsteuer

in der jewsiligen geselzlichen Hihe.
Mindliche Nebenabsprachen sind  nicht
getroffen. Similiche Nebenabreden bediirfen
der Schrifform. Dies gilt auch fiir dic
Anderong disser Ziffer 31.2,

Den Parteien sind die besonderen gesetzlichen
Schriftformerfordernisse der §§ 530, 578, 126

BGB  bekannt. Sofern und soweit  dieser
Mietvertrag  bzw.  etwaige  Nachtrags-,
Anderungs- und/oder
Erginzungsvercinbarungen dicsem

Schriftformerfordernis nicht geniigen sollten,
verpllichten sich die Parteien bereils jotzt
diesen Mangel durch den Abschluss einer
Nachtragsvereinbarung  zun  beheben,  Der
Abschluss dieses Nachirages darf dabei jedoch
an keine Bedingung gekniipft werden. Den
Parteien bleibt es ferner unbenommen, den
Mietvertrag aufgrund der Nichteinhalng der
Schriftform gemdl §§ 578 350, 126 BGB
gegenitber der jeweils anderen Partel zu
kiindigen.

aul die
Schriftformerfordemisses gestiitzte Kilndigung
hat unverziiglich zu erfolgen, nachdem die

kiindigende Partei von der Nichteinhaltung der

schriftlichen Form Kenninis erlangt hat. Dic

FEine Verletzung des

Kiindigung ist ausgeschlossen, wenn seit dem
Umstand, der die Nichteinhaltung der
schrifilichen Form  begrimdet, Jahr
verstrichen ist. Im Falle des § 566 Abs. 1 BGB
beginnt diese Jahresfiist jedoch nicht wvor

ein

Ubergang des Eigentums auf einen Erwerber,

construction period. § 632a BGB applies accord-

ingly.
31. FINAL PROVISIONS
31.1 All payment obligations in this Contract are
exclusive of sales tax at the applicable statu-
lory rate.
31.2 Verbal side agresments have not been made.

All ancillary agreements must be in writing.
This also applics to the amendment of this

Clause 31.2.

The Parties are aware of the special legal writ-
ten form requirements of §§ 530, 378, 126
BGR. If and to the extent that this Rental Con-
tract or any addendum, amendment and/or sup-
plementary agreements do not meet this writ-
ten form requircment, the Partics hereby justify
the correction of this deficiency by concluding
an addendum agreement. However, the conclu-
sion of this addenduwm may not be subject 1o
any conditions. Furthermore, the Parties are
free to terminate the Rental Contract due 1o
non-compliance with the written form accord-
ing to §§ 378, 550, 126 BGB towards the re-
spective other Party.

A lermination based on a breach of the wrilten
form requirement must be made immediately
after the terminating Party has become aware
of the non-compliance with the written form,
Termination i3 excluded if onc year has
clapsed since the circumstance that justifies the
non-compliance with the written form. In the
case of § 566 (1) BGB, however, this one-year
period does not begin before the transfer of

ownership to an acquirer.
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314 Sollien

einzelne  Bestimmungen
Vertrags ganz oder teilweise nichtig sein, wird
dadurch Wirksamkeit der  ibrigen
Bestimmungen nicht bertthrt. An die Stelle von

nicht

die

cinbezogenen oder  unwirksamen
Allgemeinen Geschifisbedingungen tritt das
(Gesctzesrecht (val. § 306 Abs. 2 BGB). Dic
oder mnicht  durchfiihrbare

Bestimmung ist von den Parteien im

unwirksame

Vereinbarungswege durch eine rechisgillige
und durchfithrbare Bestimmung zu ersetzen,
die dem wirtschafilichen Sinn und Zweck der
z erselzenden Bestimmung am  niichsten
kommt. Entsprechendes gilt, falls sich eine
erginzungsbediirftige  Regelungsliicke  in
dicsem Vertrag ergeben sollte, dic nach dem
crkennbaren Willen der Parleien  geregelt

werden sollte.

Die Parteien stellen klar, dass es sich bei den
Regelungen  in  Zusammenhang mit  der
Machhaltige Nutzung und Bewirtschaftung
{vgl. Priiambel), welche lediglich ein Bemithen
der Parteien vorsehen, um keine bindenden
Vertragspilichten handeln; vielmehr ist es das
Bestreben  der  Parteien,
Regelungen im Sinne der in der Priambel
dargelegien Grundziige withrend der Laufzeit
des
Geflilligheiten umzusetzen. Einigkeit herrscht

entsprechende

Mietverhilltnisses  als  wechselseitige

insofern  zwischen den Parteien, dass diese
Regelungen — sei ez in ihrer jelzigen Form
und/oder gednderter Form — allein durch
Abschluss schriftformkonformen
Nachtrags zu diesem Mietvertrag (§§ 550, 578
Abs. 1, 126 BGB) in den Rang einer bindenden
Vertragspilicht gehoben werden kéinnen.

Die als Anlage 31.5 beigefiigte Hausordnung

ist wesentlicher Bestandteil
Mietvertrags. Der Venmieter ist berechtigt, den
Inhalt der
Ermessen zu verindern, soweit hierdurch keine
Pflichten des  Mieters

cines

dicscs

Hausordnung mnach  billigem

weitergehenden

dieses  31.4 Should individual provisions of this Contract

be wholly or partially void, this shall not atfect
the validity of the remaining provisions. Statu-
tory law (cf. § 306 (2) BGB) takes the place of
general terms and conditions that are not in-
cluded or are meffective. The mvalid or unen-
forceable provision is to be replaced by the
Parties by nutual agreement with a legally
valid and enforceable provision that comes as
close as possible Lo the seonomic meaning and
purpose of the provision to be replaced. The
same applies il there is a loophole in this Con-
tract that needs to be supplemented, which
should be regulated according to the recog-
nizable intention of the Parties.

The Parties make it clear that the regulations in
connection with the Sustainable Use and Man-
agement (see preamble), which only provide
for an effort by the Parties, are not binding con-
tractual obligations; rather, it is the endeavor of
the Parties to implement corresponding regula-
tions in the sense of the basic principles set out
in the preamble during the term of the tenancy
as mutual favours. Thereis agreement between
the Parties that these regulations — be it in their
current form and'or in a modified form — can
be raised to the rank of a binding contractual
obligation simply by concluding an addendum
to this Rental Contract that conforms to the
written form (§§ 530, 378, 126 BGB).

The internal house rules attached as Annex
31.5 arc an integral component of this Rental
Contract. The Landlord is entitled to change
the content of the house rules at his reasonable
discretion, provided this does not result in any
further obligations on the part of the Tenant. In
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entstehen, Der Vermieter ist insbesondere
berechtigh, das Rauchen in den allgemein
Bereichen des
Gebiudekomplexes bzw, der Lisgenschaft im
Rahmen der Havsordnung zu untersagen bzw.
auf konkrete Raucherbereiche zu beschriinken.

zuginglichen

Auf diesen Mictvertrag findet deutsches Recht
Anwendung, Gerichtsstand ist Hamburg,

Die deutsche Fassung dieses Mietvertrags ist
das allein  malgebliche Dokument. Die
englische Ubersetzung  dient nur 2z

Informationszwecken und ist nicht verbindlich.

Dieser Vertrag hat folgende Anlagen:

Anlage P.1:  Lageplan

Anlage 1.1.1: Grundriss Erdgeschoss
Anlage 1.1.2: Grundriss 5. Obergeschoss
Anlage 1.1.3: Grundriss 6. Obergeschoss
Anlage 1.1.3: Grundriss 2. Untergeschoss
Anlage 1.1.8: Lageplan { AuBenstellplitze)
Anlage 1.4:  MFG (Kurziibersicht)
Anlage 1.5:  Nutzungsordnung Stellplitze

Anlage 1.7a: Baubeschreibung  (Um-  und
Aunsbaumalnahmen)

Anlage 1.7b:  Baupline {Um- und
Ausbaumalnahmmen)

Anlage 6.1:  Betriebskostenverordnung

Anlage 11.7: MabBnahmen wur Einsparung
von  Energie’Wasser  bzw,
Reduzicrung von Abfillen
Anlage 31.5: Hausordnung

Die vorbenannten Anlagen sind Bestandteil
dieses Mietvertrages. Im Fall des Vorliegens
von Widersprilchen gehen die Repelungen
dieses Mietvertrages dem Inhalt der Anlagen

VOr.

particular, the Landlord is entitled to prohibit
smoking in the generally accessible arcas of
the building complex or the Properly within the
framework of the house rules or to restrict it to
specilic smoking arsas.

German law shall apply to this Rental Con-
tract. Place of jurisdiction is Hamburg,

The German version of this Rental Contract
shall be the sole authoritative document. The
English translation is solely for the purpose of

information and is not binding.

This Rental Contract has the following an-
TEXES]

Annex P.1:  Site plan

Annex 1.1.1: Floor plan ground floor

Annex 1.1.2: Floor plan 5th floor

Annex 1.1.3: Floor plan 6h floor

Annex 1.1.5: Floor plan 2nd basement

Annex 1.1.8: Site plan (outsile parking spaces
Annex 1.4 MFG (short overview)

Annex 1.5: Terms of use of parking spaces

Annex 1.7a:  Construction description (con-
version and extension

MEASUres)
Annex 1.7b:  Construction plans (conversion
and extension measures)
Annex 6.1:  Operating Costs Ordinance

Annex 11.7: Measures to save encrgy/water

and reduce waste

Annex 31.5:  House Rules

The aforementioned annexes are part of this
rental agreement. In the event of coniradic-
tions, the provisions of this rental agreement
take precedence over the content of the appen-

dices.
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Victoria Immo Properties I S.ar.l

verlreten durch / represented by:

s/ Mare Shipmann

Luxembourg, den/the 13,12.2023

vertreten durch / represented by:

s/ Joachim Kuske

Victoria Immo Properties I S.arl

Name: Mare Shipmann

Manager A

MicroVision GmbH

vertreten durch / represented by:

/s Tim Luigs

Mame: Joachim Kuske

Manager B

Hamburg, den'the 15.12.2023

MicroVision GmbH

vertreten durch / represented by:

/s/ Tim Luigs

MName: Tim Luigs

MName: Tim Luigs
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EXHIBIT 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries of the Registrant as of December 31, 2023 Jurisdiction of Organization

MicroVision GmbH Germany




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-265489, No. 333-184701, No. 333-173114, No. 333-163929, No. 333-19011,
No. 333-71373, No. 333-42276, No. 333-45534, No. 333-73652, No. 333-89176, No. 333-141458 and No. 333-249418) and on Form S-3 (No. 333-184703, No. 333-184702,
No. 333-182462, No. 333-175419, No. 333 160577, No. 333-228113, No. 333-253145, No. 333-272616) of MicroVision, Inc. of our reports dated February 29, 2024, relating
to the consolidated financial statements of MicroVision, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of MicroVision, Inc. appearing in this Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 29, 2024




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sumit Sharma, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 of MicroVision, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2024

/s/ Sumit Sharma

Sumit Sharma
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Anubhav Verma, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 of MicroVision, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2024

/s/ Anubhav Verma
Anubhav Verma
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of MicroVision, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Sumit Sharma, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 29, 2024

/s/ Sumit Sharma

Sumit Sharma
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of MicroVision, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Anubhav Verma, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 29, 2024

/s/ Anubhav Verma
Anubhav Verma
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 97.1

MICROVISION, INC.
Policy on Recoupment of Incentive Compensation
Amended and Restated: November 6, 2023

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of MicroVision, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Policy on Recoupment of Incentive Compensation (this “Policy”),
which provides for the recovery of certain executive compensation in the event of an Accounting Restatement (as defined below). This Policy is designed to comply with, and
will be interpreted to be consistent with, Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange
Act (“Rule 10D-1”) and Nasdaq Listing Rule 5608 (the “Listing Standards”).

1. Definitions.

The following capitalized terms will have the meanings set forth below.

a.

“Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the Company’s material noncompliance with any
financial reporting requirement under U.S. securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial
statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current
period or left uncorrected in the current period. For the avoidance of doubt, recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy is not
dependent on fault, fraud, or misconduct by any person in connection with the Accounting Restatement.

“Administrator” means the Compensation Committee, if composed entirely of independent directors, or in the absence of such a committee, a majority of
independent directors serving on the Board.

“Applicable Period” means the three completed fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the Restatement Date, and if the Company changes its fiscal
year, any transition period within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years (except that a transition period that comprises a period of at least
nine months will count as a completed fiscal year).

“Covered Executives” means the Company’s current and former executive officers, as determined by the Administrator in accordance with the definition of
executive officer set forth in Rule 10D-1 and the Listing Standards. For the avoidance of doubt, the identification of an executive officer for purposes of this
Policy will include at least each executive officer who is or was identified pursuant to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K as well as the principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer (or, if there is no principal accounting officer, the controller).

“Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means, in connection with an Accounting Restatement, the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a
Covered Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would have been Received by the Covered Executive had it been determined
based on the restated amounts, computed without regard to any taxes paid. For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return
(“TSR”), where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Accounting
Restatement, the Administrator will determine the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting
Restatement on the stock price or TSR upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received and the Company will maintain documentation of such
determination and provide such documentation to The Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”).
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“Financial Reporting Measure” means any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the
Company’s financial statements, and any measure that is derived wholly or in part from any such measure. Stock price and TSR and any measure that are derived
wholly or in part from stock price or TSR are considered Financial Reporting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a Financial Reporting Measure need not be
presented in the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial
Reporting Measure. Incentive-Based Compensation is deemed “Received” for purposes of this Policy, as of the date during an applicable fiscal period of the
Company in which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment, grant, or issuance of
the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of such fiscal period.

“Restatement Date” means the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officers of the Company authorized to take such action
if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the
date a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement, in each case irrespective as to when or if the
restated financial statements are filed.

Covered Executives; Incentive-Based Compensation.

This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered Executive, (a) after beginning services as a Covered Executive, (b) if that person served
as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for such Incentive-Based Compensation (whether or not such Covered Executive is serving at the
time the Erroneously Awarded Compensation is required to be repaid to the Company), and (¢) while the Company had a listed class of securities on a national
securities exchange.

Required Recoupment of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in the Event of an Accounting Restatement and Disclosure.

In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Company is authorized and obligated pursuant to this Policy to:

Recover reasonably promptly the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation unless the Administrator has determined that recovery would be
impracticable in accordance solely with the following limited reasons, and subject to the following procedural and disclosure requirements.

i.  That the direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the Erroneously Awarded Compensation to be recovered,
however, before concluding it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on such expense of enforcement,
the Company must make a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) and provide such
documentation to Nasdagq; or
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ii. That recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to the Company’s employees, to fail
to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or Section 411(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations thereunder.

b. file all disclosures with respect to this Policy as required by the Listing Standards and applicable U.S. securities laws, including the disclosure required by
applicable SEC filings.

Erroneously Awarded Compensation: Recovery Amount and Method
The Administrator will determine the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation Received by each Covered Executive.

Upon determining the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation, the Administrator will promptly notify each Covered Executive with a written notice containing
the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation and the manner and terms of the repayment or forfeiture, as applicable, to recoup the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation.

The Administrator will (a) determine, in its sole discretion, the appropriate means of recovering Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on the particular facts and
circumstances and (b) direct the Company to pursue any method permitted by applicable law or contract, provided, however that unless the Administrator has
determined that recovery would be impracticable pursuant to the limitations described above in Section 3.a, in no event may the Company accept an amount that is less
than the total amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in satisfaction of a Covered Executive’s obligations under this Policy.

To the extent that a Covered Executive fails to repay all Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company when due, the Company is authorized to take all actions
reasonable and appropriate to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation from the applicable Covered Executive. The applicable Covered Executive will be
required to reimburse the Company for any and all expenses reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company in recovering such Erroneously Awarded
Compensation in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.

No Indemnification

The Company is not permitted to insure or indemnify any Covered Executive against (a) the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is repaid, returned, or
recovered pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (b) any claims relating to the Company’s enforcement of its rights under this Policy. Further, the Company will not
enter into any agreement that exempts any Incentive-based Compensation that is granted, paid, or awarded to a Covered Executive from the application of this Policy
or that waives the Company’s right to recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and this Policy will supersede any such agreement (whether entered into
before, on or after the effective date of this Policy).

Effective Date and Retroactive Application

This Policy will be effective as of December 1, 2023, and supersedes the Company’s Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy, effective March 9, 2020. The terms
of this Policy will apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation that is Received by Covered Executives on or after October 2, 2023, even if such Incentive-Based
Compensation was approved, awarded, granted, or paid to Covered Executives prior to such date.

Policy Administration, Amendment and Termination

This Policy will be administered by the Administrator. The Administrator is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary,
appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy. Any determinations made by the Administrator will be final and binding on all affected individuals and

need not be uniform with respect to each individual covered by this Policy.
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10.

Subject to any limitation under applicable law, the Administrator may authorize and empower any officer or employee of the Company to take any and all actions
necessary or appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Policy (other than with respect to any recovery under this Policy involving such officer or
employee).

The Administrator may amend, modify, suspend, or terminate all or any portion of this Policy at any time and from time to time in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding
anything in this Section 7 to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy will be effective if such amendment or termination would (after taking into
account any actions taken by the Company contemporaneously with such amendment or termination) cause the Company to violate any federal securities laws, SEC
rule or Nasdaq rule.

Not Exclusive; Other Rights

Any right of recoupment, forfeiture or cancellation under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights that may be available to the
Company (a) under applicable law, (b) pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, incentive or equity compensation plan or award
agreement, or any other similar agreement, or (c) any other legal rights or remedies available to the Company (“Additional Company Rights”).

Nothing contained in this Policy, will be deemed to limit the Company’s right to terminate employment of any Covered Executive or limit any claims, damages, or
other legal remedies the Company or any of its affiliates may have against a Covered Executive arising out of or resulting from any actions or omissions by the

Covered Executive.

Any employment agreement, equity award agreement, compensatory plan or any other agreement or arrangement with a Covered Executive is and will be deemed to
include, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, an agreement by the Covered Executive to abide by the terms of this Policy.

To the extent a Covered Executive has already returned or reimbursed the Company for any Erroneously Awarded Compensation under any Additional Company
Rights, it will be appropriate for the Administrator to credit such amount to the amount of such Covered Executive’s Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is
subject to recovery under this Policy and vice versa.

Successors

This Policy will be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators, or other legal representatives.
Severability

The Board intends that this Policy apply to the fullest extent permitted by law. To the extent that any provision of this Policy is found to be unenforceable or invalid
under any applicable law, such provision will be applied to the maximum extent permitted and will automatically be deemed amended in a manner consistent with its

objectives to the extent necessary to conform to applicable law. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Policy will not affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provision of this Policy.

EEE T T
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Acknowledgment
of
Policy on Recoupment of Incentive Compensation

I, the undersigned, agree and acknowledge that:

I am fully bound by, and subject to, all of the terms and conditions of MicroVision, Inc.’s Policy on Recoupment of Incentive Compensation (as may be amended,
restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Policy”);

in the event of any inconsistency between the Policy and the terms of any employment agreement to which I am a party, or the terms of any compensation plan,
program, or agreement under which any compensation has been granted, awarded, earned, or paid, the terms of the Policy shall govern; and

in the event it is determined by the Administrator that any amounts granted, awarded, earned, or paid to me must be forfeited or reimbursed to the Company, I will
promptly take any action necessary to effectuate such forfeiture or reimbursement. Any capitalized terms used in this Acknowledgment without definition shall have

the meaning set forth in the Policy.

By:

[Name] Date
[Title]
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